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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EOG RESOURCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)
(Unaudited)

 
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,  
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,

 2016  2015  2016  2015
Net Operating Revenues        

Crude Oil and Condensate $ 1,137,717  $ 1,181,092  $ 2,951,118  $ 3,894,092
Natural Gas Liquids 112,439  95,217  299,401  311,137
Natural Gas 205,293  281,837  526,779  843,657
Gains (Losses) on Mark-to-Market Commodity Derivative
   Contracts 5,117  29,239  (33,821)  56,954
Gathering, Processing and Marketing 532,456  572,217  1,351,665  1,820,843
Gains (Losses) on Asset Dispositions, Net 108,204  (1,185)  101,801  (5,142)
Other, Net 17,278  14,011  51,650  39,126

Total 2,118,504  2,172,428  5,248,593  6,960,667
Operating Expenses        

Lease and Well 226,348  283,221  685,606  934,366
Transportation Costs 200,862  203,594  570,787  641,739
Gathering and Processing Costs 32,635  35,497  90,385  106,503
Exploration Costs 25,455  31,344  85,843  114,548
Dry Hole Costs 10,390  198  10,464  14,317
Impairments 177,990  6,307,420  322,321  6,445,375
Marketing Costs 552,487  615,303  1,373,387  1,924,134
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization 899,511  722,172  2,690,893  2,544,187
General and Administrative 94,397  90,959  292,633  257,580
Taxes Other Than Income 91,909  105,677  246,068  334,244

Total 2,311,984  8,395,385  6,368,387  13,316,993
Operating Loss (193,480)  (6,222,957)  (1,119,794)  (6,356,326)
Other (Expense) Income, Net (7,912)  8,607  (33,345)  7,996
Loss Before Interest Expense and Income Taxes (201,392)  (6,214,350)  (1,153,139)  (6,348,330)
Interest Expense, Net 70,858  60,571  210,356  174,400
Loss Before Income Taxes (272,250)  (6,274,921)  (1,363,495)  (6,522,730)
Income Tax Benefit (82,250)  (2,199,182)  (409,161)  (2,282,511)
Net Loss $ (190,000)  $ (4,075,739)  $ (954,334)  $ (4,240,219)
Net Loss Per Share        

Basic $ (0.35)  $ (7.47)  $ (1.74)  $ (7.77)
Diluted $ (0.35)  $ (7.47)  $ (1.74)  $ (7.77)

Dividends Declared per Common Share $ 0.1675  $ 0.1675  $ 0.5025  $ 0.5025
Average Number of Common Shares        

Basic 547,838  545,920  547,295  545,466
Diluted 547,838  545,920  547,295  545,466

Comprehensive Income (Loss)        

Net Loss $ (190,000)  $ (4,075,739)  $ (954,334)  $ (4,240,219)
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)        

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustments 141  (7,004)  8,170  (11,767)
Other, Net of Tax 23  28  68  (156)

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 164  (6,976)  8,238  (11,923)
Comprehensive Loss $ (189,836)  $ (4,082,715)  $ (946,096)  $ (4,252,142)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EOG RESOURCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In Thousands, Except Share Data)
(Unaudited)

 
September 30, 

2016  
December 31, 

2015
ASSETS

Current Assets    
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,048,727  $ 718,506
Accounts Receivable, Net 920,189  930,610
Inventories 429,667  598,935
Assets from Price Risk Management Activities 2,185  —
Income Taxes Receivable 178  40,704
Deferred Income Taxes 137,098  147,812
Other 199,720  155,677

Total 2,737,764  2,592,244
Property, Plant and Equipment    

Oil and Gas Properties (Successful Efforts Method) 50,465,979  50,613,241
Other Property, Plant and Equipment 4,013,602  3,986,610

Total Property, Plant and Equipment 54,479,581  54,599,851
Less:  Accumulated Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (31,835,196)  (30,389,130)

Total Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 22,644,385  24,210,721
Other Assets 172,772  167,505
Total Assets $ 25,554,921  $ 26,970,470

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities    

Accounts Payable $ 1,296,240  $ 1,471,953
Accrued Taxes Payable 143,257  93,618
Dividends Payable 91,842  91,546
Current Portion of Long-Term Debt 6,579  6,579
Other 195,045  155,591

Total 1,732,963  1,819,287
    
Long-Term Debt 6,979,538  6,648,911
Other Liabilities 975,763  971,335
Deferred Income Taxes 4,068,345  4,587,902
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 8)  
    
Stockholders' Equity    
Common Stock, $0.01 Par, 640,000,000 Shares Authorized and 551,425,785 Shares Issued at September 30, 2016

and 550,150,823 Shares Issued at December 31, 2015 205,514  205,502
Additional Paid in Capital 2,992,887  2,923,461
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (25,100)  (33,338)
Retained Earnings 8,641,704  9,870,816
Common Stock Held in Treasury, 197,181 Shares at September 30, 2016 and 292,179 Shares at December 31,

2015 (16,693)  (23,406)
Total Stockholders' Equity 11,798,312  12,943,035

Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 25,554,921  $ 26,970,470

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EOG RESOURCES, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In Thousands)
(Unaudited)

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,

 2016  2015
Cash Flows from Operating Activities    
Reconciliation of Net Loss to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:    

Net Loss $ (954,334)  $ (4,240,219)
Items Not Requiring (Providing) Cash    

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization 2,690,893  2,544,187
Impairments 322,321  6,445,375
Stock-Based Compensation Expenses 97,072  101,926
Deferred Income Taxes (492,489)  (2,377,030)
(Gains) Losses on Asset Dispositions, Net (101,801)  5,142
Other, Net 42,149  3,735

Dry Hole Costs 10,464  14,317
Mark-to-Market Commodity Derivative Contracts    

Total Losses (Gains) 33,821  (56,954)
Net Cash (Payments for) Received from Settlements of Commodity Derivative Contracts (22,219)  661,021

Excess Tax Benefits from Stock-Based Compensation (22,071)  (24,219)
Other, Net 7,513  8,904
Changes in Components of Working Capital and Other Assets and Liabilities    

Accounts Receivable (11,860)  448,311
Inventories 137,563  27,007
Accounts Payable (201,213)  (1,310,211)
Accrued Taxes Payable 113,996  77,575
Other Assets (12,526)  146,965
Other Liabilities 36,799  (15,683)

Changes in Components of Working Capital Associated with Investing and Financing Activities (119,760)  519,203
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,554,318  2,979,352
Investing Cash Flows    

Additions to Oil and Gas Properties (1,781,547)  (3,918,065)
Additions to Other Property, Plant and Equipment (60,343)  (252,295)
Proceeds from Sales of Assets 457,665  144,285
Changes in Components of Working Capital Associated with Investing Activities 120,614  (519,323)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (1,263,611)  (4,545,398)
Financing Cash Flows    

Net Commercial Paper (Repayments) Borrowings (259,718)  29,700
Long-Term Debt Borrowings 991,097  990,225
Long-Term Debt Repayments (400,000)  (500,000)
Dividends Paid (276,726)  (274,577)
Excess Tax Benefits from Stock-Based Compensation 22,071  24,219
Treasury Stock Purchased (55,641)  (43,419)
Proceeds from Stock Options Exercised and Employee Stock Purchase Plan 14,283  14,967
Debt Issuance Costs (1,602)  (5,933)
Repayment of Capital Lease Obligation (4,746)  (4,599)
Other, Net (854)  120

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 28,164  230,703
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash 11,350  (9,181)

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 330,221  (1,344,524)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 718,506  2,087,213
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 1,048,727  $ 742,689

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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EOG RESOURCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)

1.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

General. The consolidated financial statements of EOG Resources, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, EOG), included herein have been
prepared by management without audit pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). Accordingly,
they reflect all normal recurring adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair presentation of the financial results for the interim
periods presented. Certain information and notes normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. However, management
believes that the disclosures included either on the face of the financial statements or in these notes are sufficient to make the interim information presented
not misleading. These consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto
included in EOG's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 25, 2016 (EOG's 2015 Annual Report).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The operating results for the three and nine months ended
September 30, 2016, are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

Effective January 1, 2016, EOG adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2015-03, "Interest - Computation of Interest (Subtopic 835-
30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs” (ASU 2015-03). ASU 2015-03 requires that debt issuance costs be presented in the balance sheet as
a direct reduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. In connection with the adoption of ASU 2015-03, EOG restated its December 31, 2015
Consolidated Balance Sheet to reclassify $4.8 million of unamortized debt issuance costs from "Other Assets" to "Long-Term Debt." Debt issuance costs
related to EOG's senior unsecured credit facility remain classified as "Other Assets."

Recently Issued Accounting Standards. In August 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows
(Topic 230) - Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments” (ASU 2016-15).  ASU 2016-15 reduces existing diversity in practice by providing
guidance on the classification of eight specific cash receipts and cash payments transactions in the statement of cash flows.  The new standard is effective for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017 and interim periods within those fiscal years.  Early adoption is permitted.  EOG does not expect the adoption
of the new standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
  
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-09, "Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting" (ASU 2016-09), which amends certain
aspects of accounting for share-based payment arrangements. ASU 2016-09 revises or provides alternative accounting for the tax impacts of share-based
payment arrangements, forfeitures and minimum statutory tax withholdings and prescribes certain disclosures to be made in the period the new standard is
adopted. ASU 2016-09 is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early application is permitted. EOG is evaluating
ASU 2016-09 in order to determine what impact the new standard will have on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)" (ASU 2016-02), which significantly changes accounting for leases by requiring that
lessees recognize a right-of-use asset and a related lease liability representing the obligation to make lease payments, for virtually all lease transactions.
Additional disclosures about an entity's lease transactions will also be required. ASU 2016-02 defines a lease as "a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys
the right to control the use of identified property, plant or equipment (an identified asset) for a period of time in exchange for consideration." ASU 2016-02 is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 31, 2018 and early application is permitted. Lessees and lessors are required to recognize
and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial statements using a modified retrospective approach. EOG is reviewing the
provisions of ASU 2016-02 to determine the impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-17, "Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes" (ASU 2015-17), which
simplifies the presentation of deferred taxes in a classified balance sheet by eliminating the requirement to separate deferred income tax liabilities and assets
into current and noncurrent amounts. Instead, ASU 2015-17 requires that all deferred tax liabilities and assets be shown as noncurrent in a classified balance
sheet. ASU 2015-17 is effective for financial statements issued for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early application is
permitted.
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EOG RESOURCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

EOG does not intend to early-adopt ASU 2015-17 and does not expect the new standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements
and related disclosures.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, "Accounting for Inventory" (ASU 2015-11), which requires entities to measure most inventory at lower of cost
or net realizable value. ASU 2015-11 defines net realizable value as "the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably
predictable cost of completion, disposal and transportation." ASU 2015-11 is effective prospectively for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and early application is permitted. EOG is reviewing the requirements of the new standard and does not believe that the adoption of ASU
2015-11 will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, "Revenue From Contracts With Customers" (ASU 2014-09), which will require entities to recognize revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. ASU 2014-09 will supersede most current guidance related to revenue recognition when it becomes effective. The new
standard also will require expanded disclosures regarding the nature, amount, timing and certainty of revenue and cash flows from contracts with customers.
ASU 2014-09 is effective for interim and annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, and early adoption is permitted.  The new standard
permits adoption through the use of either the full retrospective approach or a modified retrospective approach.  In May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-11
which rescinds certain SEC guidance in the Accounting Standards Codification, including guidance related to the use of the "entitlements" method of
revenue recognition used by EOG. EOG does not intend to early-adopt ASU 2014-09 and has not determined which transition method it will use. EOG
continues to analyze ASU 2014-09, as well as subsequent guidance which amends and clarifies certain aspects of ASU 2014-09, in order to determine what
impact it will have on EOG's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

2.    Stock-Based Compensation

As more fully discussed in Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in EOG's 2015 Annual Report, EOG maintains various stock-based
compensation plans. Stock-based compensation expense is included on the Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income based upon the
job function of the employees receiving the grants as follows (in millions):

 
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,  
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015  2016  2015
Lease and Well $ 8.9  $ 10.3  $ 28.2  $ 32.9
Gathering and Processing Costs 0.4  0.4  1.0  1.0
Exploration Costs 4.1  6.0  15.6  19.3
General and Administrative 24.2  23.6  52.3  48.8

Total $ 37.6  $ 40.3  $ 97.1  $ 102.0

The Amended and Restated EOG Resources, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (2008 Plan) provides for grants of stock options, stock-settled
stock appreciation rights (SARs), restricted stock and restricted stock units, performance units and performance stock and other stock-based awards. At
September 30, 2016, approximately 21.4 million common shares remained available for grant under the 2008 Plan. EOG's policy is to issue shares related to
the 2008 Plan from previously authorized unissued shares or treasury shares to the extent treasury shares are available.

Stock Options and Stock-Settled Stock Appreciation Rights and Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The fair value of stock option grants and SAR grants is
estimated using the Hull-White II binomial option pricing model. The fair value of Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) grants is estimated using the Black-
Scholes-Merton model. Stock-based compensation expense related to stock option, SAR and ESPP grants totaled $18.8 million and $20.0 million during the
three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and $45.0 million and $43.3 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and
2015, respectively.
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EOG RESOURCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

Weighted average fair values and valuation assumptions used to value stock option, SAR and ESPP grants during the nine-month periods ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

 Stock Options/SARs  ESPP

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,  
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015  2016  2015
Weighted Average Fair Value of Grants $ 25.77  $ 21.87  $ 19.28  $ 21.40
Expected Volatility 31.52%  38.04%  36.54%  32.54%
Risk-Free Interest Rate 0.78%  0.83%  0.43%  0.12%
Dividend Yield 0.76%  0.85%  0.82%  0.72%
Expected Life 5.4 years  5.3 years  0.5 years  0.5 years

Expected volatility is based on an equal weighting of historical volatility and implied volatility from traded options in EOG's common stock. The risk-free
interest rate is based upon United States Treasury yields in effect at the time of grant. The expected life is based upon historical experience and contractual
terms of stock option, SAR and ESPP grants.

The following table sets forth stock option and SAR transactions for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (stock options and SARs in
thousands):

 
Nine Months Ended 
 September 30, 2016  

Nine Months Ended 
 September 30, 2015

 

Number of
Stock

Options/SARs  

Weighted
Average

Grant
Price  

Number of
Stock

Options/SARs  

Weighted
Average

Grant
Price

Outstanding at January 1 10,744  $ 67.98  10,493  $ 64.96
Granted 1,821  94.87  2,029  69.95
Exercised (1) (1,673)  49.85  (1,291)  47.25
Forfeited (241)  85.77  (203)  80.12
Outstanding at September 30 (2) 10,651  $ 75.02  11,028  $ 67.67

Vested or Expected to Vest (3) 10,300  $ 74.60  10,653  $ 67.22

Exercisable at September 30 (4) 6,302  $ 66.46  6,121  $ 57.34

(1) The total intrinsic value of stock options/SARs exercised for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was $58.7 million and $52.4 million, respectively. The
intrinsic value is based upon the difference between the market price of EOG's common stock on the date of exercise and the grant price of the stock options/SARs.

(2) The total intrinsic value of stock options/SARs outstanding at September 30, 2016 and 2015 was $240.8 million and $136.9 million, respectively. At September 30, 2016
and 2015, the weighted average remaining contractual life was 4.1 years and 4.4 years, respectively.

(3) The total intrinsic value of stock options/SARs vested or expected to vest at September 30, 2016 and 2015 was $237.2 million and $135.7 million, respectively. At
September 30, 2016 and 2015, the weighted average remaining contractual life was 4.0 years and 4.3 years, respectively.

(4) The total intrinsic value of stock options/SARs exercisable at September 30, 2016 and 2015 was $196.3 million and $121.6 million, respectively. A t September 30, 2016
and 2015, the weighted average remaining contractual life was 2.8 years and 3.1 years, respectively.

A t September 30, 2016, unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock option, SAR and ESPP grants totaled $106.1 million. Such
unrecognized expense will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of 3.0 years.

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units. Employees may be granted restricted (non-vested) stock and/or restricted stock units without cost to them.
Stock-based compensation expense related to restricted stock and restricted stock units totaled $13.1 million and $16.2 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and $45.5 million and $53.9 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
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EOG RESOURCES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS – (Continued)

(Unaudited)

The following table sets forth restricted stock and restricted stock unit transactions for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (shares
and units in thousands):

 
Nine Months Ended 
 September 30, 2016  

Nine Months Ended 
 September 30, 2015

 

Number of
Shares and

Units  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value  

Number of
Shares and

Units  

Weighted
Average

Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at January 1 4,908  $ 70.35  5,394  $ 64.39
Granted 833  87.76  1,036  77.90
Released (1) (1,392)  53.15  (1,250)  51.02
Forfeited (269)  76.40  (152)  74.83
Outstanding at September 30 (2) 4,080  $ 79.37  5,028  $ 70.18

 
(1) The total intrinsic value of restricted stock and restricted stock units released for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was $116.3 million and $102.5

million, respectively. The intrinsic value is based upon the closing price of EOG's common stock on the date the restricted stock and restricted stock units are released.
(2) The total intrinsic value of restricted stock and restricted stock units outstanding at September 30, 2016 and 2015 was $394.6 million and $366.0 million, respectively.

At September 30, 2016, unrecognized compensation expense related to restricted stock and restricted stock units totaled $170.3 million. Such unrecognized
expense will be amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of 2.8 years.

Performance Units and Performance Stock. EOG grants performance units and/or performance stock (Performance Awards) to its executive officers. As more
fully discussed in the grant agreements, the performance metric applicable to these performance-based grants is EOG's total shareholder return over a three-
year performance period relative to the total shareholder return of a designated group of peer companies (Performance Period). Upon the application of the
performance multiple at the completion of the Performance Period, a minimum of 0% and a maximum of 200% of the Performance Awards granted could be
outstanding. Subject to the termination provisions set forth in the grant agreements and the applicable performance multiple, the grants of Performance
Awards will "cliff" vest five years from the date of grant. The fair value of the Performance Awards is estimated using a Monte Carlo simulation.

At December 31, 2015, 405,000 Performance Awards were outstanding. Upon completion of the Performance Period for the Performance Awards granted in
2012, a performance multiple of 200% was applied to the 2012 grants resulting in an additional grant of 142,556 Performance Awards in February 2016.
During the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016, a total of 71,805 Performance Awards were granted. A total of 134,016 Performance Awards were
released during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, with a total intrinsic value of $9.7 million, based upon the closing price of EOG's common stock
on the release date. Upon the application of the performance multiple at the completion of the remaining Performance Periods, a minimum of 151,096 and a
maximum of 819,594 Performance Awards could be outstanding. There were 485,345 Performance Awards outstanding as of September 30, 2016. The total
intrinsic value of Performance Awards outstanding at September 30, 2016 was $46.9 million.

Weighted average fair values and valuation assumptions used to value performance unit and performance stock grants of Performance Awards during the
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,

 2016  2015
Weighted Average Fair Value of Grants $ 112.09  $ 80.64
Expected Volatility 32.01%  29.35%
Risk-Free Interest Rate 0.89%  1.07%
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Expected volatility is based on the term-matched historical volatility over the simulated term, which is calculated as the time between the grant date and the
end of the performance period. The risk-free interest rate is based on a 3.25 year zero-coupon risk-free interest rate derived from the Treasury Constant
Maturities yield curve on the grant date.

Stock-based compensation expense related to the Performance Award grants totaled $5.7 million and $4.1 million for the three month periods ended
September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively, and $6.6 million and $4.8 million for the nine month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.
A t September 30, 2016, unrecognized compensation expense related to Performance Awards totaled $7.4 million. Such unrecognized expense will be
amortized on a straight-line basis over a weighted average period of 3.3 years.

3.    Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of Net Loss Per Share for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in
thousands, except per share data):

 
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,  
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015  2016  2015
Numerator for Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share -        

Net Loss $ (190,000)  $ (4,075,739)  $ (954,334)  $ (4,240,219)
Denominator for Basic Earnings Per Share -        

Weighted Average Shares 547,838  545,920  547,295  545,466
Potential Dilutive Common Shares -        

Stock Options/SARs —  —  —  —
Restricted Stock/Units and Performance Units/Stock —  —  —  —

Denominator for Diluted Earnings Per Share -        
Adjusted Diluted Weighted Average Shares 547,838  545,920  547,295  545,466

Net Loss Per Share        
Basic $ (0.35)  $ (7.47)  $ (1.74)  $ (7.77)
Diluted $ (0.35)  $ (7.47)  $ (1.74)  $ (7.77)

The diluted earnings per share calculation excludes stock options, SARs, restricted stock and units and performance units and stock that were anti-dilutive.
Shares underlying the excluded stock options and SARs totaled 9.9 million and 9.8 million shares for the three months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015,
respectively, and 10.2 million and 10.0 million shares for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. For both the three months and
nine months ended September 30, 2016, 4.6 million shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance units were excluded. For both the three
months and nine months ended September 30, 2015, 5.4 million shares of restricted stock, restricted stock units and performance units were excluded.
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4.    Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Net cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015
Interest (1) $ 184,476  $ 152,590
Income Taxes, Net of Refunds Received $ (2,094)  $ 69,281

 
(1) Net of capitalized interest of $25 million and $33 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

EOG's accrued capital expenditures at September 30, 2016 and 2015 were $375 million and $437 million, respectively.

5.    Segment Information

Selected financial information by reportable segment is presented below for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in
thousands):

 
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,  
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015  2016  2015
Net Operating Revenues        

United States $ 2,023,130  $ 2,040,881  $ 5,007,119  $ 6,622,781
Trinidad 57,937  98,493  183,461  290,758
Other International (1) 37,437  33,054  58,013  47,128

Total $ 2,118,504  $ 2,172,428  $ 5,248,593  $ 6,960,667
Operating (Loss) Income        

United States $ (193,453)  $ (6,110,284)  $ (1,099,030)  $ (6,271,908)
Trinidad 15,688  46,230  41,620  139,116
Other International (1) (15,715)  (158,903)  (62,384)  (223,534)

Total (193,480)  (6,222,957)  (1,119,794)  (6,356,326)
Reconciling Items        

Other (Expense) Income, Net (7,912)  8,607  (33,345)  7,996
Interest Expense, Net (70,858)  (60,571)  (210,356)  (174,400)

Loss Before Income Taxes $ (272,250)  $ (6,274,921)  $ (1,363,495)  $ (6,522,730)

 
(1)    Other International primarily includes EOG's United Kingdom, China and Canada operations.
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Total assets by reportable segment are presented below at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015 (in thousands):

 

At
September 30,

2016  

At
December 31,

2015
Total Assets    

United States $ 23,949,843  $ 25,347,134
Trinidad 873,069  886,826
Other International (1) 732,009  736,510

Total $ 25,554,921  $ 26,970,470

 
(1)    Other International primarily consists of EOG's United Kingdom, China and Canada operations.

6.    Asset Retirement Obligations

The following table presents the reconciliation of the beginning and ending aggregate carrying amounts of short-term and long-term legal obligations
associated with the retirement of property, plant and equipment for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in thousands):

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015
Carrying Amount at Beginning of Period $ 811,554  $ 752,718

Liabilities Incurred 40,080  38,095
Liabilities Settled (1) (52,518)  (12,929)
Accretion 24,462  23,810
Revisions (26,307)  (13,576)
Foreign Currency Translations (7,851)  (4,361)

Carrying Amount at End of Period $ 789,420  $ 783,757

    

Current Portion $ 10,133  $ 11,592
Noncurrent Portion $ 779,287  $ 772,165

 
(1) Includes settlements related to asset sales.

The current and noncurrent portions of EOG's asset retirement obligations are included in Current Liabilities - Other and Other Liabilities, respectively, on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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7.    Exploratory Well Costs

EOG's net changes in capitalized exploratory well costs for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2016, are presented below (in thousands):

 Nine Months Ended 
 September 30, 2016

Balance at January 1 $ 8,955
Additions Pending the Determination of Proved Reserves 6,688
Reclassifications to Proved Properties (5,274)
Costs Charged to Expense (10,369)

Balance at September 30 $ —

8.    Commitments and Contingencies

There are currently various suits and claims pending against EOG that have arisen in the ordinary course of EOG's business, including contract disputes,
personal injury and property damage claims and title disputes. While the ultimate outcome and impact on EOG cannot be predicted, management believes
that the resolution of these suits and claims will not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on EOG's consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flow. EOG records reserves for contingencies when information available indicates that a loss is probable and the amount of the
loss can be reasonably estimated.

9.    Pension and Postretirement Benefits

EOG has defined contribution pension plans in place for most of its employees in the United States, Trinidad and the United Kingdom, and a defined benefit
pension plan covering certain of its employees in Trinidad. For the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, EOG's total costs recognized for these
pension plans were $28 million and $27 million, respectively. EOG also has postretirement medical and dental plans in place for eligible employees in the
United States and Trinidad, the costs of which are not material.

10.    Long-Term Debt

During the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, EOG utilized commercial paper borrowings bearing market interest rates, for various corporate
financing purposes. At September 30, 2016 and 2015, EOG had zero and $30 million, respectively, of outstanding commercial paper borrowings and no
uncommitted credit facility borrowings. The average borrowings outstanding under the commercial paper program were $155 million and $7 million during
the nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. The weighted average interest rates for commercial paper borrowings during the nine
months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 was 0.76% and 0.45%, respectively.

At September 30, 2016, $600 million aggregate principal amount of EOG's 5.875% Senior Notes due 2017 were reclassified as long-term debt based upon its
intent and ability to ultimately replace such amount with other long-term debt.

On February 1, 2016, EOG repaid upon maturity the $400 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.500% Senior Notes due 2016 (2016 Notes).

On January 14, 2016, EOG closed its sale of $750 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.15% Senior Notes due 2026 and $250 million aggregate
principal amount of its 5.10% Senior Notes due 2036 (collectively, the Notes). Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year beginning on July 15, 2016. Net proceeds from the Notes offering totaled approximately $991 million and were used to repay the 2016
Notes when they matured on February 1, 2016, and for general corporate purposes, including repayment of outstanding commercial paper borrowings and
funding of capital expenditures.
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EOG currently has a $2.0 billion senior unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement (Agreement) with domestic and foreign lenders. The Agreement has a
scheduled maturity date of July 21, 2020, and includes an option for EOG to extend, on up to two occasions, the term for successive one-year periods subject
to certain terms and conditions. Advances under the Agreement will accrue interest based, at EOG's option, on either the London InterBank Offered Rate plus
an applicable margin (Eurodollar rate) or the base rate (as defined in the Agreement) plus an applicable margin. A t September 30, 2016, there were no
borrowings or letters of credit outstanding under the Agreement. The Eurodollar rate and applicable base rate, had there been any amounts borrowed under
the Agreement, would have been 1.53% and 3.50%, respectively.

11.    Fair Value Measurements

As more fully discussed in Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in EOG's 2015 Annual Report, certain of EOG's financial and
nonfinancial assets and liabilities are reported at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The following table provides fair value measurement
information within the fair value hierarchy for certain of EOG's financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis at September 30, 2016.
There were no such amounts outstanding at December 31, 2015. Amounts shown in millions.

 Fair Value Measurements Using:

 

Quoted
Prices in

Active
Markets
(Level 1)  

Significant
Other

Observable
Inputs

(Level 2)  

Significant
Unobservable

Inputs
(Level 3)  Total

At September 30, 2016        
Financial Assets (1)        

Crude Oil Collars $ —  $ 1  $ —  $ 1
Natural Gas Price Swaps/Options —  4  —  4

 (1) At September 30, 2016, $2.2 million is included in "Current Assets - Assets From Price Risk Management Activities" and $2.5 million is included in "Other Assets" on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The estimated fair value of commodity derivative contracts was based upon forward commodity price curves based on quoted market prices. Commodity
derivative contracts were valued by utilizing an independent third-party derivative valuation provider who uses various types of valuation models, as
applicable.

The initial measurement of asset retirement obligations at fair value is calculated using discounted cash flow techniques and based on internal estimates of
future retirement costs associated with property, plant and equipment. Significant Level 3 inputs used in the calculation of asset retirement obligations
include plugging costs and reserve lives. A reconciliation of EOG's asset retirement obligations is presented in Note 6.

Proved oil and gas properties and other assets with a carrying amount of $625 million were written down to their fair value of $518 million, resulting in
pretax impairment charges of $107 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2016. Included in the $107 million pretax impairment charges are $103
million of impairments of proved oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment for which EOG utilized an accepted offer from a third-party
purchaser as the basis for determining fair value. 

Fair Value of Debt. A t September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, EOG had outstanding $6,990 million and $6,390 million, respectively, aggregate
principal amount of senior notes, which had estimated fair values of approximately $7,395 million and $6,524 million, respectively. The estimated fair value
of debt was based upon quoted market prices and, where such prices were not available, other observable (Level 2) inputs regarding interest rates available to
EOG at the end of each respective period.
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12.    Risk Management Activities

Commodity Price Risk. As more fully discussed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in EOG's 2015 Annual Report, EOG engages
in price risk management activities from time to time. These activities are intended to manage EOG's exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices for crude
oil and natural gas. EOG utilizes financial commodity derivative instruments, primarily price swap, option, swaption, collar and basis swap contracts, as a
means to manage this price risk. EOG has not designated any of its financial commodity derivative contracts as accounting hedges and, accordingly,
accounts for financial commodity derivative contracts using the mark-to-market accounting method.

Commodity Derivative Contracts. Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's crude oil price swap contracts for the nine months ended
September 30, 2016, with notional volumes expressed in barrels per day (Bbld) and prices expressed in dollars per barrel ($/Bbl).

Crude Oil Price Swap Contracts

  Volume (Bbld)  
Weighted Average

Price ($/Bbl)
2016     
April 12, 2016 through April 30, 2016 (closed)  90,000  $ 42.30
May 1, 2016 through June 30, 2016 (closed)  128,000  42.56

EOG has entered into crude oil collar contracts, which establish ceiling and floor prices for the sale of notional volumes of crude oil as specified in the collar
contracts. The collars require that EOG pay the difference between the ceiling price and the average NYMEX West Texas Intermediate crude oil price for the
contract month (Index Price) in the event the Index Price is above the ceiling price. The collars grant EOG the right to receive the difference between the floor
price and the Index Price in the event the Index Price is below the floor price. Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's crude oil collar
contracts for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, with notional volumes expressed in Bbld and prices expressed in $/Bbl.

Crude Oil Collar Contracts
   Weighted Average Price ($/Bbl)
 Volume (Bbld)  Ceiling Price  Floor Price
2016      
September 2016 (closed) 70,000  $ 54.25  $ 45.00
October 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016 70,000  54.25  45.00

Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's natural gas price swap contracts for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, with notional
volumes expressed in million British thermal units (MMBtu) per day (MMBtud) and prices expressed in dollars per MMBtu ($/MMBtu).

Natural Gas Price Swap Contracts

  
Volume

(MMBtud)  
Weighted Average
Price ($/MMBtu)

2016     
March 1, 2016 through August 31, 2016 (closed)  60,000  $ 2.49
     

2017     
March 1, 2017 through November 30, 2017  30,000  $ 3.10

EOG has sold call options which establish a ceiling price for the sale of notional volumes of natural gas as specified in the call option contracts. The call
options require that EOG pay the difference between the call option strike price and either the average or last business day NYMEX Henry Hub natural gas
price for the contract month (Henry Hub Index Price) in the event the Henry Hub Index Price is above the call option strike price.
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In addition, EOG has purchased put options which establish a floor price for the sale of notional volumes of natural gas as specified in the put option
contracts. The put options grant EOG the right to receive the difference between the put option strike price and the Henry Hub Index Price in the event the
Henry Hub Index Price is below the put option strike price. Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's natural gas call and put option contracts
for the nine months ended September 30, 2016, with notional volumes expressed in MMBtud and prices expressed in $/MMBtu.

Natural Gas Option Contracts

 Call Options Sold  Put Options Purchased

 
Volume

(MMBtud)  

Weighted 
Average Price 

($/MMBtu)  
Volume

(MMBtud)  

Weighted 
Average Price 

($/MMBtu)
2016        
September 2016 (closed) 56,250  $ 3.46  —  $ —
October 2016 (closed) 106,250  3.48  —  —
November 2016 106,250  3.48  —  —
        

2017        
March 1, 2017 through November 30, 2017 168,750  $ 3.41  135,000  $ 2.90
        

2018        
March 1, 2018 through November 30, 2018 75,000  $ 3.30  60,000  $ 2.90

Credit Risk. Notional contract amounts are used to express the magnitude of a financial derivative. The amounts potentially subject to credit risk, in the
event of nonperformance by the counterparties, are equal to the fair value of such contracts (see Note 11). EOG evaluates its exposure to significant
counterparties on an ongoing basis, including those arising from physical and financial transactions. In some instances, EOG renegotiates payment terms
and/or requires collateral, parent guarantees or letters of credit to minimize credit risk.

All of EOG's derivative instruments are covered by International Swap Dealers Association Master Agreements (ISDAs) with counterparties. The ISDAs may
contain provisions that require EOG, if it is the party in a net liability position, to post collateral when the amount of the net liability exceeds the threshold
level specified for EOG's then-current credit ratings. In addition, the ISDAs may also provide that as a result of certain circumstances, including certain events
that cause EOG's credit ratings to become materially weaker than its then-current ratings, the counterparty may require all outstanding derivatives under the
ISDAs to be settled immediately. There were no derivative instruments in a net liability position at September 30, 2016. EOG had no collateral posted and
held no collateral at September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015.

13.  Divestitures

During the first nine months of 2016, EOG received proceeds of approximately $458 million primarily from sales of producing properties and acreage in
Texas, the Rocky Mountain area and Oklahoma. Additionally, in the third quarter of 2016, EOG signed purchase and sale agreements for the sale of certain
properties in the United States. At September 30, 2016, the book value of these proved oil and gas properties and other property, plant and equipment held
for sale and the related asset retirement obligations were $55 million and $14 million, respectively. During the first nine months of 2015, EOG received
proceeds of approximately $144 million primarily from sales of gathering and processing assets.

During the third quarter of 2016, EOG completed the sale of all its Argentina assets.
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14. Subsequent Event

On October 4, 2016, EOG completed its previously announced mergers and related asset purchase transactions with Yates Petroleum Corporation (YPC), Abo
Petroleum Corporation (ABO), MYCO Industries, Inc. (MYCO) and certain affiliated entities (collectively with YPC, ABO and MYCO, the Yates Entities).
Subject to the terms of the agreements, EOG issued to the shareholders of YPC, ABO and MYCO and to certain of the sellers under the related asset purchase
transactions an aggregate of approximately 25 million shares of EOG common stock and paid to certain of the sellers under the asset purchase transactions an
aggregate of approximately $16 million in cash for total consideration transferred of $2.4 billion. In addition, under the terms of the transactions, EOG repaid
approximately $164 million of debt owed by the Yates Entities, which was offset by approximately $64 million of cash of the Yates Entities.

The assets of the Yates Entities include producing wells in addition to acreage in the Delaware Basin Core, the Delaware Basin Shelf, the Powder River Basin
and other Western basins. The financial results of YPC, ABO and MYCO will be included in EOG's consolidated financial statements beginning October 4,
2016.

EOG will account for the mergers with YPC, ABO and MYCO and related asset purchase transactions as a business combination under the acquisition method
with EOG as the acquirer. Under the acquisition method, the consideration transferred is allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their
estimated fair values, with any excess of the consideration transferred over the estimated fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired recorded as
goodwill. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Due to the limited time elapsed since the acquisition date, the initial accounting for the business combination is incomplete. As a result, EOG is unable to
provide amounts recognized as of October 4, 2016, the acquisition date, for major classes of assets acquired and liabilities assumed from these transactions.
This information will be included in EOG's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

EOG RESOURCES, INC.

Overview

EOG Resources, Inc., together with its subsidiaries (collectively, EOG), is one of the largest independent (non-integrated) crude oil and natural gas
companies in the United States with proved reserves in the United States, Trinidad, the United Kingdom and China. EOG operates under a consistent business
and operational strategy that focuses predominantly on maximizing the rate of return on investment of capital by controlling operating and capital costs and
maximizing reserve recoveries. This strategy is intended to enhance the generation of cash flow and earnings from each unit of production on a cost-effective
basis, allowing EOG to deliver long-term production growth while maintaining a strong balance sheet. EOG implements its strategy by emphasizing the
drilling of internally generated prospects in order to find and develop low-cost reserves. Maintaining the lowest possible operating cost structure that is
consistent with prudent and safe operations is also an important goal in the implementation of EOG's strategy.

United States. EOG's efforts to identify plays with large reserve potential have proven to be successful. EOG continues to drill numerous wells in large
acreage plays, which in the aggregate have contributed substantially to, and are expected to continue to contribute substantially to, EOG's crude oil and
liquids-rich natural gas production. EOG has placed an emphasis on applying its horizontal drilling and completion expertise to unconventional crude oil
and liquids-rich reservoirs.

Crude oil and natural gas prices have been volatile, and this volatility is expected to continue. As a result of the many uncertainties associated with the
world political environment, worldwide supplies of, and demand for, crude oil and condensate, natural gas liquids (NGLs) and natural gas and the availability
of other worldwide energy supplies, EOG is unable to predict what changes may occur in crude oil and condensate, NGL, and natural gas prices in the future.
The market prices of crude oil and condensate, NGLs and natural gas in 2016 will continue to impact the amount of cash generated from operating activities,
which will in turn impact EOG's financial position and results of operations. For the first nine months of 2016, the average U.S. New York Mercantile
Exchange (NYMEX) crude oil and natural gas prices were $41.36 per barrel and $2.26 per million British thermal units (MMBtu), respectively, representing
declines of 15% each from the average NYMEX prices in 2015. Based on its 2016 drilling plan, which has been influenced by the continued low commodity
price environment, EOG expects 2016 crude oil and condensate and natural gas production to decline slightly as compared to 2015.

During the first nine months of 2016, EOG continued to focus on increasing drilling and completion efficiencies using precision lateral targeting and
advanced completion methods and reducing operating and capital costs through efficiency improvements and service cost reductions. These efficiency gains
along with realized lower service costs resulted in lower drilling and completion costs and decreased operating expenses during the first nine months of 2016.
EOG continues to look for opportunities to add drilling inventory through leasehold acquisitions, farm-ins or tactical acquisitions and to evaluate certain
potential crude oil and liquids-rich natural gas exploration and development prospects. On a volumetric basis, as calculated using the ratio of 1.0 barrel of
crude oil and condensate or NGLs to 6.0 thousand cubic feet of natural gas, crude oil and condensate and NGL production accounted for approximately 72%
of United States production during the nine months of 2016 as compared to 71% for the same comparable period of 2015. During the first nine months of
2016, drilling and completion activities occurred primarily in the Eagle Ford play, Delaware Basin play and Rocky Mountain area. EOG's major producing
areas in the United States are in New Mexico, North Dakota, Texas, Utah and Wyoming.

On October 4, 2016, EOG completed its previously announced mergers and related asset purchase transactions with Yates Petroleum Corporation (YPC),
Abo Petroleum Corporation (ABO), MYCO Industries, Inc. (MYCO) and certain affiliated entities (collectively with YPC, ABO and MYCO, the Yates
Entities). The Yates Entities had recent net production of approximately 28,600 barrels of oil equivalent per day, with 48 percent crude oil. The assets of the
Yates Entities include 1.6 million total net acres, with approximately 180,000 net acres in the Delaware Basin Core, approximately 130,000 net acres in the
Delaware Basin Shelf and approximately 200,000 net acres in the Powder River Basin. The financial results of YPC, ABO and MYCO will be included in
EOG's consolidated financial statements beginning October 4, 2016.
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Trinidad. In Trinidad, EOG continues to deliver natural gas under existing supply contracts. Several fields in the South East Coast Consortium (SECC)
Block, Modified U(a) Block, Block 4(a), Modified U(b) Block and the Sercan Area (formerly known as the EMZ area) have been developed and are
producing natural gas, which is sold to the National Gas Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited and its subsidiary and crude oil and condensate which is
sold to the Petroleum Company of Trinidad and Tobago Limited. In the third quarter of 2016, EOG installed a platform and pipeline in the Sercan Area in
preparation for its fourth quarter 2016 and 2017 drilling program. In the fourth quarter of 2016, EOG expects to drill and complete one net well and initiate
natural gas sales by year end.

Other International. In the United Kingdom, EOG began production from its 100% working interest East Irish Sea Conwy crude oil project in March
2016, selling its first crude oil cargo at the end of the first quarter. Modifications to the nearby third-party-owned Douglas platform, which is used to process
Conwy production, were completed in the first quarter of 2016, and acceptance and performance testing is ongoing.

In the Sichuan Basin, Sichuan Province, China, EOG is evaluating future Shaximiao development opportunities in the Chuan Zhong Block.

During the third quarter of 2016, EOG completed the sale of all its Argentina assets.

EOG continues to evaluate other select crude oil and natural gas opportunities outside the United States primarily by pursuing exploitation
opportunities in countries where indigenous crude oil and natural gas reserves have been identified.

Capital Structure. One of management's key strategies is to maintain a strong balance sheet with a consistently below average debt-to-total
capitalization ratio as compared to those in EOG's peer group. EOG's debt-to-total capitalization ratio was 37% and 34% at September 30, 2016 and
December 31, 2015, respectively. As used in this calculation, total capitalization represents the sum of total current and long-term debt and total
stockholders' equity.

On October 4, 2016, in connection with the mergers and related asset purchase transactions with the Yates Entities, EOG issued to the Yates Entities an
aggregate of approximately 25 million shares of EOG common stock, subject to the terms of the agreements, and paid to certain of the sellers under the asset
purchase transactions an aggregate of approximately $16 million in cash for total consideration transferred of $2.4 billion. In addition, under the terms of the
agreements, EOG repaid approximately $164 million of debt owed by the Yates Entities, which was offset by approximately $64 million of cash of the Yates
Entities.

At September 30, 2016, $600 million aggregate principal amount of EOG's 5.875% Senior Notes due 2017 were reclassified as long-term debt based
upon its intent and ability to ultimately replace such amount with other long-term debt.

On February 1, 2016, EOG repaid upon maturity the $400 million aggregate principal amount of its 2.500% Senior Notes due 2016 (2016 Notes).

On January 14, 2016, EOG closed its sale of $750 million aggregate principal amount of its 4.15% Senior Notes due 2026 and $250 million aggregate
principal amount of its 5.10% Senior Notes due 2036 (collectively, the Notes). Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year, beginning on July 15, 2016. Net proceeds from the Notes offering totaled approximately $991 million and were used to repay the 2016
Notes when they matured on February 1, 2016, and for general corporate purposes, including repayment of outstanding commercial paper borrowings and
funding of capital expenditures.

Total anticipated 2016 capital expenditures are estimated to range from approximately $2.6 billion to $2.8 billion, excluding acquisitions. The majority
of 2016 expenditures will continue to be focused on United States crude oil drilling activities. EOG has significant flexibility with respect to financing
alternatives, including borrowings under its commercial paper program and other uncommitted credit facilities, bank borrowings, borrowings under its $2.0
billion senior unsecured revolving credit facility and equity and debt offerings.

When it fits EOG's strategy, EOG will make acquisitions that bolster existing drilling programs or offer incremental exploration and/or production
opportunities. Management continues to believe EOG has one of the strongest prospect inventories in EOG's history.
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Results of Operations

The following review of operations for the three months and nine months ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 should be read in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements of EOG and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10‑Q.

Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 vs. Three Months Ended September 30, 2015

Net Operating Revenues. During the third quarter of 2016, net operating revenues decreased $53 million, or 2%, to $2,119 million from $2,172 million
for the same period of 2015. Total wellhead revenues, which are revenues generated from sales of EOG's production of crude oil and condensate, NGLs and
natural gas, for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $103 million, or 7%, to $1,455 million from $1,558 million for the same period of 2015. EOG recognized
net gains on the mark-to-market of financial commodity derivative contracts of $5 million for the third quarter of 2016 compared to net gains of $29 million
for the same period of 2015. Gathering, processing and marketing revenues for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $40 million, or 7%, to $532 million from
$572 million for the same period of 2015. Net gains on asset dispositions for the third quarter of 2016 were $108 million, up $109 million, from the net loss
of $1 million for the same period of 2015.
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Wellhead volume and price statistics for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

 
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,  
 2016   2015  
Crude Oil and Condensate Volumes (MBbld) (1)      

United States 275.7   278.3  
Trinidad 0.7   1.0  
Other International (2) 6.2   0.2  

Total 282.6   279.5  

Average Crude Oil and Condensate Prices ($/Bbl) (3)      
United States $ 43.66   $ 45.93  
Trinidad 34.81   38.56  
Other International (2) 43.53   61.80  

Composite 43.63   45.91  
Natural Gas Liquids Volumes (MBbld) (1)      

United States 81.9   77.7  
Other International (2) —   0.1  

Total 81.9   77.8  

Average Natural Gas Liquids Prices ($/Bbl) (3)      
United States $ 14.92   $ 13.25  
Other International (2) —   8.05  

Composite 14.92   13.24  
Natural Gas Volumes (MMcfd) (1)      

United States 791   889  
Trinidad 329   355  
Other International (2) 24   30  

Total 1,144   1,274  

Average Natural Gas Prices ($/Mcf) (3)      
United States $ 1.94   $ 2.04  
Trinidad 1.86   2.90  
Other International (2) 3.74   7.18 (5)

Composite 1.95   2.40  
Crude Oil Equivalent Volumes (MBoed) (4)      

United States 489.4   504.2  
Trinidad 55.6   60.2  
Other International (2) 10.2   5.2  

Total 555.2   569.6  

      
Total MMBoe (4) 51.1   52.4  

 (1) Thousand barrels per day or million cubic feet per day, as applicable.
(2) Other International includes EOG's United Kingdom, China and Canada operations.
(3) Dollars per barrel or per thousand cubic feet, as applicable. Excludes the impact of financial commodity derivative instruments (see Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial

Statements).
(4) Thousand barrels of oil equivalent per day or million barrels of oil equivalent, as applicable; includes crude oil and condensate, NGLs and natural gas. Crude oil equivalent

volumes are determined using a ratio of 1.0 barrel of crude oil and condensate or NGLs to 6.0 thousand cubic feet of natural gas. MMBoe is calculated by multiplying the
MBoed amount by the number of days in the period and then dividing that amount by one thousand.

(5) Includes revenue adjustment of $3.62 per Mcf related to a price adjustment for natural gas sales made in China during the period June 2012 through March 2015.
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Wellhead crude oil and condensate revenues for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $43 million, or 4%, to $1,138 million from $1,181 million for the
same period of 2015. The decline was primarily due to a lower composite wellhead crude oil and condensate price ($59 million), partially offset by an
increase of 3 MBbld, or 1%, in wellhead crude oil and condensate production ($16 million). Increased production was primarily due to increases in the
Permian Basin and the commencement of production from Conwy, partially offset by declines in the Eagle Ford. EOG's composite wellhead crude oil and
condensate price for the third quarter of 2016 decreased 5% to $43.63 per barrel compared to $45.91 per barrel for the same period of 2015.

NGL revenues for the third quarter of 2016 increased $17 million, or 18%, to $112 million from $95 million for the same period of 2015 due to a higher
composite average price ($13 million) and an increase of 4 MBbld, or 5%, in NGL deliveries ($4 million) primarily in the Permian Basin. EOG's composite
NGL price for the third quarter of 2016 increased 13% to $14.92 per barrel compared to $13.24 per barrel for the same period of 2015.

Wellhead natural gas revenues for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $77 million, or 27%, to $205 million from $282 million for the same period of
2015. The decrease was due to a lower composite wellhead natural gas price ($48 million) and a decrease in natural gas deliveries ($29 million). Natural gas
deliveries for the third quarter of 2016 decreased 130 MMcfd, or 10%, compared to the same period of 2015 due primarily to lower production in the United
States (98 MMcfd) and Trinidad (26 MMcfd). The decrease in the United States was due primarily to decreased production in the Fort Worth Basin Barnett
Shale, Eagle Ford and South Texas areas, partially offset by increased production of associated natural gas from the Permian Basin. The decrease in Trinidad
was primarily due to lower contractual deliveries. EOG's composite wellhead natural gas price for the third quarter of 2016 decreased 19% to $1.95 per Mcf
compared to $2.40 per Mcf for the same period of 2015.

During the third quarter of 2016, EOG recognized net gains on the mark-to-market of financial commodity derivative contracts of $5 million compared
to net gains of $29 million for the same period of 2015. During the third quarter of 2016, net cash paid for settlements of financial commodity derivative
contracts was $25 million compared to net cash received of $100 million for the same period of 2015.

Gathering, processing and marketing revenues are revenues generated from sales of third-party crude oil, NGLs and natural gas as well as gathering fees
associated with gathering third-party natural gas and revenues from sales of EOG-owned sand. Purchases and sales of third-party crude oil and natural gas are
utilized in order to balance firm transportation capacity with production in certain areas and to utilize excess capacity at EOG-owned facilities. Marketing
costs represent the costs of purchasing third-party crude oil and natural gas and the associated transportation costs as well as costs associated with EOG-
owned sand sold to third parties.

Gathering, processing and marketing revenues less marketing costs for the third quarter of 2016 increased $23 million as compared to the same prior year
period. The increase primarily reflects higher margins in 2016 on crude oil marketing activities.

Operating and Other Expenses.  For the third quarter of 2016, operating expenses of $2,312 million were $6,083 million lower than the $8,395 million
incurred during the third quarter of 2015.  Third quarter 2015 operating expenses included impairments of proved properties, other property, plant and
equipment and other assets of $6,225 million related to commodity price declines. The following table presents the costs per barrel of oil equivalent (Boe) for
the three-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

 
Three Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015
Lease and Well $ 4.42  $ 5.40
Transportation Costs 3.93  3.88
Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization (DD&A) -    

Oil and Gas Properties 17.01  13.16
Other Property, Plant and Equipment 0.57  0.61

General and Administrative (G&A) 1.84  1.73
Interest Expense, Net 1.38  1.15

Total (1) $ 29.15  $ 25.93

 
(1) Total excludes gathering and processing costs, exploration costs, dry hole costs, impairments, marketing costs and taxes other than income.
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The primary factors impacting the cost components of per-unit rates of lease and well, DD&A and interest expense, net, for the three months ended
September 30, 2016, compared to the same period of 2015 are set forth below. See "Net Operating Revenues" above for a discussion of production volumes.

Lease and well expenses include expenses for EOG-operated properties, as well as expenses billed to EOG from other operators where EOG is not the
operator of a property. Lease and well expenses can be divided into the following categories: costs to operate and maintain crude oil and natural gas wells,
the cost of workovers and lease and well administrative expenses. Operating and maintenance costs include, among other things, pumping services, salt water
disposal, equipment repair and maintenance, compression expense, lease upkeep and fuel and power. Workovers are operations to restore or maintain
production from existing wells.

Each of these categories of costs individually fluctuates from time to time as EOG attempts to maintain and increase production while maintaining
efficient, safe and environmentally responsible operations. EOG continues to increase its operating activities by drilling new wells in existing and new areas.
Operating and maintenance costs within these existing and new areas, as well as the costs of services charged to EOG by vendors, fluctuate over time.

Lease and well expenses of $226 million for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $57 million from $283 million for the same prior year period primarily
due to decreased operating and maintenance costs ($46 million) and lower lease and well administrative expenses ($14 million).

DD&A of the cost of proved oil and gas properties is calculated using the unit-of-production method. EOG's DD&A rate and expense are the composite of
numerous individual DD&A group calculations. There are several factors that can impact EOG's composite DD&A rate and expense, such as field production
profiles, drilling or acquisition of new wells, disposition of existing wells and reserve revisions (upward or downward) primarily related to well performance,
economic factors and impairments. Changes to these factors may cause EOG's composite DD&A rate and expense to fluctuate from period to period. DD&A of
the cost of other property, plant and equipment is generally calculated using the straight-line depreciation method over the useful lives of the assets.

DD&A expenses for the third quarter of 2016 increased $178 million to $900 million from $722 million for the same prior year period. DD&A expenses
associated with oil and gas properties for the third quarter of 2016 were $180 million higher than the same prior year period. The increase primarily reflects
increased rates in the United States ($196 million) and commencement of crude oil production from Conwy in the United Kingdom ($12 million), partially
offset by decreased production in the United States ($19 million) and Trinidad ($3 million) and decreased rates in Trinidad ($5 million). DD&A unit rates in
the United States increased primarily due to downward revisions of reserves at December 31, 2015, as a result of lower commodity prices.

Exploration costs of $25 million for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $6 million from $31 million for the same prior year period primarily due to
decreased exploration administrative expenses ($4 million) and decreased geological and geophysical costs ($2 million), all in the United States.

Impairments include amortization of unproved oil and gas property costs, as well as impairments of proved oil and gas properties; other property, plant
and equipment; and other assets. Unproved properties with acquisition costs that are not individually significant are aggregated, and the portion of such costs
estimated to be nonproductive is amortized over the remaining lease term. When circumstances indicate that a proved property may be impaired, EOG
compares expected undiscounted future cash flows at a DD&A group level to the unamortized capitalized cost of the asset. If the expected undiscounted
future cash flows are lower than the unamortized capitalized cost, the capitalized cost is reduced to fair value. Fair value is generally calculated by using the
Income Approach described in the Fair Value Measurement Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board's Accounting Standards Codification. In
certain instances, EOG utilizes accepted bids as the basis for determining fair value.

Impairments of $178 million for the third quarter of 2016 were $6,129 million lower than impairments for the same prior year period primarily due to
decreased impairments of proved properties and related assets in the United States ($5,977 million) and lower impairments of proved and unproved properties
in Other International ($155 million), partially offset by increased amortization of unproved property costs in the United States ($5 million). Third quarter
2015 proved properties and related asset impairments in the United States were primarily related to legacy natural gas assets and marginal liquids plays. EOG
recorded impairments of proved properties, other property, plant and equipment and other assets of $104 million and $6,225 million for the third quarter of
2016 and 2015, respectively.
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Interest expense, net, of $71 million for the third quarter of 2016 increased $10 million compared to the same prior year period primarily due to interest
expense on the Notes issued in January 2016 ($11 million) and decreased capitalized interest ($2 million), partially offset by reduced interest expense as a
result of the repayment of the 2016 Notes during February 2016 ($3 million).

Taxes other than income include severance/production taxes, ad valorem/property taxes, payroll taxes, franchise taxes and other miscellaneous taxes.
Severance/production taxes are generally determined based on wellhead revenues, and ad valorem/property taxes are generally determined based on the
valuation of the underlying assets.

Taxes other than income for the third quarter of 2016 decreased $14 million to $92 million (6.3% of wellhead revenues) compared to $106 million (6.8%
of wellhead revenues) for the same prior year period. The decrease in taxes other than income was primarily due to decreases in ad valorem/property taxes
($10 million) and in severance/production taxes ($3 million), primarily as a result of decreased wellhead revenues, both in the United States.

Other (expense) income, net for the third quarter of 2016 increased $17 million compared to the same prior year period primarily due to increased
deferred compensation expense, partially offset by a decrease in foreign currency exchange losses.

EOG recognized an income tax benefit of $82 million for the third quarter of 2016 compared to an income tax benefit of $2,199 million in the third
quarter of 2015, primarily due to a decrease in pretax loss resulting from the absence of certain 2015 impairments. The net effective tax rate of 30% for the
third quarter of 2016 was less than the statutory tax rate of 35% due mostly to foreign taxes. Based on events occurring during the period, EOG accrued
interest of $2 million related to unrecognized income tax benefits. These unrecognized tax benefits, if required to be paid, would result in additional tax
credits available for future use. Accordingly, the impact to the consolidated balance sheet at September 30, 2016, included a $36 million increase to both
unrecognized tax benefits and deferred tax assets.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 vs. Nine Months Ended September 30, 2015

Net Operating Revenues. During the first nine months of 2016, net operating revenues decreased $1,712 million, or 25%, to $5,249 million from $6,961
million for the same period of 2015. Total wellhead revenues for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $1,272 million, or 25%, to $3,777 million from
$5,049 million for the same period of 2015. During the first nine months of 2016, EOG recognized net losses on the mark-to-market of financial commodity
derivative contracts of $34 million compared to net gains of $57 million for the same period of 2015. Gathering, processing and marketing revenues for the
first nine months of 2016 decreased $469 million, or 26%, to $1,352 million from $1,821 million for the same period of 2015. Net gains on asset dispositions
for the first nine months of 2016 increased $107 million to $102 million from net losses of $5 million for the same period of 2015.
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Wellhead volume and price statistics for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 were as follows:

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,  
 2016   2015  
Crude Oil and Condensate Volumes (MBbld)      

United States 269.0   284.4  
Trinidad 0.8   0.9  
Other International 3.0   0.2  

Total 272.8   285.5  

Average Crude Oil and Condensate Prices ($/Bbl) (1)      
United States $ 39.53   $ 49.94  
Trinidad 31.36   41.98  
Other International 35.30   58.44  

Composite 39.46   49.92  
Natural Gas Liquids Volumes (MBbld)      

United States 81.9   76.2  
Other International —   0.1  

Total 81.9   76.3  
Average Natural Gas Liquids Prices ($/Bbl)      

United States $ 13.34   $ 14.94  
Other International —   6.05  

Composite 13.34   14.93  
Natural Gas Volumes (MMcfd)      

United States 813   895  
Trinidad 346   342  
Other International 25   31  

Total 1,184   1,268  

Average Natural Gas Prices ($/Mcf) (1)      
United States $ 1.46   $ 2.14  
Trinidad 1.88   3.01  
Other International 3.57   4.63 (2)

Composite 1.62   2.44  
Crude Oil Equivalent Volumes (MBoed)      

United States 486.4   509.8  
Trinidad 58.5   57.9  
Other International 7.2   5.4  

Total 552.1   573.1  

      

Total MMBoe 151.3   156.5  

 (1) Excludes the impact of financial commodity derivative instruments.
(2) Includes revenue adjustment of $1.19 per Mcf related to a price adjustment for natural gas sales made in China during the period June 2012 through March 2015.
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Wellhead crude oil and condensate revenues for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $943 million, or 24%, to $2,951 million from $3,894 million for
the same period of 2015 due primarily to a lower composite wellhead crude oil and condensate price ($782 million) and a decrease of 13 MBbld, or 4%, in
wellhead crude oil and condensate production ($161 million). Decreased production was primarily due to declines in the Eagle Ford and the Rocky
Mountain area, partially offset by increased production in the Permian Basin. EOG's composite wellhead crude oil and condensate price for the first nine
months of 2016 decreased 21% to $39.46 per barrel compared to $49.92 per barrel for the same period of 2015.

NGL revenues for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $12 million, or 4%, to $299 million from $311 million for the same period of 2015 due
primarily to a lower composite average price ($36 million), partially offset by an increase of 6 MBbld, or 7%, in NGL deliveries ($24 million) primarily in the
Permian Basin. EOG's composite NGL price for the first nine months of 2016 decreased 11% to $13.34 per barrel compared to $14.93 per barrel for the same
period of 2015.

Wellhead natural gas revenues for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $317 million, or 38%, to $527 million from $844 million for the same period
of 2015 primarily due to a lower composite wellhead natural gas price ($264 million) and a decrease of 84 MMcfd, or 7%, in natural gas deliveries ($53
million) primarily due to lower production in the United States. The decrease in the United States was due primarily to decreased production in the Fort
Worth Basin Barnett Shale and South Texas areas, partially offset by increased production of associated natural gas from the Permian Basin. EOG's composite
wellhead natural gas price for the first nine months of 2016 decreased 34% to $1.62 per Mcf compared to $2.44 per Mcf for the same period of 2015.

During the first nine months of 2016, EOG recognized net losses on the mark-to-market of financial commodity derivative contracts of $34 million
compared to net gains of $57 million for the same period of 2015. During the first nine months of 2016, net cash paid from settlements of financial
commodity derivative contracts was $22 million compared to net cash received of $661 million for the same period of 2015.

Gathering, processing and marketing revenues less marketing costs for the first nine months of 2016 increased $82 million as compared to the same
period of 2015. The increase primarily reflects higher margins in 2016 on crude oil marketing activities and sand sales, partially offset by lower margins in
natural gas marketing activities.

Operating and Other Expenses. For the first nine months of 2016, operating expenses of $6,368 million were $6,949 million lower than the $13,317
million incurred during the same period of 2015. Operating expenses for the first nine months of 2015 included impairments of proved properties, other
property, plant and equipment and other assets of $6,230 million related to commodity price declines. The following table presents the costs per Boe for the
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2016 and 2015:

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,
 2016  2015
Lease and Well $ 4.53  $ 5.97
Transportation Costs 3.77  4.10
DD&A -    

Oil and Gas Properties 17.23  15.64
Other Property, Plant and Equipment 0.57  0.61

G&A 1.93  1.65
Interest Expense, Net 1.39  1.11

Total (1) $ 29.42  $ 29.08

 
(1) Total excludes gathering and processing costs, exploration costs, dry hole costs, impairments, marketing costs and taxes other than income.

The primary factors impacting the cost components of per-unit rates of lease and well, transportation costs, DD&A, G&A and interest expense, net, for the
nine months ended September 30, 2016, compared to the same period of 2015 are set forth below. See "Net Operating Revenues" above for a discussion of
production volumes.

Lease and well expenses of $686 million for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $248 million from $934 million for the same prior year period
primarily due to lower operating and maintenance costs ($214 million) and lease and well administrative expenses ($33 million), all in the United States.
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Transportation costs represent costs associated with the delivery of hydrocarbon products from the lease to a downstream point of sale. Transportation
costs include transportation fees, costs associated with crude-by-rail operations, the cost of compression (the cost of compressing natural gas to meet pipeline
pressure requirements), dehydration (the cost associated with removing water from natural gas to meet pipeline requirements), gathering fees and fuel costs.

Transportation costs of $571 million for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $71 million from $642 million for the same prior year period primarily
due to decreased transportation costs in the Rocky Mountain area ($47 million), the Eagle Ford ($18 million) and the Fort Worth Basin Barnett Shale area
($14 million), partially offset by increased transportation costs in the Permian Basin ($10 million).

DD&A expenses for the first nine months of 2016 increased $147 million to $2,691 million from $2,544 million for the same prior year period. DD&A
expenses associated with oil and gas properties for the first nine months of 2016 were $156 million higher than the same prior year period. The increase
primarily reflects increased rates in the United States ($240 million) and the commencement of crude oil production from Conwy in the United Kingdom ($14
million), partially offset by decreased production in the United States ($96 million). DD&A unit rates in the United States increased primarily due to
downward revisions of reserves at December 31, 2015, as a result of lower commodity prices.

Exploration costs of $86 million for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $29 million from $115 million for the same prior year period primarily due
to decreased geological and geophysical costs ($16 million) and decreased administrative expenses ($15 million) in the United States.

G&A expenses of $293 million for the first nine months of 2016 increased $35 million from $258 million for the same prior year period primarily due to
employee-related expenses in connection with certain voluntary retirements.

Interest expense, net, of $210 million for the first nine months of 2016 increased $36 million compared to the same prior year period primarily due to a
net increase in debt outstanding ($28 million) and decreased capitalized interest ($8 million).

Gathering and processing costs represent operating and maintenance expenses and administrative expenses associated with operating EOG's gathering
and processing assets.

Gathering and processing costs for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $16 million to $90 million compared to the same prior year period primarily
due to decreased operating expenses in the Eagle Ford ($11 million) and Fort Worth Basin Barnett Shale area ($6 million), partially offset by costs associated
with the commencement of crude oil production from Conwy in the United Kingdom ($4 million) and increased activities in the Permian Basin ($2 million).

Impairments of $322 million for the first nine months of 2016 were $6,123 million lower than impairments for the same prior year period primarily due to
decreased impairments of proved properties and related assets in the United States ($5,978 million) and lower impairments of proved and unproved properties
in Other International ($155 million), partially offset by increased amortization of unproved property costs in the United States ($14 million), which was
caused by higher amortization rates being applied to undeveloped leasehold costs in response to the significant decrease in commodity prices and an
increase in EOG's estimates of undeveloped properties not expected to be developed before lease expiration. For the first nine months of 2015, proved
property and related asset impairments in the United States were related to legacy natural gas assets and marginal liquids plays. EOG recorded impairments of
proved properties, other property, plant and equipment and other assets of $107 million and $6,230 million for the first nine months of 2016 and 2015,
respectively.

Taxes other than income for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $88 million to $246 million (6.5% of wellhead revenues) from $334 million (6.6%
of wellhead revenues) for the same prior year period. The decrease in taxes other than income was primarily due to decreased severance/production taxes ($58
million) as a result of decreased wellhead revenues and decreased ad valorem/property taxes ($39 million) in the United States, partially offset by a decrease
in credits available to EOG in 2016 for Texas high-cost gas severance tax rate reductions ($11 million).

Other (expense) income, net for the first nine months of 2016 increased $41 million compared to the same prior year period primarily due to an increase
in foreign currency exchange losses and increased deferred compensation expense.

EOG recognized an income tax benefit of $409 million for the first nine months of 2016 compared to an income tax benefit of $2,283 million for the
same period in 2015, primarily due to a decrease in pretax loss resulting from the absence of certain 2015 impairments. The net effective tax rate for the first
nine months of 2016 was 30% primarily due to additional Trinidad taxes resulting from a tax settlement reached in the second quarter of 2016 ($43 million).
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Capital Resources and Liquidity

Cash Flow. The primary sources of cash for EOG during the nine months ended September 30, 2016, were funds generated from operations, net proceeds
from the issuance of the Notes and proceeds from sales of assets. The primary uses of cash were funds used in operations; exploration and development
expenditures; repayments of debt; dividend payments to stockholders; other property, plant and equipment expenditures; and purchases of treasury stock in
connection with stock compensation plans. During the first nine months of 2016, EOG's cash balance increased $330 million to $1,049 million from $719
million at December 31, 2015.

Net cash provided by operating activities of $1,554 million for the first nine months of 2016 decreased $1,425 million compared to the same period of
2015 primarily due to a decrease in wellhead revenues ($1,272 million) and an unfavorable change in the net cash received from the settlement of commodity
derivative contracts ($683 million), partially offset by a decrease in cash operating expenses ($420 million) and a favorable change in net cash paid for
income taxes ($71 million).

Net cash used in investing activities of $1,264 million for the first nine months of 2016 decreased by $3,282 million compared to the same period of
2015 due to a decrease in additions to oil and gas properties ($2,137 million), favorable changes in working capital associated with investing activities ($640
million), an increase in proceeds from sales of assets ($313 million) and a decrease in additions to other property, plant and equipment ($192 million).

Net cash provided by financing activities of $28 million for the first nine months of 2016 included net proceeds from the issuance of the Notes ($991
million). Cash used in financing activities for the first nine months of 2016 included repayments of the 2016 Notes ($400 million), cash dividend payments
($277 million), net commercial paper repayments ($260 million) and purchases of treasury stock in connection with stock compensation plans ($56 million).
Net cash provided by financing activities of $231 million for the first nine months of 2015 included net proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt ($990
million), net commercial paper borrowings ($30 million), excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation ($24 million) and proceeds from stock options
exercised and employee stock purchase plan activity ($15 million). Cash used in financing activities for the first nine months of 2015 included repayments of
long-term debt ($500 million), cash dividend payments ($275 million) and purchases of treasury stock in connection with stock compensation plans ($43
million).

Total Expenditures. For the year 2016, EOG's budget for exploration and development and other property, plant and equipment expenditures is
approximately $2.6 billion to $2.8 billion, excluding acquisitions. The table below sets out components of total expenditures for the nine-month periods
ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 (in millions):

 
Nine Months Ended 

 September 30,

 2016  2015
Expenditure Category    
Capital    

Exploration and Development Drilling $ 1,431  $ 2,723
Facilities 253  661
Leasehold Acquisitions 48  111
Property Acquisitions 14  376
Capitalized Interest 25  33

Subtotal 1,771  3,904
Exploration Costs 86  115
Dry Hole Costs 10  14

Exploration and Development Expenditures 1,867  4,033
Asset Retirement Costs 14  26

Total Exploration and Development Expenditures 1,881  4,059
Other Property, Plant and Equipment 61  253

Total Expenditures $ 1,942  $ 4,312
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Exploration and development expenditures of $1,867 million for the first nine months of 2016 were $2,166 million lower than the same period of 2015
primarily due to decreased exploration and drilling expenditures in the United States ($1,207 million), Trinidad ($79 million) and Other International ($6
million); decreased facilities expenditures ($408 million); decreased property acquisitions ($362 million); decreased leasehold acquisitions ($63 million);
and decreased geological and geophysical expenditures ($16 million). Exploration and development expenditures for the first nine months of 2016 of $1,867
million consisted of $1,686 million in development drilling and facilities, $142 million in exploration, $25 million in capitalized interest and $14 million in
property acquisitions. Exploration and development expenditures for the first nine months of 2015 of $4,033 million consisted of $3,339 million in
development drilling and facilities, $376 million in property acquisitions, $285 million in exploration and $33 million in capitalized interest.

The level of exploration and development expenditures, including acquisitions, will vary in future periods depending on energy market conditions and
other related economic factors. EOG has significant flexibility with respect to financing alternatives and the ability to adjust its exploration and development
expenditure budget as circumstances warrant. While EOG has certain continuing commitments associated with expenditure plans related to its operations,
such commitments are not expected to be material when considered in relation to the total financial capacity of EOG.

Commodity Derivative Transactions. As more fully discussed in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in EOG's Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed on February 25, 2016, EOG engages in price risk management activities from time to time. These
activities are intended to manage EOG's exposure to fluctuations in commodity prices for crude oil and natural gas. EOG utilizes financial commodity
derivative instruments, primarily price swap, option, swaption, collar and basis swap contracts, as a means to manage this price risk. EOG has not designated
any of its financial commodity derivative contracts as accounting hedges and, accordingly, accounts for financial commodity derivative contracts using the
mark-to-market accounting method. Under this accounting method, changes in the fair value of outstanding financial instruments are recognized as gains or
losses in the period of change and are recorded as Gains (Losses) on Mark-to-Market Commodity Derivative Contracts on the Consolidated Statements of
Income and Comprehensive Income. The related cash flow impact is reflected in Cash Flows from Operating Activities.

The total fair value of EOG's commodity derivative contracts was reflected on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at September 30, 2016, as a net asset of
$5 million. Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's crude oil price swap contracts through November 3, 2016, with notional volumes
expressed in barrels per day (Bbld) and prices expressed in dollars per barrel ($/Bbl).

Crude Oil Price Swap Contracts

  Volume (Bbld)  
Weighted Average

Price ($/Bbl)
2016     
April 12, 2016 through April 30, 2016 (closed)  90,000  $ 42.30
May 1, 2016 through June 30, 2016 (closed)  128,000  42.56

EOG has entered into crude oil collar contracts, which establish ceiling and floor prices for the sale of notional volumes of crude oil as specified in the
collar contracts. The collars require that EOG pay the difference between the ceiling price and the average NYMEX West Texas Intermediate crude oil price
for the contract month (Index Price) in the event the Index Price is above the ceiling price. The collars grant EOG the right to receive the difference between
the floor price and the Index Price in the event the Index Price is below the floor price. Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's crude oil collar
contracts through November 3, 2016, with notional volumes expressed in Bbld and prices expressed in $/Bbl.

Crude Oil Collar Contracts

   Weighted Average Price ($/Bbl)

 Volume (Bbld)  Ceiling Price  Floor Price
2016      
September 1, 2016 through October 31, 2016 (closed) 70,000  $ 54.25  $ 45.00
November 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016 70,000  54.25  45.00
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Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's natural gas price swap contracts through November 3, 2016, with notional volumes expressed in
MMBtu per day (MMBtud) and prices expressed in dollars per MMBtu ($/MMBtu).

Natural Gas Price Swap Contracts

  Volume (MMBtud)  

Weighted
Average Price

($/MMBtu)
2016     
March 1, 2016 through August 31, 2016 (closed)  60,000  $ 2.49
     

2017     
March 1, 2017 through November 30, 2017  30,000  $ 3.10

EOG has sold call options which establish a ceiling price for the sale of notional volumes of natural gas as specified in the call option contracts. The call
options require that EOG pay the difference between the call option strike price and either the average or last business day NYMEX Henry Hub natural gas
price for the contract month (Henry Hub Index Price) in the event the Henry Hub Index Price is above the call option strike price.

In addition, EOG has purchased put options which establish a floor price for the sale of notional volumes of natural gas as specified in the put option
contracts. The put options grant EOG the right to receive the difference between the put option strike price and the Henry Hub Index Price in the event the
Henry Hub Index Price is below the put option strike price. Presented below is a comprehensive summary of EOG's natural gas call and put option contracts
through November 3, 2016, with notional volumes expressed in MMBtud and prices expressed in $/MMBtu.

Natural Gas Option Contracts

 Call Options Sold  Put Options Purchased

 
Volume

(MMBtud)  

Weighted 
Average Price 

($/MMBtu)  
Volume

(MMBtud)  

Weighted 
Average Price 

($/MMBtu)
2016        
September 2016 (closed) 56,250  $ 3.46  —  $ —
October 1, 2016 through November 30, 2016 (closed) 106,250  3.48  —  —
        

2017        
March 1, 2017 through November 30, 2017 213,750  $ 3.44  171,000  $ 2.92
        

2018        
March 1, 2018 through November 30, 2018 120,000  $ 3.38  96,000  $ 2.94
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Information Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements, other than statements of historical facts, including, among others,
statements and projections regarding EOG's future financial position, operations, performance, business strategy, returns, budgets, reserves, levels of
production and costs, statements regarding future commodity prices and statements regarding the plans and objectives of EOG's management for future
operations, are forward-looking statements. EOG typically uses words such as "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," "project," "strategy," "intend," "plan,"
"target," "goal," "may," "will," "should" and "believe" or the negative of those terms or other variations or comparable terminology to identify its forward-
looking statements. In particular, statements, express or implied, concerning EOG's future operating results and returns or EOG's ability to replace or increase
reserves, increase production, reduce or otherwise control operating and capital costs, generate income or cash flows or pay dividends are forward-looking
statements. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of performance. Although EOG believes the expectations reflected in its forward-looking
statements are reasonable and are based on reasonable assumptions, no assurance can be given that these assumptions are accurate or that any of these
expectations will be achieved (in full or at all) or will prove to have been correct. Moreover, EOG's forward-looking statements may be affected by known,
unknown or currently unforeseen risks, events or circumstances that may be outside EOG's control. Important factors that could cause EOG's actual results to
differ materially from the expectations reflected in EOG's forward-looking statements include, among others:

• the timing, extent and duration of changes in prices for, supplies of, and demand for, crude oil and condensate, natural gas liquids, natural gas
and related commodities;

• the extent to which EOG is successful in its efforts to acquire or discover additional reserves;
• the extent to which EOG is successful in its efforts to economically develop its acreage in, produce reserves and achieve anticipated production

levels from, and maximize reserve recovery from, its existing and future crude oil and natural gas exploration and development projects;
• the extent to which EOG is successful in its efforts to market its crude oil and condensate, natural gas liquids, natural gas and related commodity

production;
• the availability, proximity and capacity of, and costs associated with, appropriate gathering, processing, compression, transportation and

refining facilities;
• the availability, cost, terms and timing of issuance or execution of, and competition for, mineral licenses and leases and governmental and other

permits and rights-of-way, and EOG’s ability to retain mineral licenses and leases;
• the impact of, and changes in, government policies, laws and regulations, including tax laws and regulations; environmental, health and safety

laws and regulations relating to air emissions, disposal of produced water, drilling fluids and other wastes, hydraulic fracturing and access to and
use of water; laws and regulations imposing conditions or restrictions on drilling and completion operations and on the transportation of crude
oil and natural gas; laws and regulations with respect to derivatives and hedging activities; and laws and regulations with respect to the import
and export of crude oil, natural gas and related commodities;

• EOG's ability to effectively integrate acquired crude oil and natural gas properties into its operations, fully identify existing and potential
problems with respect to such properties and accurately estimate reserves, production and costs with respect to such properties;

• the extent to which EOG's third-party-operated crude oil and natural gas properties are operated successfully and economically;
• competition in the oil and gas exploration and production industry for the acquisition of licenses, leases and properties, employees and other

personnel, facilities, equipment, materials and services;
• the availability and cost of employees and other personnel, facilities, equipment, materials (such as water) and services;
• the accuracy of reserve estimates, which by their nature involve the exercise of professional judgment and may therefore be imprecise;
• weather, including its impact on crude oil and natural gas demand, and weather-related delays in drilling and in the installation and operation

(by EOG or third parties) of production, gathering, processing, refining, compression and transportation facilities;
• the ability of EOG's customers and other contractual counterparties to satisfy their obligations to EOG and, related thereto, to access the credit

and capital markets to obtain financing needed to satisfy their obligations to EOG;
• EOG's ability to access the commercial paper market and other credit and capital markets to obtain financing on terms it deems acceptable, if at

all, and to otherwise satisfy its capital expenditure requirements;
• the extent and effect of any hedging activities engaged in by EOG;
• the timing and extent of changes in foreign currency exchange rates, interest rates, inflation rates, global and domestic financial market

conditions and global and domestic general economic conditions;
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• political conditions and developments around the world (such as political instability and armed conflict), including in the areas in which EOG
operates;

• the use of competing energy sources and the development of alternative energy sources;
• the extent to which EOG incurs uninsured losses and liabilities or losses and liabilities in excess of its insurance coverage;
• acts of war and terrorism and responses to these acts;
• physical, electronic and cyber security breaches; and
• the other factors described under ITEM 1A, Risk Factors, on pages 13 through 21 of EOG's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year

ended December 31, 2015 and any updates to those factors set forth in EOG's subsequent Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on
Form 8-K.

In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the events anticipated by EOG's forward-looking statements may not occur, and, if any of such
events do, we may not have anticipated the timing of their occurrence or the duration and extent of their impact on our actual results. Accordingly, you
should not place any undue reliance on any of EOG's forward-looking statements. EOG's forward-looking statements speak only as of the date made, and EOG
undertakes no obligation, other than as required by applicable law, to update or revise its forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
subsequent events, anticipated or unanticipated circumstances or otherwise.
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PART I.  FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
EOG RESOURCES, INC.

EOG's exposure to commodity price risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency exchange rate risk is discussed in (i) the "Derivative Transactions,"
"Financing," "Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk" and "Outlook" sections of "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations - Capital Resources and Liquidity" on pages 39 through 41 of EOG's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015, filed
on February 25, 2016 (EOG's 2015 Annual Report); and (ii) Note 12, "Risk Management Activities," to EOG's Consolidated Financial Statements on pages F-
25 through F-26 of EOG's 2015 Annual Report. There have been no material changes in this information. For additional information regarding EOG's
financial commodity derivative contracts and physical commodity contracts, see (i) Note 12, "Risk Management Activities," to EOG's Consolidated Financial
Statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; (ii) "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Results of
Operations - Net Operating Revenues" in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q; and (iii) "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations - Capital Resources and Liquidity - Commodity Derivative Transactions" in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
EOG RESOURCES, INC.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. EOG's management, with the participation of EOG's principal executive officer and principal financial officer,
evaluated the effectiveness of EOG's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act)) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Evaluation Date). Based on
this evaluation, EOG's principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded that EOG's disclosure controls and procedures were effective
as of the Evaluation Date in ensuring that information that is required to be disclosed in the reports EOG files or furnishes under the Exchange Act is (i)
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the United States Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms
and (ii) accumulated and communicated to EOG's management, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in EOG's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarterly period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, EOG's internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

EOG RESOURCES, INC.

ITEM 1.    LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
 

See Part I, Item 1, Note 8 to Consolidated Financial Statements, which is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 2.    UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, EOG's share repurchase activity:

Period

 
Total

Number of
Shares

Purchased (1)

 

Average
Price Paid Per

Share

 Total Number of
Shares Purchased as

Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or

Programs

 
Maximum Number

of Shares that May Yet
Be Purchased Under The Plans

or Programs (2)

    

         

July 1, 2016 - July 31, 2016  16,659  $ 82.78  —  6,386,200
August 1, 2016 - August 31, 2016  43,995  89.55  —  6,386,200
September 1, 2016 - September 30, 2016  229,414  93.62  —  6,386,200
Total  290,068  92.38  —   

 (1) Represents shares that were withheld by or returned to EOG (i) in satisfaction of tax withholding obligations that arose upon the exercise of employee stock options or
stock-settled stock appreciation rights or the vesting of restricted stock, restricted stock unit, or performance unit grants or (ii) in payment of the exercise price of employee
stock options. These shares do not count against the 10 million aggregate share repurchase authorization by EOG's Board of Directors (Board) discussed below.

(2) In September 2001, the Board authorized the repurchase of up to 10 million shares of EOG's common stock. During the third quarter of 2016, EOG did not repurchase any
shares under the Board-authorized repurchase program.

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

The information concerning mine safety violations and other regulatory matters required by Section 1503(a) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K (17 CFR 229.104) is included in Exhibit 95 to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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ITEM 6.  EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.   Description
   
*  **      2.1 - Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 2, 2016, by and among EOG Resources, Inc., ERI Holdings I, Inc. and Yates

Petroleum Corporation.
   
*          10.1 - Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement for Amended and Restated EOG Resources, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Equity Compensation

Plan (applicable to grants made on or after September 27, 2016).
   
*          31.1 - Section 302 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Executive Officer.

   
*          31.2 - Section 302 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Financial Officer.
   
*          32.1 - Section 906 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Executive Officer.
   
*          32.2 - Section 906 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Financial Officer.
   
*          95 - Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit.

   
* ***101.INS - XBRL Instance Document.
   
* ***101.SCH - XBRL Schema Document.
   
* ***101.CAL - XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
* ***101.DEF - XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.
   
* ***101.LAB - XBRL Label Linkbase Document.
   
* ***101.PRE - XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.

*    Exhibits filed herewith
**    Annexes, exhibit and disclosure schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K.  A list of the annexes and exhibit is
included after the table of contents in the Agreement and Plan of Merger. The disclosure schedules set forth various matters in respect of the representations,
warranties, covenants and other provisions of the Agreement and Plan of Merger.  EOG Resources, Inc. agrees to furnish a supplemental copy of any such
omitted annexes, exhibit or disclosure schedules to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
***    Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income - Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (ii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets -
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 and (iv)
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

   EOG RESOURCES, INC.
   (Registrant)
    
    
    
Date: November 3, 2016 By: /s/ TIMOTHY K. DRIGGERS

Timothy K. Driggers
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Duly Authorized Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No.  Description
   
*  **      2.1 - Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 2, 2016, by and among EOG Resources, Inc., ERI Holdings I, Inc. and Yates

Petroleum Corporation.
   
*          10.1 - Form of Performance Unit Award Agreement for Amended and Restated EOG Resources, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Equity Compensation

Plan (applicable to grants made on or after September 27, 2016).
   
*          31.1 - Section 302 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Executive Officer.
   
*          31.2 - Section 302 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Financial Officer.
   
*          32.1 - Section 906 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Executive Officer.
   
*          32.2 - Section 906 Certification of Periodic Report of Principal Financial Officer.
   
*          95 - Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit.
   
*  ***101.INS - XBRL Instance Document.
   
*  ***101.SCH - XBRL Schema Document.
   
*  ***101.CAL - XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.
   
*  ***101.DEF - XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.
   
*  ***101.LAB - XBRL Label Linkbase Document.
   
*  ***101.PRE - XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.

*    Exhibits filed herewith
**    Annexes, exhibit and disclosure schedules have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K.  A list of the annexes and exhibit is
included after the table of contents in the Agreement and Plan of Merger. The disclosure schedules set forth various matters in respect of the representations,
warranties, covenants and other provisions of the Agreement and Plan of Merger.  EOG Resources, Inc. agrees to furnish a supplemental copy of any such
omitted annexes, exhibit or disclosure schedules to the United States Securities and Exchange Commission upon request.
***    Attached as Exhibit 101 to this report are the following documents formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reporting Language): (i) the Consolidated
Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income - Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, (ii) the Consolidated Balance Sheets -
September 30, 2016 and December 31, 2015, (iii) the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Nine Months Ended September 30, 2016 and 2015 and (iv)
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER

This AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER, dated as of September 2, 2016 (this “ Agreement”), is entered into by and
among EOG Resources, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Parent”), ERI Holdings I, Inc., a New Mexico corporation and wholly owned
subsidiary of Parent (“Merger Sub,” and together with Parent, each a “Buyer,” and collectively, the “Buyers”), and Yates Petroleum
Corporation, a New Mexico corporation (the “Company,” and together with the Buyers, each a “Party,” and collectively, the “Parties”).

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Merger Sub has been formed by Parent to merge with and into the Company, with the Company surviving the
Merger on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement;

WHEREAS, it is intended that, for federal income tax purposes, the Merger qualify as a “reorganization” within the meaning of
Section 368(a)(2)(E) of the Code;

WHEREAS, the Company Board has (a) determined that it is in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders, and
declared it advisable, to enter into this Agreement and (b) approved the execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this
Agreement and the consummation of the Merger Transactions;

WHEREAS, the Parent Board and the board of directors of Merger Sub have approved this Agreement and declared it
advisable for Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, to enter into this Agreement;

WHEREAS, prior to the execution and delivery of this Agreement, Shareholders holding one hundred percent (100%) of the
Common Shares outstanding (the “Requisite Shareholder Approval”) have executed and delivered to the Company a written consent
adopting this Agreement and authorizing and approving the Merger Transactions (a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as
Exhibit A), which consents will become effective upon the execution and delivery of this Agreement and thereupon constitute the
Requisite Shareholder Approval;

WHEREAS, simultaneously with the execution of this Agreement, certain of the Shareholders have entered into a Consent
Agreement with Parent, Merger Sub and the Company;

WHEREAS, at Closing, certain of the Shareholders shall execute and deliver Release Agreements, as agreed to by such
Shareholders pursuant to the Consent Agreements to which such Persons are party;

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to make certain representations, warranties, covenants and agreements in connection with the
Merger and also to prescribe various conditions to the Merger; and

WHEREAS, promptly following the Merger, Parent intends to register the resales of the shares of New Common Stock issued to
the Shareholders pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Registration Rights Agreement;

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the respective representations, warranties, covenants, agreements
and conditions contained herein, the Parties agree as follows:
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ARTICLE I
CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1    Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

“Abo” shall mean Abo Petroleum Corporation, a New Mexico corporation.

“Acquisition Proposal” shall mean any inquiry, proposal or offer from or by any Person other than the Buyers or their
respective Subsidiaries relating to: (a) any direct or indirect acquisition (whether in a single transaction or a series of related
transactions) of (i) assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries outside the ordinary course of business, or (ii) any of the outstanding
Common Shares; or (b) any merger, consolidation, business combination, recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or similar transaction
involving the Company, other than the Merger. For the purpose of clarity, the term Acquisition Proposal shall not apply with respect to
transfers of Common Shares permitted by an applicable Consent Agreement.

“Adjustments Certificate” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

“AFE” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.18.

“Affiliate” shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 405 of the Securities Act; provided that for purposes of this Agreement, the
Buyers and their respective Subsidiaries (excluding the Company and its Subsidiaries) shall not be Affiliates of the Company or its
Subsidiaries, unless otherwise expressly stated herein.

“Affiliate Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.20.

“Agave” shall mean Agave Energy Holdings Inc, a Delaware corporation.

“Agreement” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“Antitrust Laws” shall mean the Sherman Act, as amended, the Clayton Act, as amended, the HSR Act, the Federal Trade
Commission Act, as amended and all other applicable Laws issued by a Governmental Authority that are designed or intended to
prohibit, restrict or regulate actions having the purpose or effect of monopolization or restraint of trade or lessening of competition.

“Articles of Merger” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Audited Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.7.

“Average Parent Common Stock Price” shall mean $87.28.

“Bill of Sale” shall mean the Bill of Sale by and between the Company and Yates Holdings LLP, a New Mexico limited liability
partnership, to be dated as of the Closing Date and in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex J.

“Business Day” shall mean any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which banks are authorized or required to
be closed in Artesia, New Mexico or Houston, Texas.

“Buyer” or “Buyers” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.
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“Cash and Cash Equivalents” means an aggregate amount equal to (a) all amounts on deposit in the Company’s and its
Subsidiaries’ bank, lock box, time deposit and other accounts with any Company Bank, plus (b) the fair market value of all marketable
securities (including money market and similar instruments) owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, in each case, as
determined and calculated in accordance with GAAP, plus (c) if the Surviving Corporation is to receive (on or subsequent to the
Closing Date) any funds as a result of the termination of the Hedges pursuant to Section 7.15, an amount equal to the value of such
funds, less (d) if the Surviving Corporation will be required to pay (on or subsequent to the Closing Date) any amounts as a result of the
termination of the Hedges pursuant to Section 7.15, an amount equal to the value required to be paid.

“Certificate” shall mean a certificate issued by the Company that immediately before the Effective Time represented Common
Shares.

“Closing” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

“Closing Adjustments” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(e).

“Closing Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

“Closing Funded Indebtedness” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

“Closing Net Funded Indebtedness” means the amount equal to (a) Closing Funded Indebtedness less (b) Cash and Cash
Equivalents as of Closing (i.e., Cash and Cash Equivalents set forth in the Adjustments Certificate, as such amount is adjusted to equal
the Confirmed Closing Cash).

“Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Common Share” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(a).

“Common Stock” shall mean the Company’s common stock, par value $1.00 per share.

“Company” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“Company Articles of Incorporation” shall mean the Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company, as filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of New Mexico on March 16, 2012.

“Company Assets” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(c).

“Company Bank” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.16.

“Company Benefit Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Company Board” shall mean the board of directors of the Company.

“Company Bylaws” shall mean the Second Amended & Restated Bylaws of the Company, dated as of April 21, 2015.

“Company Leases” shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of Oil and Gas Properties.

“Company Material Adverse Effect” shall mean, with respect to the Company, any state of fact, change, development,
condition, occurrence or other effect that, individually or in the aggregate, is or could
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reasonably be expected to be material and adverse to the financial condition or results of operations of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or materially impairs or delays (a) the ability of the Company to perform their respective obligations
under this Agreement, or (b) the consummation of the Merger and the other Merger Transactions; but excluding any change, fact,
development, condition or effect arising out of: (i) any national, international or any foreign or domestic regional economic, financial,
social, military or political conditions (including changes therein) or events in general, including the results of any primary or general
elections, (ii) any congressional, regulatory or administrative hearings or testimony, (iii) changes in any financial, debt, credit, capital or
banking markets or conditions (including any disruption thereof), (iv) changes in the general economic conditions in the industries in
which the Company and its Subsidiaries operate (including any changes in Hydrocarbon commodity prices or other changes affecting
the United States oil and gas industry generally), (v) changes in legal or regulatory conditions, including changes or proposed changes
in Law, GAAP or other accounting principles or requirements, or standards, interpretations or enforcement thereof, (vi) changes in the
market price or trading volume of Common Shares, (vii) any failure of the Company, to meet any internal or external projections,
forecasts or estimates of revenue or earnings for any period, (viii) the occurrence, escalation, outbreak or worsening of any hostilities,
war, police action, acts of terrorism or military conflicts, whether or not pursuant to the declaration of an emergency or war, (ix) the
existence, occurrence or continuation of any force majeure events, including any earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, tropical storms, fires
or other natural disasters or any national, international or regional calamity or any man-made disaster, (x) the general public awareness
of the Parties’ intention or desire to enter into this Agreement or a similar agreement and the process leading to the execution or
announcement of this Agreement, (xi) the execution, announcement or performance of the terms of this Agreement, the taking or not
taking of any action to the extent required by this Agreement, or the pendency or the contemplated consummation of the Merger
Transactions, (xii) compliance by the Company and its Subsidiaries with the terms of this Agreement, including the failure to take any
action restricted by this Agreement, (xiii) any matters to the extent disclosed in the Schedules, or (xiv) any condition that is cured to the
reasonable satisfaction of Buyers; provided, however, that in the case of (i), (ii), (iii), (iv), or (v) above, such change, condition, fact,
development or effect does not have a disproportionate effect on any of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, compared
to other similar companies.

“Company Names and Marks” shall mean the names “Yates Petroleum Corporation,” “Yates,” “YPC” and all derivatives and
formulations thereof as used by the Company and its Subsidiaries in connection with the conduct of their businesses and any trade
name, trademark, service mark, website, URL, logo or internet domain comprising the foregoing.

“Company Permits” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.16.

“Company Schedules” shall mean the Schedules setting forth certain disclosures of the Company, or qualifications or
exceptions to the Company’s representations or warranties set forth in Article V, which Schedules are delivered simultaneously with the
execution and delivery of this Agreement and may be supplemented in accordance with Section 7.11 hereof.

“Company Tax Opinion” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.3(f).

“Company Units” shall have the meaning set forth in the definition of Oil and Gas Properties.

“Confirmed Closing Cash” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(f).

“Consent Agreements” shall mean the Consent Agreements by and among Parent, Merger Sub, the Company and each
Shareholder, each to be dated as of the date hereof and in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex B.
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“Constituent Corporations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Continuing Employee” or “Continuing Employees” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.10(a).

“Contract” shall mean any written contract, agreement, subcontract, lease commitment, understanding, deed of trust, joint
venture, franchise, license or purchase order; provided, however, that the term Contract shall not include any Leases, easements, rights
of way, Owned Real Property or Leased Real Property, or any other instruments constituting an ownership interest in real property or in
oil, gas or other minerals.

“Cure Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(b)(iii).

“Effective Time” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.4.

“Enforceability Exceptions” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.3.

“Environmental Laws” shall mean any and all applicable Laws relating to pollution, protection, preservation, remediation or
restoration of the environment (including soils, subsurface soils, surface waters, groundwaters, endangered species, or atmosphere) or
natural resources or preservation or protection of occupational health or workplace safety, including applicable Laws relating to
Releases or threatened Releases of Hazardous Materials, or otherwise relating to the generation, manufacture, processing, distribution,
use, treatment, storage, transport or handling of, or exposure of any Person or property to, Hazardous Materials, including the Clean Air
Act, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization
Act, the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, the Toxic Substances Control Act, the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, the Safe
Drinking Water Act, the Federal Hazardous Materials Transportation Law, the Occupational Safety and Health Act, Endangered Species
Act, the National Environmental Policy Act and the Oil Pollution Act, as each has been amended from time to time and all other
environmental conservation and protection laws, including similar state laws and common laws.

“Environmental Permits” shall mean any Permit, license, registration, certification, authorization, exemption, variance, consent,
Order or approval required under any Environmental Law. 

“ERISA” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“ERISA Affiliate” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(a).

“Exchange Act” shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Exchange Agent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(a).

“Exchange Fund” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(a).

“Exchange Ratio” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(a).

“Expenses” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.3(h).

“Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.7.

“Former Shareholders” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.16.
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“Funded Indebtedness” shall mean the aggregate principal amount of, and accrued and unpaid interest on, (a) the Indebtedness
evidenced by instruments and agreements set forth in Section 1.1(a) of the Schedules and (b) any other Indebtedness, in each case, for
borrowed money of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (other than intercompany Indebtedness owed by the Company or any of its
wholly owned Subsidiaries, on the one hand, to the Company or any of its wholly owned Subsidiaries, on the other hand), in each case,
outstanding as of the close of business on the day immediately prior to the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, Funded
Indebtedness shall not include any guarantees, undrawn letters of credit or other similar contingent obligations.

“GAAP” shall mean United States generally accepted accounting principles in effect from time to time.

“Governmental Authority” shall mean any national, state, local, county, parish or municipal government, domestic or foreign,
any agency, board, bureau, commission, court, tribunal, subdivision, department or other governmental or regulatory authority or
instrumentality, or any arbitrator, in each case, that has jurisdiction over Parent or the Company, as the case may be, or any of their
respective Subsidiaries or any of their or their respective Subsidiaries’ properties or assets.

“Hazardous Material” shall mean any: (a) chemical, product, material, substance or waste defined as or included in the
definition of “hazardous substance”, “hazardous material”, “hazardous waste”, “restricted hazardous waste”, “extremely hazardous
waste”, “solid waste”, “toxic waste”, “extremely hazardous substance”, “toxic substance”, “toxic pollutant”, “contaminant”,
“pollutant”, or words of similar meaning or import found in any Environmental Law; (b) petroleum hydrocarbons, petroleum products,
petroleum substances, natural gas, crude oil, condensate, or any components, fractions or derivatives thereof; (c) produced water or
brine; (d) radioactive materials or naturally occurring radioactive materials (“NORM”), and (e) asbestos containing materials,
polychlorinated biphenyls, radioactive materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation or radon gas.

“Hedge” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.15.

“HSR Act” shall mean the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended, and the rules and regulations
promulgated thereunder.

“Hydrocarbons” shall mean oil, gas, other liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons, or any of them or any combination thereof, and all
products and substances extracted, separated, processed and produced therefrom.

“Imbalance” shall mean any over-production, under-production, over-delivery, under-delivery or similar imbalance of
Hydrocarbons produced from or allocated to the Oil and Gas Properties, regardless of whether such imbalance arises at the platform,
wellhead, pipeline, gathering system, transportation system, processing plant or other location.

“Indebtedness” shall mean, with respect to any Person, without duplication, (a) the principal, accrued and unpaid interest,
prepayment and redemption premiums or penalties (if any), unpaid fees or expenses and other monetary obligations in respect of
(i) indebtedness of such Person for borrowed money and (ii) indebtedness evidenced by notes, debentures, bonds or other similar
instruments for the payment of which such Person is liable, (b) all obligations of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred
purchase price of property, all conditional sale obligations of such Person and all obligations of such Person under any title retention
agreement (but excluding any accounts payable or any indebtedness or other monetary obligations to trade creditors of such Person and
all other accrued current liabilities of such Person), (c) all obligations under leases which must be, in accordance with GAAP as in effect
on the date of this Agreement,
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recorded as capital leases in respect of which such Person is liable as lessee (it being understood, for the avoidance of doubt, that
obligations under operating leases shall not constitute Indebtedness), (d) all non-contingent obligations of such Person to reimburse any
bank in respect of amounts paid under banker’s acceptances or letters of credit, (e) the liquidation value, accrued and unpaid dividends
and prepayment or redemption premiums or penalties (if any), unpaid fees or expenses and other monetary obligations in respect of any
and all redeemable preferred stock of such Person, (f) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (e) of any other
Person the payment of which such Person is liable as obligor, guarantor, surety or otherwise (but only to the extent such Person is found
to be liable), and (g) all obligations of the type referred to in clauses (a) through (e) of other Persons secured by any Lien on any
property or asset of such Person, whether or not such obligation is assumed by such Person (but only to the extent of the value of the
property or asset that is subject to the Lien).

“Intellectual Property” shall mean all intellectual property, whether protected, created or arising under the laws of the United
States or any other jurisdiction, including: (a) all patents (including utility patents, industrial designs and design patents) and
applications therefor, including all continuations, divisions, provisionals and continuations-in-part thereof and patents issuing thereon,
along with all reissues, revisions, renewals, reexaminations and extensions thereof; (b) all trademarks, service marks, common law
trademarks and service marks, trade names, service names, brand names, trade dress rights, logos, corporate names, trade styles, logos
and other source or business identifiers and general intangibles of a like nature, together with the goodwill associated with any of the
foregoing, along with all applications, registrations, renewals and extensions thereof; (c) all Internet domain names and registrations
thereof; (d) all copyrights, copyrightable works and “moral” rights, and all mask work, database and design rights, whether or not
registered or published, all registrations and recordations thereof and all applications in connection therewith, along with all reversions,
extensions and renewals thereof; (e) trade secret rights and corresponding rights in confidential and proprietary information and other
non-public information (whether or not patentable), including inventions, invention disclosures, improvements, know-how,
manufacturing and production processes and techniques, testing information, research and development information, unpatented
blueprints, drawings, specifications, plans, proposals and technical data, business and marketing plans, market surveys, market know-
how and customer lists and information; and (f) all Contracts granting any right relating to or under the foregoing.

“Interim Financial Statements” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.7.

“Interim Period” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.13(a).

“IP Assignment Agreement” shall mean the IP Assignment Agreement by and among the Company and Shareholder Holdco to
be dated as of the Closing Date and in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex F.

“IRS” shall mean the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“ISDA” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.15.

“knowledge” shall mean, (a) when used with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, the actual knowledge of each of
the individuals identified on Section 1.1(b)(i) of the Schedules, and (b) when used with respect to Parent, the actual knowledge of each
of the individuals identified on Section 1.1(b)(ii) of the Schedules.
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“Law” shall mean any law, rule, regulation, directive, ordinance, code, governmental determination, Order, treaty, convention,
governmental certification requirement or other legally enforceable requirement, United States or non-United States, of any
Governmental Authority.

“Lease Schedule” shall mean Section 1.1(c) of the Schedules.

“Leased Real Property” shall mean all real property leased, subleased, licensed, or otherwise used or occupied pursuant to
similar agreements or arrangements, in each case, by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that Leased Real
Property shall not include any of the Oil and Gas Properties.

“Leases” shall mean oil, gas or mineral leases, leasehold estates, operating rights and other rights authorizing the owner thereof
to explore or drill for and produce Hydrocarbons and other minerals, contractual rights to acquire any such of the foregoing interest,
which have been earned by performance, and fee mineral, royalty and overriding royalty interest, net profits interest, production
payments and other interests payable out of Hydrocarbon production, in each case, in which the Company has an interest.

“Letter of Transmittal” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.3(b).

“Lien” shall mean any mortgage, lien, charge, restriction (including restrictions on transfer), pledge, security interest, option,
right of first offer or refusal, preemptive right, lease or sublease, claim, right of any third party, covenant, right of way, easement,
encroachment or encumbrance.

“Material Contract” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.11(a).

“Material Insurance Policies” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.23.

“Merger” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“Merger Consideration” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(a).

“Merger Sub” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“Merger Transactions” shall mean the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including the Merger.

“Mineral and Royalty Deed” shall mean the Mineral and Royalty Deed by and among the Company and the Shareholder
Holdco to be dated as of the date hereof and in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex L.

“Multiemployer Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.12(f).

“Myco” shall mean MYCO Industries, Inc., a New Mexico corporation.

“Net Obligations” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.5.

“New Benefit Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.10(b).

“New Common Stock” shall mean the shares of duly authorized and validly issued Parent Common Stock to be issued and
delivered (or, to the extent held in treasury by Parent, disposed of and delivered but not issued) in accordance with applicable Laws and
the Parent Articles of Incorporation pursuant to the terms of Section 3.1(a).
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“NMBCA” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(a).

“NORM” has the meaning set forth in the definition of Hazardous Materials.

“NYSE” shall mean the New York Stock Exchange.

“Office Lease Extension” shall mean the Office Lease Extension by and among Yates Holdings LLP, a New Mexico
corporation, and the Company to be dated as of the Closing Date and in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex E.

“Oil and Gas Properties” shall mean all of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ right, title and interest in and to the following:
(a) all Leases to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party (collectively, the “Company Leases”), together with any
overriding royalties, production payments and net profits interests in such Leases; (b) all rights, titles and interests of the Company and
its Subsidiaries in and to, or otherwise derived from, all presently existing and valid oil, gas or mineral unitization, pooling or
communitization agreements, declarations and/or Orders and in and to the properties covered and the units created thereby (including
all units formed under Orders, rules, regulations or other official acts of any federal, state or other authority having jurisdiction,
voluntary unitization agreements, designations and/or declarations) relating to the Company Leases or lands covered by such Company
Leases (collectively, the “Company Units”); (c) all oil, condensate, natural gas, injection, salt water disposal or water wells, whether
producing, non-producing, shut-in or abandoned, located on or allocable to the Company Leases or Company Units; and (d) all
Hydrocarbons produced and saved from the properties described in subsections (a)-(c) of this definition from and after the Effective
Time.

“Order” shall mean any order, decree, ruling, judgment, injunction, writ, determination, binding decision, verdict, judicial
award or other action of any Governmental Authority.

“ordinary course of business” shall mean the ordinary and usual course of normal day-to-day operations of the Company and
its Subsidiaries consistent with past practices.

“ORRI Assignment” shall mean the Assignment of Overriding Royalty Interest by and between the Company and Shareholder
Holdco to be dated as of the Closing Date and in substantially the form attached hereto as Annex K.

“Other Party” or “Other Parties” shall mean, with respect to the Company, the Buyers, and with respect to the Buyers, the
Company.

“Owned Real Property” shall mean all right, title and interest of the Company and its Subsidiaries in the real property set forth
in Section 1.1(d) of the Schedules, together with all buildings, structures, fixtures and improvements erected thereon, and all rights,
privileges, easements, licenses and other appurtenances relating thereto; provided, however, that Owned Real Property shall not include
any of the Oil and Gas Properties.

“Parent” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“Parent Assets” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.1(c).

“Parent Board” shall mean the board of directors of Parent.

“Parent Bylaws” shall mean the bylaws of Parent, dated as of August 23, 1989, as amended to the date of this Agreement.

9

Source: EOG RESOURCES INC, 10-Q, November 03, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



“Parent Certificate of Incorporation” shall mean the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Parent as filed with the Secretary
of State of the State of Delaware on September 11, 1987, as amended to the date of this Agreement.

“Parent Common Stock” shall mean the common stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Parent.

“Parent Deferral Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(c).

“Parent Equity Comp Plan” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(b).

“Parent Material Adverse Effect” shall mean, with respect to Parent, any state of fact, change, development, condition,
occurrence or other effect that, individually or in the aggregate, is or could reasonably be expected to be material and adverse to the
financial condition or results of operations of Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or materially impairs or delays (a) the ability
of Buyers to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement or (b) the consummation of the Merger and the other Merger
Transactions; but excluding any change, fact, development, condition or effect arising out of: (i) any national, international or any
foreign or domestic regional economic, financial, social, military or political conditions (including changes therein) or events in general,
including the results of any primary or general elections, (ii) any congressional, regulatory or administrative hearings or testimony, (iii)
changes in any financial, debt, credit, capital or banking markets or conditions (including any disruption thereof), (iv) changes in the
general economic conditions in the industries in which Parent and its Subsidiaries operate (including any changes in Hydrocarbon
commodity prices or other changes affecting the United States oil and gas industry generally), (v) changes in legal or regulatory
conditions, including changes or proposed changes in Law, GAAP or other accounting principles or requirements, or standards,
interpretations or enforcement thereof, (vi) changes in the market price or trading volume of Parent Common Stock, (vii) any failure of
Parent to meet any internal or external projections, forecasts or estimates of revenue or earnings for any period, (viii) the occurrence,
escalation, outbreak or worsening of any hostilities, war, police action, acts of terrorism or military conflicts, whether or not pursuant to
the declaration of an emergency or war, (ix) the existence, occurrence or continuation of any force majeure events, including any
earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, tropical storms, fires or other natural disasters or any national, international or regional calamity or any
man-made disaster, (x) the general public awareness of the Parties’ intention or desire to enter into this Agreement or a similar
agreement and the process leading to the execution or announcement of this Agreement, (xi) the execution, announcement or
performance of the terms of this Agreement, the taking or not taking of any action to the extent required by this Agreement, or the
pendency or the contemplated consummation of the Merger Transactions, (xii) compliance by Parent and its Subsidiaries with the terms
of this Agreement, including the failure to take any action restricted by this Agreement, (xiii) any matters to the extent disclosed in the
Schedules, or (xiv) any condition that is cured to the reasonable satisfaction of the Company; provided, however, that in the case of (i),
(ii), (iii), (iv), or (v) above such change, condition, fact, development or effect does not have a disproportionate effect on any of Parent
or its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, compared to other similar companies.

“Parent Preferred Stock” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.5(a).

“Parent SEC Documents” shall have the meaning set forth in Article VI.

“Parent Section 355(e) Tax Opinion” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 8.2(f).

“Party” or “Parties” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph to this Agreement.

“Pending/In-Transit Cash Items” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.6(f).
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“Permit” shall mean franchises, tariffs, grants, authorizations, licenses, permits, easements, registrations, variances, exceptions,
consents, certificates, approvals and Orders and other authorizations of any Governmental Authority.

“Permitted Encumbrances” shall mean (a) normal and customary Liens of co-owners and operators under operating
agreements, unitization agreements, and pooling orders relating to the Oil and Gas Properties, which obligations are not yet due and
pursuant to which the Company is not in default; (b) all approvals required to be obtained from Governmental Authorities that are
lessors under Leases forming a part of the Oil and Gas Properties (or who administer such Leases on behalf of such lessors) which are
customarily obtained post-closing; (c) preferential rights to purchase and consent to transfer requirements of any Person (to the extent
same have been complied with in connection with the prior sale, assignment or the transfer of the relevant Oil and Gas Property and are
not triggered by the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement); (d) Liens to be fully released at Closing;
(e) conventional rights of reassignment normally actuated by an intent to abandon or release a Lease and requiring notice to the holders
of such rights; (f) easements, rights-of-way, servitudes, permits, surface leases and other rights in respect of surface operations that do
not materially interfere with oil and gas operations to be conducted on any Oil and Gas Properties; (g) the terms and provisions of the
Leases, easements (and other surface rights), units and Contracts constituting part of the Oil and Gas Properties to the extent they do
not, individually or collectively, operate to reduce the Company’s net revenue interest in any Oil and Gas Property below the net
revenue interest set forth in the Lease Schedule as of the date of such Lease Schedule; (h) any defects, burdens or irregularities which
are based solely on a lack of information in the Company’s or the Company’s Affiliates’ files; (i) any remaining lease rental or deferred
lease bonuses that may be owed or become owing in order to maintain the Oil and Gas Properties; (j) defects based on the inability to
locate an unrecorded instrument of which Parent has constructive or inquiry notice by virtue of a reference to such unrecorded
instrument in a recorded instrument (or a reference to a further unrecorded instrument in such unrecorded instrument), if no claim has
been made under such unrecorded instruments within the last ten years; (k) defects or irregularities arising out of lack of corporate
authorization or a variation in corporate name, unless there is affirmative evidence that such corporate action was not authorized and
results in another Person’s superior claim of title to the relevant Oil and Gas Property; (l) defects or irregularities that have been cured or
remedied by applicable statutes of limitation or statutes for prescription; (m) defects or irregularities in the chain of title consisting of the
failure to recite marital status in documents or omissions of heirship proceedings; (n) defects or irregularities existing solely on the basis
of the lack of probate proceedings which defects or irregularities have been outstanding for ten years or more; (o) the application of
maintenance of uniform interest provisions contained within joint operating agreements or similar agreements; (p) defects or
irregularities arising out of prior oil and gas leases which expired more than ten years prior to the Closing, and which have not been
released of record; (q) outstanding deed of trust and mortgage liens burdening the interest of any lessor under any of the oil and gas
leases included in the Properties, unless there is evidence that the mortgagee or lien holder has asserted a default under any such deed
of trust or mortgage and has exercised, or intends to exercise, foreclosure proceedings; (r) defects or irregularities arising out of
mortgages, deeds of trust and other liens which, by their terms, matured more than ten years prior to the Closing, but which have not
been released of record; (s) defects or irregularities arising out of the lack of a survey; (t) failure to obtain ratification of pooling by non-
participating royalty and non-executive mineral interest owners; (u) lessor’s royalties, non-participating royalties, overriding royalties,
reversionary interests and similar burdens upon, measured by or payable out of production, to the extent they do not, individually or
collectively, operate to reduce the Company’s net revenue interest in any Oil and Gas Property below the net revenue interest set forth
in the Lease Schedule as of the date of such Lease Schedule; (v) any Liens, defects, burdens or irregularities that have been identified in
documentation or materials provided or made available to Buyer by the Company, are of record, or which have been discovered or
identified by Buyer,
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prior to the date of this Agreement; (w) the ORRI Assignment; and (x) those items set forth in Section 1.1(e) of the Schedules.

“Permitted Liens” shall mean (a) all statutory or other Liens for Taxes which are not yet due and payable or delinquent (or
which may be paid without interest or penalties) or the validity or amount of which are being contested in good faith by appropriate
proceedings; (b) all cashiers’, landlords’, workmens’, repairmens’, mechanics’, materialmens’, warehousemens’ and carriers’ Liens and
other similar Liens imposed by Law, in each case, incurred in the ordinary course of business for amounts not yet due and payable or
the validity or amount of which is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings; (c) all pledges, deposits or other Liens
securing the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases or statutory obligations (including workers’ compensation, unemployment
insurance or other social security legislation); (d) all purchase money Liens; (e) all zoning, entitlement, conservation restriction and
other land use and environmental regulations by Governmental Authorities which do not materially interfere with the present use of any
of the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (f) all covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, charges,
rights-of-way, defects or imperfections of title and other encumbrances that do not materially impair the current use or value of any of
the properties or assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; (g) all matters shown in any title reports or title policies with respect
to Leased Real Property or Owned Real Property made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement and all facts shown on
any surveys made available to Parent prior to the date of this Agreement; (h) matters which would be disclosed by an accurate survey or
inspection of real property which do not materially impair the occupancy or current use of the real property they encumber;
(i) encumbrances that secure any Funded Indebtedness or do not constitute a violation of any applicable Law; (j) encumbrances in favor
of a bank or other financial institution encumbering deposits or other funds maintained with a bank or other financial institution;
(k) Liens that will be terminated at or prior to the Closing; and (l) encumbrances arising out of, under or in connection with applicable
securities Laws or custodial arrangements with custodians of securities.

“Person” or “person” shall mean any individual, corporation, limited liability company, limited or general partnership, joint
venture, association, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Authority or any group comprised of two
or more of the foregoing.

“Proceeding” shall mean any action, suit, claim, arbitration, audit, assessment, inquiry, hearing, investigation, proceeding or
litigation (whether civil, criminal, administrative, judicial or investigative, whether formal or informal, whether public or private)
commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, or otherwise involving, any Governmental Authority or arbitrator.

“Registered Intellectual Property” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.21(a).

“Registration Rights Agreement” shall mean the Registration Rights Agreement to be dated as of the Closing Date and in
substantially the form attached hereto as Annex A.

“Related Party” or “Related Parties” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 10.13.

“Release” shall mean any depositing, spilling, leaking, pumping, pouring, placing, emitting, discarding, abandoning, emptying,
discharging, migrating, injecting, escaping, leaching, dispersion, migration, dumping or disposing into the indoor or outdoor
environment.

“Release Agreement” shall mean the Release Agreements delivered by certain of the Shareholders to Parent in substantially the
form attached hereto as Annex I.
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“Representatives” shall mean, with respect to a Person, its directors, officers, employees, agents and representatives, including
any investment banker, financial advisor, attorney, accountant or other advisor, agent or representative.

“Requisite Shareholder Approval” shall have the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

“Rights” shall mean, with respect to any Person, (a) options, warrants, preemptive rights, subscriptions, calls or other rights,
convertible securities, exchangeable securities, agreements or commitments of any character obligating such Person (or the general
partner of such Person) to issue, transfer or sell any partnership or other equity interest of such Person or any of its Subsidiaries or any
securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for such partnership interests or equity interests or (b) contractual obligations
of such Person (or the general partner of such Person) to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any partnership interest or other
equity interest in such Person or any of its Subsidiaries or any such securities or agreements listed in clause (a) of this definition.

“Sarbanes-Oxley Act” shall mean the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder.

“Schedule Supplement” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.11.

“SEC” shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Securities Act” shall mean the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Separation and Distribution Agreement” shall mean that certain Separation and Distribution Agreement, dated as of December
31, 2014, by and between the Company and Agave.

“Shareholder Holdco” shall mean Dos Mas LLP, a New Mexico limited liability partnership.

“Shareholders” shall mean the holders of Common Shares.

“Solvent” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.35.

“Spin-Off” shall mean the tax-free spin-off pursuant to Sections 355 and 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code conducted by the Company
effective as of December 31, 2014 in which the Company distributed on a pro rata basis to its shareholders all of the outstanding and
issued shares of common stock of Agave.

“Subsidiary” shall have the meaning ascribed to such term in Rule 1-02 of Regulation S-X under the Securities Act; provided,
however, that, for purposes of this Agreement, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall not be deemed to be Subsidiaries of Parent or
Merger Sub (unless otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement).

“Surviving Corporation” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.1(b).

“Surviving Provisions” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.2.

“Tail Insurance Policy” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 7.8(b).

“Takeover Law” shall mean any “fair price,” “moratorium,” “control share acquisition,” “business combination” or any other
anti-takeover statute or similar statute enacted under state or federal Law.
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“Target Net Funded Indebtedness” means $125,743,096.

“Tax Law” shall mean any Law relating to Taxes.

“Tax Return” shall mean any return, declaration, report, estimate, information return or statement (including any attached
schedules, supplements and additional or supporting material) filed or required to be filed with respect to Taxes, including any
information return, claim for refund, amended return or declaration of estimated Taxes (and including any amendments with respect
thereto).

“Taxes” shall mean (a) any and all federal, state, local or foreign or provincial taxes, charges, imposts, levies or other
assessments, including all net income, gross receipts, capital, sales, use, ad valorem, value added, transfer, franchise, profits, inventory,
capital stock, license, withholding, payroll, employment, social security, unemployment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, property
and estimated taxes, customs duties, fees, escheat or unclaimed property obligations, assessments and similar charges, including any
and all interest, penalties, fines, additions to tax or additional amounts imposed by any Governmental Authority with respect thereto,
and (b) any liability for the payment of amounts described in clause (a) of any other Person (other than an Other Party or any of its
Subsidiaries) under Treasury Regulation Section 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of applicable state, local, or foreign Law), as a
transferee or successor, by Contract, or otherwise.

“Terminable Breach” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(b)(iii).

“Termination Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 9.1(b)(ii).

“Transaction Confidentiality Agreement” shall mean that certain confidentiality agreement between Parent, the Company, Abo
and Myco, dated as of February 8, 2016.

“Transaction Documents” shall mean each of the Registration Rights Agreement, the Office Lease Extension, the IP
Assignment Agreement, the Bill of Sale, the ORRI Assignment, the Mineral and Royalty Deed, the Consent Agreements, the Release
Agreements, the Articles of Merger, and such other agreements contemplated by this Agreement, as amended, modified or
supplemented from time to time.

“Transaction Expenses” shall mean (a) out-of-pocket expenses (including all fees and expenses of counsel, accountants,
investment bankers, experts and consultants to the Company or any other Person) incurred by the Company or its Subsidiaries (or on its
or their behalf) in connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this
Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the Merger Transactions, and (b) amounts payable (whether such amounts are paid at
Closing or payable after Closing) pursuant to any plan, program, Contract or arrangement to which the Company or any Subsidiary is
party or otherwise bound (which amounts payable are contingent upon the occurrence of Closing) in excess of $14,000,000 (for the
avoidance of doubt, Parent shall be responsible for all amounts payable (whether such amounts are paid at Closing or payable after
Closing) pursuant to any plan, program, Contract or arrangement to which the Company or any Subsidiary is party or otherwise bound
(which amounts payable are contingent upon the occurrence of Closing) up to $14,000,000), in each case, to the extent not fully paid
as of immediately prior to Closing.

“Transfer Taxes” shall mean all transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other similar Taxes and fees incurred
in connection with the Merger and shall specifically exclude income taxes and franchise taxes that may be imposed.

“Union” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 5.13(a).
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Section 1.2    Interpretation. A reference to an Article, Section or Annex means an Article of, a Section in, or Annex to, this
Agreement unless otherwise expressly stated. Unless the context requires otherwise, the words “this Agreement,” “hereof,”
“hereunder,” “herein,” “hereby” or words of similar import refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to a particular Article, Section,
subsection, clause or other subdivision hereof. The words “include,” “includes” and “including” when used herein shall be deemed, in
each case, to be followed by the words “without limitation.” When used in this Agreement, the word “either” shall be deemed to mean
“one or the other,” not “both.” Whenever the context requires, the words used herein include the masculine, feminine and neuter
gender, and the singular and the plural. All terms defined in this Agreement shall have the defined meanings when used in any
certificate or other document made or delivered pursuant hereto unless otherwise defined therein. A reference to any legislation or to
any provision of any legislation shall include any amendment thereof, any modification or re-enactment thereof, any legislative
provision substituted therefor and all regulations and statutory instruments issued thereunder or pursuant thereto. References to “this
Agreement” or any other agreement or document shall be construed as a reference to such agreement or document, including any
annexes, exhibits, appendices and schedules thereto, as amended, amended and restated, modified or supplemented and in effect from
time to time and shall include a reference to any document which amends, modifies or supplements it. The words “will” and “will not”
are expressions of command and not merely expressions of future intent or expectation. All references in this Agreement to “dollars” or
“$” mean United States dollars. Any accounting term used and not otherwise defined in this Agreement or any Transaction Document
has the meaning assigned to such term in accordance with GAAP. References to a Person or person shall be construed as a reference to
such Person or person and its successors and permitted assigns. The table of contents and headings contained in this Agreement are for
reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement. It is the intention of the Parties
that every covenant, term and provision of this Agreement shall be construed simply according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or
against any Party (notwithstanding any rule of Law requiring an agreement to be strictly construed against the drafting party), it being
understood that the Parties are sophisticated and have had adequate opportunity and means to retain counsel to represent their interests
and to otherwise negotiate the provisions of this Agreement. Further, prior drafts of this Agreement or the fact that any clauses have
been added, deleted or otherwise modified from any prior drafts of this Agreement shall not be used as an aid of construction or
otherwise constitute evidence of the intent of the Parties; and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any
Party by virtue of such prior drafts.

ARTICLE II
THE MERGER; EFFECTS OF THE MERGER

Section 2.1    The Merger.

(a)    Upon the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company (Merger
Sub and the Company sometimes being referred to herein as the “Constituent Corporations”) shall cause Merger Sub to be merged with
and into the Company, with the Company being the surviving corporation (the “Merger”). The Merger shall be consummated in
accordance with the terms and subject to the conditions in this Agreement, and in accordance with the New Mexico Business
Corporation Act (the “NMBCA”), and shall be evidenced by Articles of Merger between Merger Sub and the Company in substantially
the form of Annex C (the “Articles of Merger”), such Merger to be consummated as of the Effective Time.

(b)    Upon consummation of the Merger, the separate existence of Merger Sub shall cease and the Company, as the surviving
corporation of the Merger (hereinafter referred to for the periods at and after the Effective Time as the “Surviving Corporation”), shall
continue its corporate existence under the NMBCA

15

Source: EOG RESOURCES INC, 10-Q, November 03, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



as a wholly owned direct subsidiary of Parent. The Merger shall have the effects set forth in this Agreement and in the applicable
provisions of the NMBCA.

Section 2.2    Effects of the Merger. At and after the Effective Time: (a) the Surviving Corporation shall thereupon and
thereafter possess all of the rights, privileges, powers and franchises, of a public as well as a private nature, of the Constituent
Corporations, and shall become subject to all the restrictions, disabilities and duties of each of the Constituent Corporations; (b) all
rights, privileges, powers and franchises of each Constituent Corporation, and all property, real, personal and mixed, and all debts due
to each such Constituent Corporation, on whatever account, and all choses in action belonging to each such corporation, shall become
vested in the Surviving Corporation; (c) all property, rights, privileges, powers and franchises, and all and every other interest shall
become thereafter the property of the Surviving Corporation as they are of the Constituent Corporations; and (d) the title to any real
property vested by deed or otherwise or any other interest in real estate vested by any instrument or otherwise in either of such
Constituent Corporations shall not revert or become in any way impaired by reason of the Merger; but all Liens upon any property of
either Constituent Corporation shall thereafter attach to the Surviving Corporation and shall be enforceable against it to the same extent
as if said debts, liabilities and duties had been incurred or contracted by it; all of the foregoing in accordance with the applicable
provisions of the NMBCA.

Section 2.3    Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws; Directors and Officers.

( a )    Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws. At the Effective Time, the articles of incorporation and bylaws of the Surviving
Corporation shall be the articles of incorporation and bylaws, respectively, of Merger Sub as in effect immediately prior to the Effective
Time, until thereafter amended as provided therein and under the NMBCA.

(b)    Directors and Officers. The directors and officers of Merger Sub immediately prior to the Effective Time shall be the initial
directors and officers, respectively, of the Surviving Corporation, each to hold office in accordance with the articles of incorporation
and bylaws of the Surviving Corporation.

Section 2.4    Closing; Effective Time . Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the closing of the Merger (the
“Closing”) shall take place at the offices of Thompson & Knight LLP, 1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500, Dallas, Texas 75201,
commencing at 9:00 a.m. local time on the later to occur of (a) October 3, 2016 and (b) the date that is three Business Days after the
date on which all conditions set forth in Article VIII shall have been satisfied or waived (other than those conditions that by their terms
are to be satisfied at the Closing) or such other time and place as Parent and the Company may mutually agree. The date on which the
Closing actually occurs is referred to in this Agreement as the “Closing Date. ” Subject to the satisfaction or waiver of all of the
conditions set forth in Article VIII of this Agreement, and provided this Agreement has not theretofore been terminated pursuant to its
terms, Parent, Merger Sub and the Company shall duly file or shall cause the Articles of Merger to be executed, acknowledged and
filed, with the Secretary of State of the State of New Mexico as provided in Article 14 of the NMBCA on the Closing Date. The Merger
shall become effective at the time when the Articles of Merger is duly filed with the Secretary of State of the State of New Mexico, or at
such other time as may be agreed by Parent and the Company in writing and specified in the Articles of Merger (the time the Merger
becomes effective being referred to as the “Effective Time”).

Section 2.5    Payoff of Indebtedness; Transaction Expenses; Adjustments Certificate . At the Closing, Parent shall (a) repay, or
cause to be repaid, on behalf of the Company and its Subsidiaries, all obligations in respect of all Funded Indebtedness (such aggregate
amount, the “Closing Funded Indebtedness”) and (b) pay all Transaction Expenses due to the Persons set forth on Annex G, in each
case,
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by wire transfer of immediately available funds as directed by the holders of such Indebtedness or such Persons, as applicable. At least
two Business Days prior to Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent payoff letters in form and substance satisfactory to Parent from
each recipient of payment pursuant to this Section 2.5, which letters shall (to the extent applicable) provide for delivery of UCC-3
termination statements or similar documents evidencing the termination of all Liens on the assets of the Company and its Subsidiaries
held by the lenders of such Indebtedness. In addition, at least two Business Days prior to Closing, the Company shall deliver to Parent a
certificate (the “Adjustments Certificate”) duly executed by the chief executive officer of the Company, in form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to Parent, that certifies in good faith (i) the amount by which Closing Net Funded Indebtedness exceeds Target
Net Funded Indebtedness (or, if applicable, the amount by which Target Net Funded Indebtedness exceeds Closing Net Funded
Indebtedness) (the “Net Obligations”), and (ii) that the Persons set forth on Annex G are the only Persons entitled to payment of
Transaction Expenses in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein. Concurrently with the delivery of
the Adjustments Certificate, the Company shall deliver to Parent written confirmations or other statements from each Company Bank of
the balances of Cash and Cash Equivalents of the Company and its Subsidiaries on deposit at each such Company Bank (including,
without limitation, in any demand deposit, time deposit, checking, disbursement, savings, investment, brokerage, or other account) as
of the close of business on the Business Day immediately prior to the date of the Adjustments Certificate. The Adjustments Certificate
shall include a reasonably detailed schedule of the amounts and nature of the components of the Net Obligations (which schedule shall
be deemed a part of the Adjustments Certificate for purposes of this Agreement).

Section 2.6    Additional Closing Deliverables.

(a)    At the Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent and Merger Sub a counterpart to each
Transaction Document (other than the Consent Agreements) to which the Company or any Shareholder or other Person contemplated to
be a party to such Transaction Document (other than Parent or Merger Sub) is a party, duly executed by a duly authorized
representative of such Person.

(b)    At the Closing, Parent and/or Merger Sub, as applicable, shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company a
counterpart to each Transaction Document (other than the Consent Agreements) to which Parent or Merger Sub is a party, duly
executed and delivered by a duly authorized representative of such Person.

(c)    At the Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent a certificate signed by an officer of the
Company, dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the conditions specified in Section 8.2(a), Section 8.2(b), Section 8.2(c),
Section 8.2(d) and Section 8.2(e) have been fulfilled.

(d)    At the Closing, Parent shall deliver or cause to be delivered to the Company a certificate signed by an officer of Parent,
dated as of the Closing Date, certifying that the conditions specified in Section 8.3(a), Section 8.3(b), Section 8.3(c), Section 8.3(d) and
Section 8.3(e) have been fulfilled.

(e)    At the Closing, the Company shall deliver, or shall cause to be delivered, to Parent duly executed letters (in form and
substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent) from each current officer, director and advisory director of the Company or of any
Subsidiary of the Company, in each case providing for the resignation of such individual from such position(s) effective as of the
Effective Time.

(f)    At the Closing, the Company shall deliver or cause to be delivered to Parent (w) revocations of the powers of attorney set
forth on Section 2.6(f) of the Schedules, (x) a written confirmation or other statement from each Company Bank of the balance of Cash
and Cash Equivalents on deposit at each Company
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Bank as of the close of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the Closing Date (including, without limitation, in any
demand deposit, time deposit, checking, disbursement, savings, investment, brokerage, or other account), (y) written confirmations of
the value to be received or paid by the Surviving Corporation (on or subsequent to the Closing Date) as a result of the termination of a
Hedge pursuant to Section 7.15 (such confirmations to be from the counterparty making or receiving such payment), and (z) a listing of
the amount of each outstanding (uncashed) check, pending/in-transit deposit and pending/in-transit wire transfer or other disbursement,
in each case, not yet reflected in the balance of Cash and Cash Equivalents on deposit at each Company Bank (such amounts, in the
aggregate, the “Pending/In-Transit Cash Items”) (the aggregate net amount of Cash and Cash Equivalents set forth in the written
confirmations or other statements contemplated by clauses (x) and (y), as adjusted for the Pending/In-Transit Cash Items, the
“Confirmed Closing Cash”).

ARTICLE III
MERGER CONSIDERATION; ELECTION AND EXCHANGE PROCEDURES

Section 3.1    Merger Consideration. Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, at the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger
and without any action on the part of Parent, Merger Sub, the Company or any holder of any securities of the Company, Parent or
Merger Sub, each of the following shall occur:

(a)    At the Effective Time, each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time (a
“Common Share”) shall be cancelled and shall be converted automatically into the right to receive 93.731296 validly issued, fully paid
and nonassessable shares of Parent Common Stock (as adjusted pursuant to Section 3.1(e), the “Exchange Ratio”)(based on 150,430
shares of Common Stock outstanding), subject to further adjustment in accordance with Section 3.4 (the “Merger Consideration”).

(b)    At the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger and without any action on the part of Parent or Merger Sub, each share of
common stock, no par value per share, of Merger Sub shall be converted into one share of common stock, no par value per share, of
the Surviving Corporation so that, after the Effective Time, Parent shall be the holder of all of the issued and outstanding shares of the
Surviving Corporation’s common stock.

(c)    Each share of Common Stock issued and outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time and owned directly or
indirectly by the Company (whether as treasury stock or otherwise) shall, by virtue of the Merger and without any other action on the
part of the Company, be canceled and no consideration shall be delivered in exchange therefor.

(d)    From and after the Effective Time, except for the right to receive the Merger Consideration upon compliance with
Section 3.3(b) or Section 3.3(h), holders of Common Shares will not be and will not have any rights as, holders of New Common Stock
(including any rights to vote, or any rights to receive distributions on, any New Common Stock), until such time that such holders have
delivered the required documentation and surrendered any Certificates as contemplated by Section 3.3(b) or have otherwise complied
with Section 3.3(h).

(e)    The Parties agree that the aggregate Merger Consideration payable with respect to all of the Common Shares (i.e., the
product of (x) the Average Parent Common Stock Price, (y) the Exchange Ratio, and (z) the aggregate number of Common Shares)
shall be automatically (i) reduced at Closing in an amount equal to the sum of (A) Transaction Expenses and (B) if the Closing Net
Funded Indebtedness exceeds the Target Net Funded Indebtedness, the amount of such excess, and (ii) if the Target Net Funded
Indebtedness
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exceeds the Closing Net Funded Indebtedness, increased at Closing in an amount equal to such excess. In furtherance of the foregoing,
the aggregate value of the amounts contemplated by clauses (i) and (ii) of the immediately preceding sentence (the “Closing
Adjustments”) shall be allocated proportionately among the Common Shares and the Exchange Ratio shall be automatically adjusted by
the amount of the Closing Adjustments attributable to each share of Common Stock. An illustration of the adjustments contemplated by
the foregoing is set forth in Annex H. Without limiting any other provision of this Agreement, and for the avoidance of doubt, the
Parties shall, as contemplated by Section 3.1(a) and Section 3.4, also adjust the Exchange Ratio in respect of any increase or decrease in
the issued and outstanding shares of Common Stock occurring in connection with the consummation of the Merger Transactions (e.g.,
upon the vesting of grants or other awards of Common Stock (or Rights with respect thereto) contemporaneous with the consummation
of the Merger Transactions).

Section 3.2    Rights As Shareholders; Stock Transfers.

(a)    All Common Shares when converted in accordance with Section 3.1(a) shall cease to be outstanding and shall
automatically be cancelled and cease to exist. At the Effective Time, each holder of Common Shares shall cease to be a shareholder of
the Company and cease to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive (i) the Merger Consideration, (ii) any cash to
be paid in lieu of any fractional shares of New Common Stock in accordance with Section 3.3(e), and (iii) any cash amounts payable in
accordance with Section 3.3(c) following such shareholder’s compliance with Section 3.3(b) or Section 3.3(h), in each case, to be
issued or paid, without interest, in consideration therefor in accordance with Section 3.3.

(b)    At the Effective Time, the stock transfer books of the Company shall be closed immediately and there shall be no further
registration of transfers on the stock transfer books of the Company with respect to Common Shares.

Section 3.3    Exchange of Certificates.

( a )    Exchange Agent. Prior to the Effective Time, Merger Sub shall enter into an agreement with Parent’s transfer agent (or
another entity reasonably acceptable to the Company) to act as agent for the holders of Common Shares in connection with the Merger
(the “Exchange Agent”) and to receive the Merger Consideration and cash sufficient to pay cash in lieu of fractional shares pursuant to
Section 3.3(e) to which such holders shall become entitled pursuant to this Article III. On the Closing Date and prior to the filing of the
Certificate of Merger, Parent shall deposit, or cause to be deposited, with the Exchange Agent, for the benefit of the former holders of
Common Shares, for issuance in accordance with this Article III through the Exchange Agent, the number of shares of Parent Common
Stock issuable to the holders of Common Shares outstanding immediately prior to the Effective Time pursuant to Section 3.1. Parent
shall make available to the Exchange Agent, from time to time as needed, cash sufficient to make payments for any dividends pursuant
to Section 3.3(c) and payments in lieu of any fractional shares of New Common Stock pursuant to Section 3.3(e), in each case, without
interest. Any shares of Parent Common Stock and cash (including as payment for any fractional shares of New Common Stock in
accordance with Section 3.3(e) and any dividends with respect to such fractional shares of New Common Stock in accordance with
Section 3.3(c)) deposited with the Exchange Agent shall hereinafter be referred to as the “Exchange Fund.” The Exchange Agent shall,
pursuant to irrevocable instructions, deliver the Merger Consideration contemplated to be paid for Common Shares pursuant to this
Agreement out of the Exchange Fund. Except as contemplated by Section 3.3(c) and Section 3.3(e), the Exchange Fund shall not be
used for any other purpose.
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(b )    Exchange Procedures. Promptly after the Effective Time, Parent shall instruct the Exchange Agent to mail to each record
holder of Common Shares as of the Effective Time (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries) (i) a letter of transmittal (which shall
specify that delivery of Common Shares shall be effected, and risk of loss and title to the Certificates shall pass, only upon proper
delivery of the Certificates to the Exchange Agent, and which shall be in substantially form of Annex D hereto, with such changes
therein as may be reasonably required by the Exchange Agent, the “Letter of Transmittal”) and (ii) instructions (which shall be in
customary form and agreed to by Parent and the Company prior to the Effective Time) for use in effecting the surrender of the
Certificates in exchange for the Merger Consideration payable in respect of the Common Shares represented by such Certificates. Upon
surrender of Certificates for cancellation to the Exchange Agent together with such Letters of Transmittal, properly (and fully)
completed and duly executed, and such other documents as may be required pursuant to such instructions, each holder of Common
Shares immediately prior to the Effective Time (other than the Company and its Subsidiaries) shall be entitled to receive in exchange
therefor (A) shares of New Common Stock (which shall be in uncertificated book-entry form) and which shall represent, in the
aggregate, the whole number of shares of New Common Stock that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to this Article III (after
taking into account all Common Shares then held by such holder) and (B) a check in an amount equal to the aggregate amount of cash
that such holder has the right to receive pursuant to this Article III (after taking into account all Common Shares then held by such
holder), consisting of cash payable in lieu of any fractional shares of New Common Stock pursuant to Section 3.3(e) and any dividends
pursuant to Section 3.3(c). No interest shall be paid or accrued on any Merger Consideration, any cash payment in lieu of fractional
shares of New Common Stock, or any dividend payable pursuant to Section 3.3(c). In the event of a transfer of ownership of Common
Shares that has not been registered in the transfer records of the Company, the Merger Consideration payable in respect of such
Common Shares may be paid to a transferee, if the Certificate representing such Common Shares is presented to the Exchange Agent,
and accompanied by all documents reasonably required to evidence and effect such transfer, and the Person requesting such exchange
shall pay to the Exchange Agent in advance any transfer or other Taxes required by reason of the delivery of the Merger Consideration
in any name other than that of the record holder of such Common Shares or shall establish to the satisfaction of the Exchange Agent
that such Taxes have been paid or are not payable. Until such required documentation has been delivered and such Certificate has been
surrendered, as contemplated by this Section 3.3, each Certificate shall be deemed at any time after the Effective Time to represent only
the right to receive upon such delivery and surrender the Merger Consideration payable in respect of Common Shares represented
thereby, any cash amounts payable in lieu of fractional shares of New Common Stock, and any dividends pursuant to Section 3.3(c).

(c)    Parent Dividends with Respect to Unexchanged Common Shares. No dividends declared or made with respect to shares of
Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time shall be paid to the holder of any Common Shares with respect to
shares of New Common Stock that such holder would be entitled to receive in accordance herewith and no cash payment in lieu of
fractional shares of New Common Stock shall be paid to any such holder until such holder shall have delivered the required
documentation and surrendered any Certificate(s) as contemplated by Section 3.3(b) or otherwise complied with Section 3.3(h). Subject
to applicable Law, following compliance with the requirements of Section 3.3(b) or Section 3.3(h), there shall be paid to such holder of
New Common Stock issuable in exchange therefor, without interest, (i) promptly after the time of such compliance, the amount of any
cash payable in lieu of fractional shares of New Common Stock to which such holder is entitled pursuant to Section 3.3(e) and an
amount in cash equal to any dividend with respect to shares of Parent Common Stock with a record date after the Effective Time and a
payment date prior to such compliance with Section 3.3(b) or Section 3.3(h), payable with respect to such whole shares of New
Common Stock, and (ii) on the appropriate payment date with respect thereto, the amount of dividends with a record date after the
Effective Time but prior to such
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delivery and surrender and with a payment date subsequent to such compliance payable with respect to such whole shares of New
Common Stock.

( d )    No Further Rights in Common Shares. All shares of New Common Stock delivered and cash paid upon conversion of a
Common Share in accordance with the terms hereof (including any cash paid pursuant to Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(e)) shall be
deemed to have been delivered in full satisfaction of all rights pertaining to such Common Share.

(e)    Fractional New Common Stock. No certificates or scrip or shares representing fractional shares of New Common Stock or
book-entry credit of the same shall be issued or delivered, and such fractional interests will not entitle the owner thereof to vote or to
have any rights as a holder of any share of New Common Stock. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, each holder
of Common Shares converted in the Merger who would otherwise have been entitled to receive a fraction of a share of New Common
Stock (after taking into account all Common Shares exchanged by such holder) shall receive, in lieu thereof, cash (without interest and
rounded up to the nearest whole cent) in an amount equal to the product of (i) the Average Parent Common Stock Price, and (ii) the
fraction of a share of New Common Stock that such holder would otherwise be entitled to receive pursuant to this Article III. As
promptly as practicable after the determination of the amount of cash, if any, to be paid to holders of fractional interests, the Exchange
Agent shall so notify Parent, and Parent shall deposit such amount with the Exchange Agent and shall cause the Exchange Agent to
forward payments to such holders of fractional interests subject to and in accordance with the terms hereof.

( f )    Termination of Exchange Fund. Any portion of the Exchange Fund that remains undistributed to the holders of Common
Shares on the 365th day following the Effective Time shall be delivered to Parent if and when demanded by Parent and, from and after
such delivery, any former holders of Common Shares who have not theretofore complied with this Article III shall thereafter look only
to the Buyers for the Merger Consideration payable in respect of such Common Shares, any cash in lieu of a fractional share of New
Common Stock to which they are entitled pursuant to Section 3.3(e), or any dividends or distributions with respect to shares of New
Common Stock to which they are entitled pursuant to Section 3.3(c) following compliance with Section 3.3(b) or Section 3.3(h), in each
case, without any interest thereon. Any amounts remaining unclaimed by holders of Common Shares immediately prior to such time as
such amounts would otherwise escheat to or become the property of any Governmental Authority shall, to the extent permitted by
applicable Law, be held by Parent and be subject to applicable escheat, abandoned property or similar laws.

(g)    No Liability. To the fullest extent permitted by Law, none of the Buyers, the Company, the Surviving Corporation or their
respective Representatives shall be liable to any holder of Common Shares for any of the Merger Consideration (including any
dividends with respect to Parent Common Stock) delivered to a public official pursuant to any abandoned property, escheat or similar
Law.

(h)    Lost Certificates. If any Certificate shall have been lost, stolen or destroyed, upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by
the Person claiming such Certificate to be lost, stolen or destroyed and, if required by Parent, the posting by such Person of a bond, in
such reasonable amount as Parent may require as indemnity against any claim that may be made against it with respect to such
Certificate, the Exchange Agent shall deliver and pay the Merger Consideration payable in respect of Common Shares represented by
such Certificate and any payments to which the holders thereof are entitled pursuant to Section 3.3(c) or Section 3.3(e).
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( i )    Withholding. The Exchange Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from the consideration otherwise payable
pursuant to this Agreement to any holder of Common Shares such amounts as the Exchange Agent reasonably deems to be required to
be deducted and/or withheld under the Code or any provision of state, local or foreign Tax Law, with respect to the making of such
payment; provided, however, that the Exchange Agent shall provide reasonable notice to the applicable holders of Common Shares
prior to withholding any amounts pursuant to this Section 3.3(i). To the extent that amounts are so deducted and withheld by the
Exchange Agent, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes of this Agreement as having been paid to the holder of Common Shares
in respect of whom such deduction and withholding was made by the Exchange Agent.

( j )    Investment of the Exchange Fund. Parent shall cause the Exchange Agent to invest any cash included in the Exchange
Fund as directed by Parent on a daily basis, in Parent’s sole discretion; provided, however, that no such investment or loss thereon shall
affect the amounts payable or the timing of the amounts payable to the Shareholders pursuant to the other provisions of this Section 3.3.
Any interest and other income resulting from such investments shall be paid promptly to Parent.

Section 3.4    Anti-Dilution Provisions. Whether or not permitted by this Agreement, in the event of (a) any subdivision,
reclassification, recapitalization, split, reverse split, stock distribution or dividend, combination or exchange with respect to Common
Stock (or Rights with respect thereto) or shares of Parent Common Stock (or Rights with respect thereto), or (b) any other change in the
number of Common Stock (or Rights with respect thereto) from that set forth in Section 5.6, then in each such case the Merger
Consideration, the Exchange Ratio, and (if applicable) the number of shares of New Common Stock to be issued in the Merger shall be
correspondingly adjusted to reflect the effect of such change (subject to further adjustment in accordance with this Section 3.4). For the
purposes of clarity, the Exchange Ratio shall be appropriately reduced if any shares of Company Common Stock are issued after the
date hereof such that the aggregate Merger Consideration paid by Parent with respect to all shares of Common Stock prior to such
issuance is the same aggregate Merger Consideration paid by Parent with respect to all shares of Common Stock after such issuance.

ARTICLE IV
ACTIONS PENDING MERGER

Section 4.1    Conduct of Business by the Company.  Except for actions (i) expressly contemplated or permitted by this
Agreement, (ii) required by applicable Law, (iii) expressly set forth in Section 4.1 of the Schedules, or (iv) taken with the prior written
consent of Parent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned (provided, however, that any action by
the Company or its Subsidiaries contemplated by Section 4.1(d)(i)(A) (to the extent related to the Powder River Basin or Delaware
Basin) shall not be taken without the prior written consent of Parent (which may be given or withheld in Parent’s sole and absolute
discretion)), from the date hereof until the Effective Time, the Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries to not:

(a)    (i) (A) conduct its business and the business of its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course of business, or (B) fail to
use commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact its business organization, goodwill and assets and maintain its rights, franchises
and existing relations with customers, suppliers, employees and business associates, or (ii) take any action that could reasonably be
expected to constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect, or materially delay any approvals required for, or consummation of, the
Merger Transactions;
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(b)    (i) issue, sell or otherwise permit to become outstanding, or authorize the creation of, any additional equity securities
(other than pursuant to the existing terms of Rights outstanding as of the date of this Agreement and discussed on Section 5.6(b) of the
Schedules) or any additional Rights, or (ii) enter into any agreement with respect to the foregoing;

(c)    (i) split, combine or reclassify any of its equity interests or authorize or propose the issuance of any other securities in
respect of, in lieu of or in substitution for its equity interests, or (ii) repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, or permit any of its
Subsidiaries to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, any partnership or other equity interests or Rights;

(d)    (i) sell, lease or otherwise dispose of any portion of its assets, business or properties (including the abandonment, transfer
or termination of any lease, well, Contract, surface right or equipment but excluding replacement of obsolete or damaged equipment)
(A) subject to Parent’s sole and absolute discretion as set forth above, in the Powder River Basin or the Delaware Basin, or (B) if the
purchase price for such transaction is greater than $1,000,000 (it being understood that any such transactions shall not, in the aggregate,
exceed $10,000,000), other than the sale of Hydrocarbons in the ordinary course of business, (ii) acquire, by merger or otherwise, or
lease any assets or all or any portion of the business or property of any other Person other than supplies and equipment in the ordinary
course of business, (iii) merge, consolidate or enter into any other business combination transaction or agreement with any Person, or
(iv) convert from its existing business entity type to any other business entity;

(e)    make or declare any dividend or distribution to the holders of Common Shares or to the holders of any other units of or
interests in the Company;

(f)    amend the Company Articles of Incorporation, the Company Bylaws, or the governing documents of any of the
Company’s Subsidiaries, in each case, as in effect on the date of this Agreement;

(g)    (i) other than in the ordinary course of business, enter into any Contract (A) that, if entered into prior to the date hereof,
would be a Material Contract hereunder if it were entered into prior to the date hereof, or (B) that is reasonably expected to give rise to a
material liability, or (ii) enter into any Contract with an Affiliate of the Company or with Agave or any of Agave’s Subsidiaries;

(h)    modify, amend, terminate, renew, extend, transfer, assign, or waive or assign any rights under, any Material Contract;

(i)    waive, release, assign, settle or compromise any Proceeding (i) involving the payment by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries of any amount in excess of $2,500,000 in the aggregate, (ii) constituting a state or federal regulatory Proceeding, whether
or not seeking damages, (iii) seeking an injunction or other equitable relief, (iv) that involves a conduct remedy or injunctive or similar
relief, (v) that involves an admission of criminal wrongdoing by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or (vi) has a restrictive impact
on the business of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, in any material respect;

(j)    implement or adopt any material change in its accounting principles, practices or methods, other than as may be required
by GAAP;

(k)    fail to use commercially reasonable efforts to maintain in full force without interruption the Material Insurance Policies or
comparable insurance coverage;

(l)    enter into any partnership, joint venture agreement or similar arrangement;
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(m)    (i) change in any material respect any of its express or deemed elections relating to Taxes, including elections for any and
all joint ventures, partnerships, limited liability companies or other investments where it has the capacity to make such binding election,
(ii) settle or compromise any Proceeding or controversy relating to Taxes, or (iii) change in any material respect any of its methods of
reporting income or deductions for federal income tax purposes from those employed in the preparation of its federal income Tax
Return for the most recent taxable year for which a return has been filed, except as may be required by applicable Law;

(n)    (i) adopt, enter into, amend, modify or otherwise increase, or accelerate the payment or vesting of the amounts, benefits or
rights payable or accrued or to become payable or accrued under, any Company Benefit Plan, (ii) grant any severance or termination
pay to an officer or director or employee of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (iii) establish, adopt, enter into or amend, or modify
any plan (including, without limitation, any cash incentive plan), policy, program or arrangement for the benefit of any current or
former directors or officers or employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their beneficiaries, (iv) pay or agree to pay
any severance, retention, change in control, or other transaction-related compensation or benefits to any current or former director,
employee, consultant or independent contractor; (v) grant any new equity awards to any employee, consultant or director; or (vi) other
than in the ordinary course of business, hire or engage any Person, or approve or make modifications of the salary, bonus or other
compensation (including incentive compensation) payable to any employee, officer, director or agent of the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, in each case, whose base salary exceeds $100,000 per annum;

(o)    (i) incur, assume, guarantee or otherwise become liable for any Indebtedness (directly, contingently or otherwise), other
than borrowings under existing credit facilities, (ii) create any Lien other than a Permitted Lien or Permitted Encumbrance, or
(iii) assume, guarantee, or otherwise become liable or responsible (whether directly, contingently or otherwise) for any obligations of
any Person (other than the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) to secure Indebtedness;

(p)    authorize, recommend, propose or announce an intention to adopt a plan of complete or partial dissolution or liquidation;

(q)    enter into any agreement that restricts the ability to engage or compete in any line of business related in any respect to the
business of the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or enter into any agreement that restricts the ability to enter a new line
of business;

(r)    enter into any agreement that restricts the ability to engage or compete in any line of business related in any respect to the
business of the Buyers, taken as a whole, or enter into any agreement that restricts the Buyers’ ability to enter a new line of business;

(s)    make (i) any individual capital expenditure (which shall include any investments by contribution to capital, property
transfers, purchase of securities or otherwise) or make any commitment to make any capital expenditure (which shall include any
investments by contribution to capital, property transfers, purchase of securities or otherwise) in excess of $1,000,000 (net to the
Company’s interest) or (ii) aggregate capital expenditures in excess of $2,500,000, in each case, other than (A) pursuant to existing
commitments or business plans expressly described in Section 5.18 of the Schedules, (B) to repair, maintain or replace any assets,
properties or facilities in the ordinary course of business (and to the extent so reflected in the Company’s current budget), or (C)
provided that Parent is given notice thereof as promptly as reasonably practicable thereafter, as may be necessary to maintain or restore
safe operations of the Oil and Gas Properties or respond to any catastrophe or other emergency situation;
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(t)    cancel any debts, settle, waive, or release any claims or rights, or pay, discharge, or satisfy any claims, liabilities or
obligations (absolute, accrued, asserted, unasserted, contingent or otherwise) other than in the ordinary course of business in an amount
not to exceed $2,500,000 in the aggregate or where the amount paid or payable does not exceed the amount reserved against such
matter in the Financial Statements;

(u)    knowingly take any action that is intended to result in (i) any of its representations and warranties set forth in this
Agreement being or becoming untrue in any material respect at the Closing Date, (ii) any of the conditions set forth in Article VIII not
being satisfied, (iii) any prevention or material delay of the consummation of the Merger (other than as a result of enforcement of the
Company’s rights under this Agreement), or (iv) a violation, in any material respect, of any covenant set forth in this Agreement;

(v)    incur any Funded Indebtedness that is not expressly set forth in Section 5.8(b) of the Schedules on the date hereof (and,
for the purposes of clarity, without regard to any Schedule Supplement); or

(w)    agree or commit to do anything prohibited by clauses (a) through (v) of this Section 4.1.

Section 4.2    Conduct of Business by the Buyers. Except for actions (i) expressly contemplated or permitted by this Agreement,
(ii) required by applicable Law, (iii) expressly set forth in Section 4.2 of the Schedules, or (iv) taken with the prior written consent of the
Company (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned), from the date hereof until the Effective Time,
the Buyers shall not, and shall cause each of their respective Subsidiaries not to:

(a)    conduct its business and the business of its Subsidiaries other than in the ordinary course except as could not reasonably
be expected to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect;

(b)    amend or propose to amend the Parent Certificate of Incorporation or Parent Bylaws, in each case, in a manner that would
prevent or materially delay consummation of the Merger Transactions or alter the terms of the Parent Common Stock;

(c)    authorize, recommend, propose or announce an intention to adopt a plan of complete or partial dissolution or liquidation;

(d)    knowingly take any action (including entering into any business combination or other transaction) that is intended to result
in (i) any representations and warranties of the Buyers set forth in this Agreement being or becoming untrue in any material respect at
the Closing Date, (ii) any of the conditions set forth in Article VIII not being satisfied, (iii) any prevention or material delay of the
consummation of the Merger (other than as a result of enforcement of Buyers’ rights under this Agreement), or (iv) a violation, in any
material respect, of any covenant of Buyers set forth in this Agreement;

(e)    directly or indirectly sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, or purchase, acquire or otherwise become beneficial owner of,
any Common Shares or any other interests in the Company; or

(f)    agree or commit to do anything prohibited by clauses (a) through (e) of this Section 4.2.
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ARTICLE V
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

Except as set forth in the Schedules to this Agreement corresponding to the applicable provisions of this Article V, the Company
represents and warrants to Parent and Merger Sub as of the date of this Agreement as follows; provided, however, that notwithstanding
anything stated in this Agreement to the contrary, any representations or warranties of Company in this Article V relating to any
Company assets (including any Oil and Gas Properties), or to the ownership, operation, or condition thereof, that are not operated by
the Company or its Subsidiaries shall be deemed qualified and made only to the Company’s knowledge:

Section 5.1    Corporate Organization of the Company. The Company has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a
corporation in good standing under the Laws of the State of New Mexico and has the corporate power and authority to own, operate or
lease its properties and to conduct its business as it is now being conducted. The copies of the Company Articles of Incorporation and
Company Bylaws previously made available by the Company to Parent are true, correct and complete. The Company is duly licensed
or qualified and in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction in which the ownership, operation or leasing of its
property or the character of its activities is such as to require it to be so licensed or qualified, except where the failure to be so licensed
or qualified would not reasonably be expected to constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.2    Subsidiaries. All of the Subsidiaries of the Company are set forth in Section 5.2 of the Schedules. The Subsidiaries
have been duly formed or organized and are validly existing under the laws of their jurisdiction of incorporation or organization and
have the power and authority to own, operate or lease their properties and to conduct their business as it is now being conducted. Each
Subsidiary is duly licensed or qualified and in good standing as a foreign corporation (or other entity, if applicable) in each jurisdiction
in which its ownership, operation or leasing of property or the character of its activities is such as to require it to be so licensed or
qualified or in good standing, as applicable, except where the failure to be so licensed or qualified or in good standing would not
reasonably be expected to constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.3    Due Authorization. The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this
Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents to which it will be a party and, subject to receipt of the approvals described in
Section 5.5, to consummate the Merger Transactions. The execution and delivery of this Agreement (and, in the case of the Transaction
Documents to which it will be a party, will be when delivered), and the consummation of the Merger Transactions have been duly and
validly authorized and approved by the Company Board, and no other corporate proceeding on the part of the Company is necessary to
authorize this Agreement. This Agreement has been, and upon its execution and delivery, each of the Transaction Documents to which
the Company will be a party will be, duly and validly executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming this Agreement and the
Transaction Documents have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the other parties hereto or thereto, as applicable, this
Agreement constitutes, and upon its execution and delivery each of the Transaction Documents to which the Company will be a party
will constitute, a valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable
bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and
subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity (collectively, “Enforceability Exceptions”).

Section 5.4    No Conflict. Subject to required filings under federal and state securities laws, and assuming the other consents
and approvals contemplated by Section 5.5, Section 6.4 and Article II are
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obtained and assuming the consents, waivers and approvals specified in Section 7.1 are obtained, and except as set forth in Section 5.4
of the Schedules, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the Merger Transactions by the
Company do not and will not (a) constitute a breach or violation of, or result in a default (or an event that, with notice or lapse of time
or both, would become a default) under, or result in the termination or in a right of termination or cancellation of, or accelerate the
performance required by, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, lease, Contract or other instrument or obligation to which
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective assets or
properties is subject or bound, (b) contravene or conflict with or constitute a material violation of any provision of any Law binding
upon or applicable to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, (c) result in the creation of any Lien on any of the assets of the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries’ assets, (d) constitute a breach or violation of, or a default under, the Company Articles of Incorporation,
Company Bylaws or other organizational documents of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or (e) cause the Merger Transactions to
be subject to Takeover Laws.

Section 5.5    Governmental Authorities; Consents. Assuming the truth and completeness of the representations and warranties
of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement, no consent, approval or authorization of, or designation, declaration or filing
with, any Governmental Authority or other Person is required on the part of the Company with respect to the Company’s execution or
delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger Transactions, except for (a) applicable requirements of the HSR Act as
described in Section 5.5 of the Schedules, (b) any consents, approvals, authorizations, designations, declarations or filings that are
customarily obtained or made after closing, (c) as otherwise disclosed in Section 5.5 of the Schedules, (d) such filings and approvals as
may be required to be made or obtained under the securities or “Blue Sky” laws of various states in connection with the issuance of
New Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, and (e) the filing of the Articles of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of
New Mexico.

Section 5.6    Capitalization.

(a)    The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value $1.00 per share, (i)
150,430 of which are issued and outstanding as of the date of this Agreement, and (ii) 50,000 of which are held in treasury by the
Company. All of the Common Shares have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable.

(b)    Except as set forth in Section 5.6(b) of the Schedules, there are (i) no subscriptions, calls, Contracts, options, warrants,
rights or other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Common Stock or other equity interests of the
Company or the equity interests of any Subsidiary of the Company, or any other agreements to which the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries is a party or by which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is bound obligating the Company or any such Subsidiary to
issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, other equity interests in or debt securities of, the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and
(ii) no equity equivalents, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock ownership interests or similar rights in the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries. There are no outstanding obligations of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire
any securities or equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Except as set forth in Section 5.6(b) of the Schedules,
neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any stockholders agreement, voting agreement or registration rights
agreement relating to the Common Stock or any other equity interests of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(c)    Except as set forth in Section 5.6(c) of the Schedules, the Company or one or more of its wholly owned Subsidiaries own
of record and beneficially all the issued and outstanding shares of capital
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stock or equity interests of such Subsidiaries, in each case, free and clear of any Liens other than Permitted Liens.

(d)    Set forth on Section 5.6(d) of the Schedules is a complete, true and correct list of all of the holders of shares of capital
stock of the Company.

Section 5.7    Financial Statements. Attached as Section 5.7(a) of the Schedules are (a) the audited consolidated balance sheets
and statements of operations and comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flow of the Company and its Subsidiaries as of
and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 together with the auditor’s reports thereon (the “Audited Financial
Statements”), and (b) an unaudited consolidated balance sheet and statements of income, cash flow and stockholders’ equity of the
Company and its Subsidiaries as of and for the three-month period ended March 31, 2016 (the “Interim Financial Statements” and,
together with Audited Financial Statements, the “Financial Statements”). Except as set forth in Section 5.7(b) of the Schedules, the
Financial Statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position and results of operations of the Company
and its Subsidiaries as of the dates and for the periods indicated in such Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP (except, in the
case of the Interim Financial Statements, for the absence of footnotes and for normal year-end adjustments). The Company and its
Subsidiaries maintain accurate books and records reflecting each of their assets and liabilities and maintain proper and adequate internal
accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
annual financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP.

Section 5.8    Undisclosed Liabilities.

(a)    Except as set forth in Section 5.8(a) of the Schedules, there is no liability, debt or obligation of or claim against the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would be required to be set forth in a balance sheet of the Company and its Subsidiaries (or the
notes thereto) prepared in accordance with GAAP, except for liabilities and obligations (i) to the extent reflected or reserved for on the
Financial Statements or disclosed in the notes thereto, (ii) that have arisen since the date of the most recent balance sheet included in the
Financial Statements in the ordinary course of business (none of which arise as a result of a violation of Law or breach of contract),
(iii) relating to expenses actually incurred in connection with this Agreement and the Merger Transactions, (iv) arising under this
Agreement and any Transaction Document or the performance by the Company of its obligations in accordance with the terms of this
Agreement and any Transaction Document, and (v) that have been discharged or paid in full prior to the date hereof.

(b)    Other than as set forth in Section 5.8(b) of the Schedules, the Company has no other outstanding Indebtedness (including,
for the purposes of clarity, Funded Indebtedness).

Section 5.9    Litigation and Proceedings. Except as set forth in Section 5.9 of the Schedules, there are, and since January 1,
2012 there have been, no Proceedings pending before or by any Governmental Authority or, to the knowledge of the Company,
threatened, against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise related to the Oil and Gas Properties. There is no unsatisfied
judgment or any open injunction binding upon the Company or any of its Subsidiaries that would reasonably be expected to have a
material and adverse impact on the Company. Except as set forth on Section 5.9 of the Schedules, (a) there is no Order or, to the
Company’s knowledge, investigation of any nature pending, rendered, or to the Company’s knowledge, threatened against the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries, and (b) there are no Orders outstanding against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
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Section 5.10    Compliance with Laws. Except with respect to matters set forth in Section 5.10 of the Schedules, (a) the
Company and its Subsidiaries are, and have been since January 1, 2012, in compliance with all applicable Laws and Orders to which
they are subject and (b) neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries have received any written notice of material violation of any Laws or
Permits in connection with the ownership or operation of the Oil and Gas Properties that has not been corrected or settled. Since January
1, 2012, none of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has received any written or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other
notice or allegation of any material violation of or material noncompliance with any Law or Order on the part of the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries or involving their respective businesses, or directing the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to take any material
remedial action with respect to any Law or Order or otherwise, and no material deficiencies of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
have been asserted by any Governmental Authority since such date. None of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has, since January
1, 2012, conducted any internal investigation with respect to any actual, potential or alleged material violation of any Law or Order by
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective officers, directors or employees. No representation or warranty by the
Company is made under this Section 5.10 with respect to tax matters, which are covered exclusively by Section 5.14, or environmental
matters, which are covered exclusively by Section 5.22.

Section 5.11    Contracts; No Defaults.

(a)    Section 5.11(a) of the Schedules contains a complete, current and correct listing of all Contracts (which lists Contracts by
each applicable subsection referenced below in this Section 5.11(a) that are described in clauses (i) through (xxii) below), but excluding
any Company Benefit Plans, (the “Material Contracts”) to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or any of their
respective properties or assets are bound, in each case, that are in effect on the date of this Agreement. True, correct and complete
copies of the Material Contracts have been delivered to or made available to Parent or its Representatives.

(i) Any Contract that could reasonably be expected to result in aggregate payments by or to the Company or any
of its Subsidiaries of more than $5,000,000 in any one-year period after the date hereof, or $10,000,000 in the aggregate over
the life of such Contract;

(ii) Any Contract that is a purchase and sale agreement and provides for the sale or other disposition after the date
hereof of any Oil and Gas Properties or other material assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (A) that remains
executory as of the date of this Agreement with regard to the requirement of Company to sell or deliver such property (other
than conventional rights of reassignment contemplated by Section 5.11(a)(xix)) or (B) was entered into by the Company on or
after January 1, 2012 with respect to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries assumed or retained any material
environmental liabilities or plugging and abandonment liabilities outside of the ordinary course of business;

(iii) Any Affiliate Agreement;

(iv) Any Contract containing any limitation on the freedom or ability of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
(or which following the Closing Date would purport to limit the freedom of the Company or any of its Affiliates) to engage in
any line of business or compete with any Person or to operate at any location in the world, including non-competition, non-
solicitation and standstill obligations or exclusivity rights;
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(v) Any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has guaranteed any Indebtedness or
the performance of a third party (e.g., performance guarantees, including the performance of payment obligations);

(vi) Any Contract (A) with respect to the Leased Real Property or (B) pursuant to which the Company or any of
its Subsidiaries is lessee of any personal property and is obligated to make payments in excess of $50,000 in any one-year
period after the date hereof;

(vii) Any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is lessor of or permits any third party
to hold or operate any property, real or personal;

(viii) Any Contract continuing over a period of more than six months from the date thereof not terminable by the
Company or the applicable Subsidiary thereof on 30 days’ or less notice without payment or penalty;

(ix) Any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has granted any power of attorney;

(x) Any Contract pursuant to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is obligated to indemnify a third party;

(xi) Any Contract containing most-favored nation clauses;

(xii) Any settlement or similar agreement (other than separation and release agreements signed by departing
employees) with unsatisfied or continuing obligations in excess of $2,500,000;

(xiii) Any Contract entered into since January 1, 2012 (A) relating to the acquisition or disposition of any
business or entity (whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise), (B) to the knowledge of the Company, that
resulted in the acquisition of all or substantially all assets of any Person, or (C) relating to the acquisition or disposition of any
material asset or property (any Oil and Gas Property (other than conventional rights of reassignment contemplated by
Section 5.11(a)(xviii)) being deemed material for purposes hereof), and, in the case of each of (A), (B) and (C), if thereunder
there are currently effective obligations (including contingent obligations) of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries with
respect to material environmental liabilities or plugging and abandonment liabilities assumed or retained outside of the ordinary
course of business;

(xiv) Any Contract providing for the use, license or sublicense of Intellectual Property (other than commercial off-
the-shelf software);

(xv) Any Contract that contains calls upon or options to purchase Hydrocarbon production excluding calls upon
or options made by a Governmental Authority under federal oil and gas leases in times of war or other public emergencies or as
otherwise permitted under applicable law, or is a dedication of Hydrocarbon production or otherwise requires Hydrocarbon
production to be gathered, transported, processed or sold in a particular fashion;

(xvi) Any Contract to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party with respect to any swap, forward,
future or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement, whether exchange traded, “over-the-counter” or otherwise,
involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or
economic, financial or
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pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of
these transactions;

(xvii) Any Contract that (A) constitutes a development agreement, participation agreement, exploration
agreement, farmout/farmin agreement, partnership agreement, joint venture agreement, exchange agreement or similar Contract
(excluding any tax partnership or joint or unit operating agreement) or (B) contains area of mutual interest provisions that
remains in effect;  

(xviii) Any Contract (executory or otherwise) to sell, lease, farmout/farmin, or otherwise dispose of or encumber
any material interest in any of the Oil and Gas Properties after the Effective Time, other than conventional rights of reassignment
arising in connection with the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ surrender or release of any of the Oil and Gas Properties;

(xix) Any Contract that would obligate the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to drill and/or complete additional
wells or conduct other material development operations after the Effective Time (but excluding (A) any AFEs or proposals or
commitments relating to the Oil and Gas Properties, which are covered exclusively by Section 5.18, or (B) any Leases which
may contain implied obligations to drill wells or conduct other material development operations);

(xx) Any Contract that is a water rights agreement covering the extraction of groundwater that is granted by the
State of New Mexico (but excluding temporary use permits), material water rights agreement, or disposal agreement with third
parties with respect to produced water, in each case, except for any agreement that is terminable, without penalty, upon no more
than 60 days’ notice;

(xxi) Any (A) employment agreement (other than at-will agreements that may be terminated with or without
notice and with or without liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) or (B) Contract that provides for (1) a payment by
the Company or one (or more) of its Subsidiaries upon a change of control of the Company (or similar transaction) or (2)
severance payments or benefits; and

(xxii) Any other Contract material to the financial condition, properties, employee relations (other than at-will
agreements that may be terminated with or without notice and with or without liability to the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries), customer relations, supplier relations or business prospects of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(b)    With respect to the Company and its Subsidiaries, each Material Contract is valid and binding and in full force and effect
and is enforceable in accordance with its terms subject to Enforceability Exceptions. With respect to any party to a Material Contract
other than the Company or its Subsidiaries, to the knowledge of the Company, each Material Contract is valid and binding and in full
force and effect and is enforceable in accordance with its terms subject to Enforceability Exceptions. To the knowledge of the
Company, no event or condition exists which constitutes a default, or with notice or lapse of time or both would become a default, on
the part of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under any Material Contract or any other party to a Material Contract. Except as set
forth on Section 5.11(b) of the Schedules, (i) none of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has received written notice of an intention
by any party to any Material Contract of such party’s intent to cancel or terminate such Material Contract or amend the terms thereof in
any material respect, and (ii) the consummation of the Merger Transactions will not affect the validity, enforceability and continuation
of any Material Contract on the same terms applicable to such Material Contract as of the date hereof.
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Section 5.12    Company Benefit Plans.

(a)    Section 5.12(a) of the Schedules sets forth a complete list of each pension, benefit, retirement, compensation, employment,
consulting, profit-sharing, deferred compensation, incentive, bonus, performance award, phantom equity, stock or stock-based, change
in control, retention, severance, vacation, paid time off, welfare, fringe-benefit and other similar agreement, plan, policy, program or
arrangement (and any amendments thereto) (other than at-will agreements that may be terminated with or without notice and with or
without liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries), in each case whether or not reduced to writing and whether funded or
unfunded, including each “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act
of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), whether or not tax-qualified and whether or not subject to ERISA, which is or has been within the
previous six years maintained, sponsored, contributed to, or required to be contributed to by the Company for the benefit of any current
or former employee, officer, director, retiree, independent contractor or consultant of the Company or any spouse or dependent of such
individual, or under which the Company or any employer (whether or not incorporated) that is treated together with the Company or
any of its Affiliates as a “single employer” within the meaning of Section 414 of the Code (each an “ERISA Affiliate”) has or may have
any Liability, or with respect to which Buyer or any of its Affiliates would reasonably be expected to have any Liability, contingent or
otherwise (as listed on Section 5.12(a) of the Schedules, each, a “Company Benefit Plan”).

(b)    With respect to each Company Benefit Plan, the Company has delivered or made available to Parent true, correct and
complete copies of (i) where the Company Benefit Plan has been reduced to writing, the plan document together with all amendments;
(ii) where the Company Benefit Plan has not been reduced to writing, a written summary of all material plan terms; (iii) where
applicable, copies of any trust agreements or other funding arrangements, custodial agreements, insurance policies and contracts,
administration agreements and similar agreements, and investment management or investment advisory agreements; (iv) copies of any
summary plan descriptions, summaries of material modifications, and employee handbooks, including the 2016 Benefit Guidebook
relating to any Company Benefit Plan; (v) in the case of any Company Benefit Plan for which a Form 5500 is required to be filed, a
copy of the most recently filed Form 5500, with schedules and financial statements attached; (vi) a copy of the most recent actuarial
valuation and reports (if applicable) related to any such Company Benefit Plan; (vii) in the case of any Company Benefit Plan that is
intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code, a copy of the most recent determination or opinion letter issued by the IRS;
(viii) the most recent nondiscrimination tests performed under the Code; and (ix) copies of material notices, letters or other
correspondence from the IRS, Department of Labor, Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or other Governmental Authority relating to
the Company Benefit Plan.

(c)    Except as would not reasonably be expected to constitute a Company Material Adverse Effect: (i) each Company Benefit
Plan has been established, maintained and administered in accordance with its terms, ERISA and the Code, and (ii) all contributions
required to be made with respect to any Company Benefit Plan on or before the date hereof have been made and all obligations in
respect of each Company Benefit Plan as of the date hereof have been paid or accrued and reflected in the Financial Statements to the
extent required by GAAP.

(d)    Each Company Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code (i) is so
qualified, (iii) has received a favorable determination or opinion letter from the IRS as to its qualification or has been established under
a standardized master and prototype or volume submitter plan for which a current favorable IRS advisory letter or opinion letter has
been obtained by the plan sponsor and is valid as to the adopting employer, and (iii) nothing has occurred that would reasonably be
expected to adversely affect the qualified status of any such qualified Company Benefit Plan.
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(e)    Except as set forth in Section 5.12(e) of the Schedules, each Company Benefit Plan that is subject to Section 409A of the
Code has been administered in compliance with its terms and the operational and documentary requirements of Section 409A of the
Code and all applicable regulatory guidance (including notices, rulings and proposed and final regulations) thereunder. The Company
does not have any obligation to gross up, indemnify or otherwise reimburse any individual for any excise taxes, interest or penalties
incurred pursuant to Section 409A of the Code.

(f)    Except as set forth in Section 5.12(f) of the Schedules, (i) no Company Benefit Plan is a multiemployer pension plan (as
defined in Section 3(37) of ERISA) (“Multiemployer Plan”) and (A) all contributions required to be paid by the Company or its ERISA
Affiliates have been timely paid to the applicable Multiemployer Plan; (B) neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has incurred
any withdrawal liability under Title IV of ERISA that remains unsatisfied and (C) a complete withdrawal from such Multiemployer
Plan(s) at the Effective Time, would not result in any material liability to the Company, (ii) no Company Benefit Plan is a “multiple
employer plan” (within the meaning of Section 413(c) of the Code) or a “multiple employer welfare arrangement” (as defined in
Section 3(40) of ERISA); (iii) no Company Benefit Plan is subject to the minimum funding standards of Section 412 of the Code or Title
IV of ERISA, and none of the assets of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate is, or may reasonably be expected to become, the subject
of any lien arising under Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412)(a) of the Code; and (iv) no “reportable event,” as defined in section
4043 of ERISA, has occurred with respect to any Company Benefit Plan.

(g)    Except as disclosed in Section 5.12(g) of the Schedules, with respect to the Company Benefit Plans, no Proceedings (other
than routine claims for benefits in the ordinary course) are pending or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened. No Company
Benefit Plan has within the last three years been the subject of an examination or audit by a Governmental Authority or the subject of an
application or filing under or is a participant in, an amnesty, voluntary compliance, self-correction or similar program sponsored by any
Governmental Authority.

(h)    Except as disclosed in Section 5.12(h) of the Schedules, neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement by the
Company nor the consummation of the Merger Transactions will (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent
events) (i) entitle any Person to any severance pay or any other payment, (ii) result in the acceleration or creation of any rights of any
Person to payments or benefits or increases in any payments or benefits or any loan forgiveness. Except as set forth in Section 5.12(h)
of the Schedules, the Company is not a party to any agreement, contract, arrangement or plan that has resulted or would result,
separately or in the aggregate, in any payment that would not be deductible pursuant to Section 280G of the Code or that would require
a “gross-up” or other payment to any “disqualified individual” within the meaning of Section 280G(c) of the Code.

(i)    Except as disclosed in Section 5.12(i) of the Schedules, there has been no amendment to, announcement by the Company
or any of its Affiliates relating to, or change in employee participation or coverage under, any Company Benefit Plan or collective
bargaining agreement that would increase the annual expense of maintaining such plan above the level of the expense incurred for the
most recently completed fiscal year with respect to any director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant, as applicable.
None of the Company nor any of its Affiliates has any legally binding commitment or obligation, or has made any representations, to
any director, officer, employee, independent contractor or consultant, whether or not legally binding, to adopt, amend, modify or
terminate any Company Benefit Plan or any collective bargaining agreement.
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(j)    Except as disclosed in Section 5.12(j) of the Schedules and other than as required under Section 601 et. seq. of ERISA, no
Company Benefit Plan provides post-termination or retiree welfare benefits to any individual for any reason, and neither the Company
nor any of its ERISA Affiliates has any Liability to provide post-termination or retiree welfare benefits to any individual or ever
represented, promised or contracted to any individual that such individual would be provided with post-termination or retiree welfare
benefits.

(k)    Except as disclosed in Section 5.12(k) of the Schedules or as otherwise required by Law, each Company Benefit Plan can
be amended, terminated or otherwise discontinued after the Closing in accordance with its terms, without material liabilities to Buyers,
the Company or any of their Affiliates other than accrued benefit liabilities and ordinary administrative expenses typically incurred in a
termination event.

Section 5.13    Labor Matters.

(a)    (i) Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is a party to or subject to any collective bargaining agreements, works
council agreements, labor union contracts, trade union agreements or other agreements with any union, works council or labor
organization (each a “Union”), and (ii) no group of employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries are represented by any Union
for purposes of collective bargaining with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(b)    Except as set forth in Section 5.13(b) of the Schedules, since January 1, 2012: (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries are in
compliance in all material respects with all applicable Laws relating to labor and employment, including all Laws relating to
employment practices; the hiring, promotion, assignment, and termination of employees; discrimination; equal employment
opportunities; harassment; retaliation; disability; reasonable accommodation; labor relations; wages and hours; hours of work; payment
of wages; overtime compensation; meal and break periods; child labor; immigration; workers’ compensation; employee benefits;
background and credit checks, working conditions; occupational safety and health; family and medical leave; unemployment insurance;
privacy; health information privacy and security, and employee terminations; and (ii) to the knowledge of the Company, there are no
pending or threatened, Proceedings against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries brought by or on behalf of any applicant for
employment, any current or former employee, consultant, independent contractor, subcontractor, leased employee, volunteer, or
“temp” of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or any group or class of the foregoing, or any Governmental Authority, in each case,
in connection with an allegation of a violation of any labor or employment Laws.

Section 5.14    Taxes.

(a)    All Tax Returns required to be filed by or with respect to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries have been properly
prepared and timely filed, and all such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all material respects.

(b)    The Company and its Subsidiaries have fully and timely paid all Taxes that have become due and payable.

(c)    All amounts of Tax required to be withheld by the Company and its Subsidiaries have been timely withheld and, to the
extent required, paid over to the appropriate Governmental Authority. The Company and its Subsidiaries have complied with all
information reporting and backup withholding requirements, including maintenance of required forms and other records.

34

Source: EOG RESOURCES INC, 10-Q, November 03, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



(d)    Except as set forth in Section 5.14(d) of the Schedules, no deficiency for any material amount of Tax has been asserted or
assessed by any Governmental Authority (either in writing or verbally, formally or informally) against the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries (or has been threatened or proposed). No waiver or extension of any statute of limitations with respect to the assessment or
collection of Taxes is in effect for the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(e)    Except with respect to the Spin-Off and as set forth in Section 5.14(e) of the Schedules, there are no Tax indemnification or
Tax sharing agreements under which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries would reasonably be expected to be liable for the Tax
liability of an entity that is neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries other than pursuant to customary commercial contracts not
primarily related to Taxes for which any tax indemnity, if any, in such contracts is not a material liability.

(f)    Other than with respect to the Spin-Off, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has constituted either a
“distributing corporation” or a “controlled corporation” in a distribution of stock qualifying for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of
the Code in the two years prior to the date of this Agreement.

(g)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has entered into a “listed transaction” within the meaning of Treasury
Regulation Section 1.6011-4(b)(2) that has given rise to a disclosure obligation under Section 6011 of the Code and the Treasury
Regulations promulgated thereunder. The Company and its Subsidiaries have made disclosures on their Tax Returns (i) of all positions
taken that could give rise to a substantial understatement penalty within the meaning of Code Section 6662 or (ii) as required by
Treasury Regulation Section 1.6011-4.

(h)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries will be required to include any income or gain or exclude any deduction
or loss for any taxable period or portion thereof after the Closing Date as a result of any (i) change in method of accounting made on or
prior to the Closing Date, (ii) closing agreement under Section 7121 of the Code (or any similar provision of applicable Law) executed
on or prior to the Closing Date, (iii) deferred intercompany gain or excess loss account in the stock of any Subsidiary of the Company
as of the Closing Date under Treasury Regulations under Section 1502 of the Code in connection with a transaction consummated on or
prior to the Closing Date, (iv) installment sale or open transaction disposition consummated on or prior to the Closing Date or (v)
indebtedness discharged in connection with any election under Section 108(i) of the Code (or any similar provision of Law) made on or
prior to the Closing Date.

(i)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has (i) been a member of an affiliated group of corporations within the
meaning of Section 1504 of the Code (or any similar provision of Law) except for any group the common parent of which is or was the
Company or any predecessor or, (ii) any liability for the Taxes of any Person under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 (or any
similar provision of Law), as a transferee or successor, except for the liability of members of an affiliated group that includes the
Company or any predecessor.

(j)    The Spin-Off qualifies as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(1)(D) of the Code for the Company and
Agave and under Section 355 and related provisions of the Code (including Section 361(c)(1) of the Code), and will not be taxable by
reason of Section 355(e) of the Code.

(k)    At the Effective Time, the Company will hold at least ninety percent (90%) of the fair market value of the net assets and at
least seventy percent (70%) of the fair market value of the gross assets of the Company. For this purpose, amounts used to pay holders
of dissenting shares or to pay reorganization
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expenses and all redemptions and distributions (except for regular, normal dividends) made by the Company immediately prior to the
Merger will be considered as assets held by Company at the Effective Time.

Section 5.15    Brokers’ Fees. Except as set forth in Section 5.15 of the Schedules, no broker, finder, investment banker or other
Person is directly or indirectly entitled to any brokerage fee, finders’ fee or other contingent fee or commission in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by the Company, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their
Affiliates.

Section 5.16    Permits. The Company and its Subsidiaries are in possession of all material Permits (including Environmental
Permits) necessary for the Company to own, lease and operate its properties and assets as currently owned and being operated or to
carry on its business as it is now being conducted (the “Company Permits”). To the knowledge of the Company, all Company Permits
are in full force and effect. No suspension or cancellation of any of the Company Permits is pending or, to the knowledge of the
Company, threatened. The Company and its Subsidiaries are not, and since January 1, 2012 have not been, in material violation or
breach of, or default under, any Company Permit, and, to the knowledge of the Company, no event has occurred that upon receipt of
notice or lapse of time or both would constitute any default under any Company Permit. As of the date of this Agreement, to the
knowledge of the Company, no event or condition has occurred or exists which would result in a violation of, breach, default or loss of
a benefit under, or acceleration of an obligation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries under, any Company Permit, or has caused
(or would cause) an applicable Governmental Authority to fail or refuse to issue, renew or extend any Company Permit (in each case,
with or without notice or lapse of time or both).

Section 5.17    Real Property.

(a)    With respect to the Owned Real Property: (i) the Company or one of its Subsidiaries has good and marketable fee simple
title, free and clear of all Liens other than Permitted Liens; (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has leased or otherwise
granted to any Person the right to use or occupy such Owned Real Property or any material portion thereof which is still in effect, other
than any such lease or grant to the extent constituting a Permitted Lien; and (iii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has
granted or is otherwise a party to or obligated under any outstanding options, rights of first refusal, rights of first offer, rights of reverter
or other third party rights to purchase such Owned Real Property or any portion thereof or any interest therein.

(b)    Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries are in material default under any lease related to the Leased Real Property
to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is a party, and no condition exists which (with notice or lapse of time or both) would
constitute a default by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries thereunder or (to the knowledge of the Company) by the other parties
thereto, in each case, other than such defaults as would not, individually or in the aggregate, constitute a Company Material Adverse
Effect. Except as set forth in Section 5.17(b) of the Schedules, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries have subleased or
otherwise granted any Person the right to use or occupy any Leased Real Property which is still in effect. Neither the Company nor any
of its Subsidiaries have collaterally assigned or granted any other security interest in the Leased Real Property or any interest therein
which is still in effect. Except for the Permitted Liens, there exist no Liens affecting the Leased Real Property (or the leasehold interests
or rights therein) created by, through or under the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

(c)    No representation or warranty by the Company is made under this Section 5.17 with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties.
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Section 5.18    Commitments, Abandonments or Proposals.  Except as set forth in Section 5.18 of the Schedules, as of the date
of this Agreement: (a) the Company has not committed to any authorization(s) for expenditure (“AFE”) or other capital commitment(s)
that remain outstanding (including, without limitation, and well connection costs) relating to the Oil and Gas Properties, or the
takeaway, gathering, transport, processing, treating, disposal, handling, or marketing of hydrocarbons, produced water or other waste
products therefrom, for which all of the activities anticipated in such AFE(s) or other such outstanding commitment(s) have not been
completed and the uncompleted portion of each such AFE or such commitment requires expenditure after the Effective Time in excess
of $1,000,000 (net to the Company’s interest), and no such AFE or other proposal or commitment is outstanding.

Section 5.19    Absence of Changes. Since December 31, 2015 through the date of this Agreement, except as set forth in
Section 5.19 of the Schedules, (a) there has not been a Company Material Adverse Effect, and (b) the Company and its Subsidiaries
have, in all material respects, conducted their business and operated their properties in the ordinary course of business (it being
understood that, for purposes of this Section 5.19, the taking of any action specifically permitted by the exceptions in the covenants
contained in Section 4.1 shall be deemed to be in the ordinary course of business). In addition, without limiting the generality of the
foregoing, except as set forth in Section 5.19 of the Schedules, since December 31, 2015 through the date of this Agreement, none of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries has taken or authorized any action which, if taken or authorized on or after the date hereof,
would require the consent of Parent pursuant to Section 4.1.

Section 5.20    Affiliate Transactions.  Except as set forth in Section 5.20 of the Schedules or agreements between the Company
and its wholly owned Subsidiaries, or agreements entered into between wholly owned Subsidiaries, no officer or director of the
Company or any Subsidiary of the Company, or any Affiliate or shareholder of the Company, is a party to any Contract or business
arrangement with the Company or any Subsidiary of the Company (each such Contract or business arrangement, an “Affiliate
Agreement”). Solely for the purposes of this Section 5.20 and the definition of Affiliate Agreement, Agave and each of Agave’s
Subsidiaries shall be deemed an Affiliate.

Section 5.21    Intellectual Property.

(a)    Section 5.21(a) of the Schedules sets forth a true and complete list of all (i) issued patents and (ii) filed and pending patent
applications, (iii) trademark registrations and applications, (iv) internet domain name registrations, and (v) copyright registrations, in
each case, that are owned by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (the “Registered Intellectual Property”). No Proceeding is pending
or, to knowledge of the Company, is threatened, that challenges the validity, enforceability, registration, ownership or use of any
Registered Intellectual Property.

(b)    To the knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is infringing, misappropriating,
diluting or otherwise violating, in any material respect, any third party’s Intellectual Property rights. Except as set forth in
Section 5.21(b) of the Schedules, there is no claim of any such infringement, misappropriation, dilution or violation pending or, to the
knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. To the knowledge of the Company, no third
party is infringing, misappropriating, diluting or otherwise violating the Intellectual Property owned by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries in any manner that would reasonably be expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, and
there is no such claim pending or threatened against any third party by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
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Section 5.22    Environmental Matters. Except as set forth in Section 5.22 of the Schedules:

(a)    the Company, its Subsidiaries, and the Oil and Gas Properties are in compliance in all material respects with all
Environmental Laws;

(b)    since January 1, 2012, and to the knowledge of the Company, prior to January 1, 2012, there has been no Release of any
Hazardous Material into the environment by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or otherwise with respect to the Oil and Gas
Properties that could reasonably be expected to result in any investigatory, remedial or corrective action obligation on the part of the
Company under Environmental Laws;

(c)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is subject to any unresolved judgment, consent decree or judicial order
relating to compliance with Environmental Laws (including any Permits issued pursuant thereto) or the investigation, sampling,
monitoring, treatment, remediation, removal or cleanup of Hazardous Materials (any of which, if adversely determined, would
reasonably be expected to have a material and adverse impact on the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken individually or collectively as
a single enterprise);

(d)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received any written or oral notice, report or other information
regarding any actual or alleged violation of Environmental Laws;

(e)    no Proceeding is pending, threatened in writing, or, to the knowledge of the Company, otherwise threatened, with respect
to the Company’s or its Subsidiaries’ compliance with or liability under Environmental Law;

(f)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has, either expressly or by operation of Law, assumed, retained or
undertaken any obligation to remediate a Release of Hazardous Wastes of any other Person;

(g)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written or oral notice of, and, to the knowledge of the
Company there are no, liabilities or potential liabilities of the Company or its Subsidiaries under Environmental Laws as a result of the
transportation, the storage or disposal of Hazardous Materials;

(h)    neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received written or oral notice of, and, to the knowledge of the
Company there is no, soil or groundwater contamination or potential soil or groundwater contamination, in each case, with respect to
the Oil and Gas Properties, any formerly owned, operated or leased real property of the Company or its Subsidiaries or any properties or
facilities on which the Company or its Subsidiaries has disposed of materials; and

(i)    the Company has provided or made available to Buyers copies of all reports, environmental audits, site assessments, data,
or other materials in its possession or reasonably under its control pertaining to Hazardous Materials or other environmental conditions
of the Oil and Gas Properties any formerly owned, operated or leased real property of the Company or its Subsidiaries or any properties
or facilities on which the Company or its Subsidiaries has disposed of materials.

Section 5.23    Insurance. Section 5.23 of the Schedules lists all insurance policies (by policy number, insurer, annual premium,
premium payment dates, expiration date and type of coverage) held by or on behalf of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as of the
date hereof, relating to the business, directors,
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officers, or employees of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, copies of which have been provided to the Buyers (collectively, the
“Material Insurance Policies”). As of the date of this Agreement, all premiums due through the date hereof have been paid for the
Material Insurance Policies. To the knowledge of the Company, the Material Insurance Policies are in full force and effect, enforceable
and valid and binding, subject to Enforceability Exceptions. No written notice of cancellation or termination has been received by the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries with respect to any Material Insurance Policy. Since January 1, 2014, neither the Company nor any
of its Subsidiaries has received any written notice, or, to the knowledge of the Company, any other communication, regarding any
refusal of any coverage or rejection of any pending claim under any Material Insurance Policy. To the knowledge of the Company,
there are no claims under such Material Insurance Policies that are reasonably likely to exhaust the applicable limit of liability. To the
knowledge of the Company, each of the Company and its Subsidiaries has reported in a timely manner all reportable events to its
insurers.

Section 5.24    Title to Property and Assets. The Company and its Subsidiaries have valid and marketable title to, or valid and
binding leasehold interests in (as to leases) or license interest in all of the assets (whether fixed or intangible) of the Company and its
Subsidiaries, including those reflected on the Interim Financial Statements (or acquired since the date of the Interim Financial
Statements), free and clear of any and all Liens, except for Permitted Liens, other than assets disposed of since the date of the Interim
Financial Statements in the ordinary course of business. No representation or warranty by the Company is made under this Section 5.24
with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties.

Section 5.25    Imbalances. Section 5.25 of the Schedules sets forth all of the Company’s material pipeline and production
Imbalances and associated material penalties as of the date set forth in such Section 5.25 of the Schedules.

Section 5.26    Suspense. Section 5.26 of the Schedules sets forth all revenue from the sale of Hydrocarbons produced from the
Oil and Gas Properties that is being held in suspense (including negative suspense balances) by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries
for any reason as of the date set forth in such Section 5.26 of the Schedules. To the knowledge of the Company, except as set forth on
Section 5.26 of the Schedules, no funds in excess of $100,000 to which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries may be entitled are
being held in suspense by any third party.

Section 5.27    Bonds and Credit Support. Section 5.27 of the Schedules lists all bonds, letters of credit and other similar credit
support instruments maintained by the Company and its Subsidiaries with any Governmental Authority with respect to the ownership
and operation of the Oil and Gas Properties that the Company or its Subsidiaries operate.

Section 5.28    State Takeover Laws.  No approvals are required under Takeover Laws in connection with the performance by
the Company of its obligations under this Agreement.

Section 5.29    Payments for Hydrocarbon Production. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is obligated under any
Contract for the sale of Hydrocarbons from the Oil and Gas Properties containing a take-or-pay, advance payment, production payment,
prepayment or similar provision, or, except with respect to Imbalances, under any gathering, transmission or any other Contract with
respect to any of the Oil and Gas Properties to gather, deliver, process or transport any Hydrocarbons, or proceeds from the sale thereof,
without then or thereafter receiving full payment therefor.
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Section 5.30    Compliance with Leases and Surface Rights.

(a)    Except as set forth in Section 5.30(a)(i) of the Schedules, to the knowledge of the Company, the Company and its
Subsidiaries have not breached or defaulted on in any material respects the Company Leases, including all express and implied
covenants thereunder. No written demands or notices of default or non-compliance or dispute (including those received electronically)
have been issued to or received by the Company or its Subsidiaries that remain uncured or outstanding. Except as set forth in
Section 5.30(a)(ii) of the Schedules, to the knowledge of the Company as of the date of this Agreement, all material rentals, royalties,
excess royalty, overriding royalty interests, Hydrocarbon production payments and other material payments due and payable by the
Company or its Subsidiaries to royalty holders, overriding royalty holders and other interest owners under or with respect to the Oil and
Gas Properties and the Hydrocarbons produced therefrom or attributable thereto have been timely paid in full (other than those interests
held in suspense by Seller or matters disclosed in Section 5.26 of the Schedules). Except as set forth in Section 5.30(a)(iii) of the
Schedules, to the knowledge of the Company, no Company Lease contains a most-favored nations provision. All Company Leases with
a primary term expiring on or before August 1, 2017 that are not held by production or are otherwise being perpetuated are described in
Section 5.30(a)(iv) of the Schedules.

(b)    Except as set forth in Section 5.30(b) of the Schedules, to the knowledge of the Company, neither the Company nor any of
its Subsidiaries is in breach, in any material respect, of any provision in any material easement, right-of-way, or other surface right
related to the Oil and Gas Properties that is necessary for the Company to operate with such Oil and Gas Properties in a manner
consistent with its past practices or in default with respect to the performance of any obligation under any such surface right, and, to the
knowledge of the Company, no party to any such surface right or any successor to the interest of such party has filed or has threatened
in writing to file any Proceeding to terminate, cancel, rescind or procure judicial reformation of any such Lease surface right.

Section 5.31    Plugging and Abandonment.  Except as set forth in Section 5.31 of the Schedules, (a) neither the Company nor
any of its Subsidiaries has received any written notices, claims, or demands from any Governmental Authorities to plug and abandon
any wells drilled by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries and located on the Company Leases or Company Units, (b) to the
knowledge of the Company, no such notice, claim, or demand is threatened in writing, and (c) as of the date of this Agreement, the
Company knows of no other wells required to be plugged and abandoned between August 1, 2016 and July 31, 2017.

Section 5.32    Payout. Section 5.32 of the Schedules identifies each well included in the Oil and Gas Properties that is subject to
a change of ownership at payout or other contractual trigger, the payout status thereof as of the date specified in such Schedule, and the
reduced interest of the Company therein, subject to any Permitted Encumbrances. Other than the wells identified in said Section 5.32 of
the Schedules, and other than with regard to Permitted Encumbrances, from and after the date of this Agreement (except as permitted
under Section 4.1 or Section 7.13), neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has elected or been deemed to have elected to “non-
consent”, or failed to participate in, the drilling or reworking of a well, any seismic program or any other operation which would cause
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to lose or forfeit any interests in the wells constituting part of the Oil and Gas Property under any
applicable operating agreement.

Section 5.33    Rights to Production. To the knowledge of the Company, except for (a) Imbalances and (b) calls upon or options
made by a Governmental Authority, no Person has any call upon, right to purchase, option to purchase, or similar rights with respect to
any portion of the Company or any of its
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Subsidiaries’ share of Hydrocarbons produced from the Oil and Gas Properties from and after the Effective Time.

Section 5.34    No Other Agreement to Sell.  Except with respect to the Merger Transactions, none of the Company or its
Subsidiaries has any legal obligation, absolute or contingent, to any other Person with respect to the sale, encumbrance or other transfer
of the Company or its Subsidiaries or any equity securities of any of the Company or its Subsidiaries or the business or any of the
Company or its Subsidiaries, or with respect to the effectuation of any merger, consolidation, combination, share exchange,
recapitalization, liquidation, dissolution or other reorganization involving the Company or its Subsidiaries, or to enter into any
agreement with respect thereto.

Section 5.35    No Spin-Off Liabilities.

(a)    Except as set forth in Section 5.35(a) of the Schedules, (i) as of the date of this Agreement, none of the Company, any of
its Subsidiaries, or any of their respective predecessors has paid, settled, or otherwise satisfied any “YPC Liabilities” (as such term is
defined in the Separation and Distribution Agreement) or any other claim, liability, debt or obligation to any “Agave Indemnitee” (as
such term is defined in the Separation and Distribution Agreement); (ii) neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries has received
any notice, or is otherwise aware, or has knowledge, of any claim for indemnity in connection with the Spin-Off, the Separation and
Distribution Agreement, any “Ancillary Agreement” (as such term is defined in the Separation and Distribution Agreement), any
assignment, conveyance, bill of sale, or asset transfer agreement to which Agave, any of its Affiliates (including, without limitation,
Rowdy Pipeline, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company), or any of their respective successors or assigns is a party, or any of the
transactions contemplated by any of the foregoing; and (iii) neither Agave, nor any of its Affiliates (including, without limitation,
Rowdy Pipeline, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company), nor any of their respective successors or assigns, is, to the knowledge of
the Company, entitled to make any claim related to, arising out of, or in connection with the Spin-Off, the Separation and Distribution
Agreement, any “Ancillary Agreement” (as such term is defined in the Separation and Distribution Agreement), any assignment,
conveyance, bill of sale, or asset transfer agreement, or any of the transactions contemplated by any of the foregoing. Except as set
forth in Section 5.35(b) of the Schedules, there are no “YPC Liabilities” (as such term is defined in the Separation and Distribution
Agreement) or any other liability, debt or obligation of or claim against the Company or any of its Subsidiaries related to, arising out of,
or in connection with the Spin-Off, the Separation and Distribution Agreement, any “Ancillary Agreement” (as such term is defined in
the Separation and Distribution Agreement), any assignment, conveyance, bill of sale, or asset transfer agreement to which Agave, any
of its Affiliates (including, without limitation, Rowdy Pipeline, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company), or any of their respective
successors or assigns is a party, or any of the transactions contemplated by any of the foregoing, except for liabilities and obligations
that have been discharged or paid in full prior to the date hereof.

(b)    Agave, its Affiliates (including, without limitation, Rowdy Pipeline, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company), and each
of their respective successors or assigns, were, immediately prior to and immediately following the consummation of the Spin-Off,
Solvent. As used herein, the term “Solvent” shall mean, with respect to any Person on a particular date, that on such date (i) the fair
market value of the assets of such Person is greater than the total amount of liabilities (including contingent liabilities) of such Person,
(ii) the present fair salable value of the assets of such Person is greater than the amount that will be required to pay the probable
liabilities of such Person on its debts as they become absolute and matured, (iii) such Person is able to realize upon its assets and pay its
debts and other liabilities, including contingent obligations, as they mature, and (iv) such Person does not have unreasonably small
capital in relation to the business of such Person contemplated as of the date hereof.
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Section 5.36    Valid Title.  The Company has, as of the date of the Lease Schedule, defensible title to the interests in the Oil and
Gas Properties set forth in the Lease Schedule, subject to Permitted Encumbrances.

Section 5.37    Dedications. Except as contained in the Material Contracts set forth in Section 5.11 of the Schedules, the Oil and
Gas Properties are not dedicated to, or burdened by, any purchase and sale, exchange, compression, gathering, transportation,
processing, refining, or oil, gas, or other Hydrocarbon marketing agreement.

Section 5.38    Requisite Shareholder Approval.  The only vote, consent or approval of the holders of any class or series of
capital stock or securities of the Company necessary to adopt this Agreement, the other Transaction Documents and the Merger
Transactions is the Requisite Shareholder Approval. The Company has received the Requisite Shareholder Approval, which has not
been rescinded or modified in any way.

ARTICLE VI
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND MERGER SUB

Except as set forth in Parent’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015, Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2016, Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2016,
and/or any other reports, registration statements, definitive proxy statements, information statements, forms or other documents filed
prior to the date hereof by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries subsequent to December 31, 2015 under the Securities Act, or under the
Exchange Act, in the form filed with the SEC (collectively, the “ Parent SEC Documents”) (excluding any disclosures included therein
to the extent they are cautionary, predictive or forward-looking in nature, including those in any risk factor section of such documents)
or the Schedules to this Agreement corresponding to this Article VI, Parent and Merger Sub hereby represent and warrant as of the date
of this Agreement with respect to themselves and their respective Subsidiaries to the Company, as follows:

Section 6.1    Corporate Organization. Parent has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good
standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware and has the corporate power and authority to own, operate or lease its properties and
to conduct its business as it is now being conducted. Merger Sub has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in
good standing under the Laws of the State of New Mexico and has the corporate power and authority to own, operate or lease its
properties and to conduct its business as it is now being conducted. The copies of the certificate of incorporation (or similar governing
document) of each of Parent and Merger Sub, certified by the Secretary of State of Delaware or the Secretary of State of New Mexico,
as applicable, and their bylaws, certified by the Secretary of Parent and Merger Sub, respectively, previously delivered by Parent (or
made available) to the Company, are true, correct and complete. Each of Parent and Merger Sub is duly licensed or qualified and in
good standing as a foreign corporation in all jurisdictions in which its ownership, operation or leasing of property or the character of its
activities is such as to require it to be so licensed or qualified, except where failure to be so licensed or qualified would not reasonably
be expected to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.2    Due Authorization.  Each of Parent and Merger Sub has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and
deliver this Agreement and each of the Transactions Documents to which it will be a party and to consummate the Merger Transactions.
The execution and delivery of this Agreement and, in the case of the Transaction Documents to which it will be a party, will be when
delivered, and the consummation of the Merger Transactions have been duly and validly authorized and approved by the Parent
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Board and the board of directors of Merger Sub, and no other corporate proceeding on the part of Parent or Merger Sub is necessary to
authorize this Agreement (other than the adoption of this Agreement by Parent in its capacity as the sole stockholder of Merger Sub,
which adoption will occur immediately following execution of this Agreement by Merger Sub). This Agreement has been, and upon its
execution and delivery, each of the Transaction Documents to which Parent or Merger Sub will be a party will be, duly and validly
executed and delivered by each of Parent and Merger Sub, as applicable, and, assuming this Agreement and the Transaction Documents
have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the other parties hereto or thereto, as applicable, this Agreement constitutes, and
upon its execution and delivery each of the Transaction Documents to which Parent or Merger Sub will be a party will constitute, a
legal, valid and binding obligation of each of Parent and/or Merger Sub, enforceable against Parent and/or Merger Sub in accordance
with its terms, subject to Enforceability Exceptions.

Section 6.3    No Conflict. Subject to required filings under federal and state securities laws, and assuming the other consents
and approvals contemplated by Section 5.5, Section 6.4 and Article II are obtained and assuming the consents, waivers and approvals
specified in Section 7.1 are obtained, the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the Merger
Transactions by Parent and Merger Sub do not and will not (a) except as could not reasonably be expected to constitute a Parent
Material Adverse Effect, (i) constitute a breach or violation of, or result in a default (or an event that, with notice or lapse of time or
both, would become a default) under, or result in the termination or in a right of termination or cancellation of, or accelerate the
performance required by, any note, bond, mortgage, indenture, deed of trust, lease, Contract or other instrument or obligation to which
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries or properties is subject or bound, (ii) contravene
or conflict with or constitute a material violation of any provision of any Law binding upon or applicable to Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries, or (iii) result in the creation of any Lien on any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries’ assets, (b)
constitute a breach or violation of, or a default under, the certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents of
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or (c) cause the Merger Transactions to be subject to Takeover Laws.

Section 6.4    Governmental Authorities; Consents.  Assuming the truth and completeness of the representations and warranties
of the Company contained in this Agreement, no consent, approval or authorization of, or designation, declaration or filing with, any
Governmental Authority or other Person is required on the part of Parent or Merger Sub with respect to the Buyers’ execution or
delivery of this Agreement or the consummation of the Merger Transactions, except for (a) applicable requirements of the HSR Act as
described in Section 6.4 of the Schedules, (b) any consents, approvals, authorizations, declarations or filings, the absence of which
would not reasonably be expected to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect, (c) as otherwise disclosed in Section 6.4 of the
Schedules, (d) such filings and approvals as may be required to be made or obtained under the securities or “Blue Sky” laws of various
states in connection with the issuance of New Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement, and (e) the filing of the Articles of Merger
with the Secretary of State of the State of New Mexico.

Section 6.5    Capitalization. As of the date of this Agreement (with respect to each of the following subsections of this
Section 6.5):

(a)    The authorized capital stock of Parent consists of (i) 640,000,000 shares of Parent Common Stock, and (ii) 10,000,000
shares of Preferred Stock, 3,000,000 of which have been designated as Series E Junior Participating Preferred Stock (“Parent Preferred
Stock”). There were 550,753,620 shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding as of August 31, 2016. In addition to the 550,753,620
shares of Parent Common Stock outstanding as of August 31, 2016, there are no more than an additional 15,000 shares of Parent
Common Stock in the aggregate outstanding as of the date hereof (or that will deemed outstanding as of the
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date hereof upon the processing of pending transactions under the Parent Equity Comp Plan (as defined below)), and all of such
additional shares of Parent Common Stock are in respect of grants to employees of Parent under the Parent Equity Comp Plan. All of the
issued and outstanding shares of Parent Common Stock as of the date hereof have been (or will be upon the processing of such pending
transactions under the Parent Equity Comp Plan) duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable. There are 0 shares of
Parent Preferred Stock outstanding as of the date hereof.

(b)    56,800,000 shares of Parent Common Stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the Amended and Restated EOG
Resources, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (the “Parent Equity Comp Plan”).

(c)    540,000 shares of Parent Common Stock have been reserved for issuance pursuant to the EOG Resources, Inc. 409A
Deferred Compensation Plan (the “Parent Deferral Plan”). Under the Parent Deferral Plan (as subsequently amended), payment of up
to 50% of base salary and 100% of annual cash bonus, director’s fees, vestings of restricted stock units granted to non-employee
directors (and dividends credited thereon) under the Parent Equity Comp Plan and 401(k) Refunds (as defined in the Parent Deferral
Plan) may be deferred into a phantom stock account. In the phantom stock account, deferrals are treated as if shares of Parent Common
Stock were purchased at the closing stock price on the date of deferral. As of the date hereof, 284,759 phantom shares of Parent
Common Stock had been issued.

(d)    Except as set forth in Section 6.5(d) of the Schedules, there are (i) no subscriptions, calls, Contracts, options, warrants,
rights or other securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for shares of Parent Common Stock or the equity interests of
Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, or any other agreements to which Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party or by which Parent or any
of its Subsidiaries is bound obligating Parent or any such Subsidiary to issue or sell any shares of capital stock of, other equity interests
in or debt securities of, Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, and (ii) no equity equivalents, stock appreciation rights, phantom stock
ownership interests or similar rights in Parent or any of its Subsidiaries. There are no outstanding contractual obligations of Parent or
any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any securities or equity interests of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries.
Except as set forth in Section 6.5(d) of the Schedules, none of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries is a party to any stockholders agreement,
voting agreement or registration rights agreement relating to Parent Common Stock or any other equity interests of Parent or any of its
Subsidiaries.

(e)    Except as set forth in Section 6.5(e) of the Schedules, Parent or one or more of its wholly owned Subsidiaries own of
record and beneficially all the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock or equity interests of such Subsidiaries free and clear of
any Liens other than Permitted Liens.

(f)    The shares of New Common Stock to be issued in accordance with this Agreement have been duly authorized and, when
issued, will be fully paid and non-assessable.

Section 6.6    Parent SEC Documents.

(a)    Since January 1, 2015, all reports, including but not limited to the Annual Reports on Form 10-K, the Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q and the Current Reports on Form 8-K, forms, schedules, statements, exhibits and other documents required to be filed or
furnished by Parent, with or to the SEC have been or will be timely filed or furnished in accordance with the rules and regulations of the
SEC. The Parent SEC Documents (i) complied in all material respects as to form with the applicable requirements of the Securities Act
or the Exchange Act, as the case may be, and (ii) as of its filing date in the case of an Exchange Act report and as of its effective date in
the case of any Securities Act filings, did not contain any untrue
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statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements made
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading. There are no outstanding comments from, or
unresolved issues raised by, the staff of the SEC with respect to the Parent SEC Documents. To the knowledge of Parent, no
enforcement action has been initiated against Parent relating to disclosures contained or omitted from any Parent SEC Document. The
historical financial statements of Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries contained in or incorporated by reference into any such Parent
SEC Document (including the related notes and schedules thereto) (A) comply as to form in all material respects with the applicable
accounting requirements of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and (B) fairly present in all material respects the consolidated
financial position, results of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows, as the case may be, of the entity or entities to which they
relate as of the dates or for the periods to which such financial statements relate, in each case, in accordance with GAAP consistently
applied during the periods involved, except, in each case, as may be noted therein, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments in the
case of unaudited statements. The principal executive officer and principal financial officer of Parent have made all certifications
required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, and the statements contained in any such certifications are complete and correct, and none of such
entities or its officers have, to the knowledge of Parent, received notice from any Governmental Authority questioning or challenging
the accuracy, completeness, form or manner of filing or submission of such certification.

(b)    Parent makes and keeps books, records, and accounts and has devised and maintains a system of internal controls, in each
case, as required pursuant to Section 13(b)(2) under the Exchange Act. Parent has established and maintains disclosure controls and
procedures and internal control over financial reporting (as such terms are defined in paragraphs (e) and (f), respectively, of Rule 13a-
15 under the Exchange Act) as required by Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act and the applicable listing standards of the NYSE. Such
disclosure controls and procedures are reasonably designed to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed by Parent in
the reports that it files under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in
the rules and forms of the SEC, and that all such material information is accumulated and communicated to its management as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and to make the certifications required pursuant to Sections 302 and
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Section 6.7    Litigation and Proceedings. There are no Proceedings pending before or by any Governmental Authority or, to
the knowledge of Parent, threatened, against Parent or any of its Subsidiaries that, if determined adversely, would reasonably be
expected to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect. There is no unsatisfied judgment or any open injunction binding upon Parent or
any of its Subsidiaries that could reasonably be expected to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.8    Operations of Merger Sub. Merger Sub was incorporated on August 30, 2016. Since its inception, Merger Sub has
not engaged in any activity, other than such actions in connection with (a) its organization and (b) the preparation, negotiation and
execution of this Agreement and the Merger Transactions. Merger Sub has no operations, has not generated any revenues and has no
liabilities other than those incurred in connection with the foregoing and in association with the Merger as provided in this Agreement.

Section 6.9    Brokers’ Fees. Except fees described in Section 6.9 of the Schedules (which fees shall be the sole responsibility of
Parent), no broker, finder, investment banker or other Person is entitled to any brokerage fee, finders’ fee or other commission in
connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon arrangements made by Parent or any of its Affiliates.
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Section 6.10    No Outside Reliance. Notwithstanding anything contained in this Article VI or any other provision of this
Agreement, each of Parent and Merger Sub, and any of their respective stockholders, partners, members or Representatives,
acknowledge and agree that Parent has made its own investigation of the Company and that neither the Company nor any of its
Affiliates or Representatives is making any representation or warranty whatsoever, express or implied, beyond those expressly given in
Article V or in any other Transaction Document, including any implied warranty or representation as to condition, merchantability,
suitability or fitness for a particular purpose or trade as to any of the assets of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries. Without limiting
the generality of the foregoing, it is understood that any cost estimates, financial or other projections or other predictions that may be
contained or referred to in the Schedules or elsewhere, as well as any information, documents or other materials (including any such
materials contained in any “data room” or reviewed by Parent pursuant to the Transaction Confidentiality Agreement) or management
presentations that have been or shall hereafter be provided to Parent or any of its Affiliates or Representatives are not and will not be
deemed to be representations or warranties of the Company, and no representation or warranty is made as to the accuracy or
completeness of any of the foregoing except as may be expressly set forth in this Agreement. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in
this Agreement, Parent understands and agrees that any inventory, equipment, assets, properties and business of the Company and its
Subsidiaries are furnished “as is”, “where is” and subject to the representations and warranties contained in Article V, with all faults and
without any other representation or warranty of any nature whatsoever.

Section 6.11    No Material Adverse Effect.  Since December 31, 2015 through the date of this Agreement, there has not been a
Parent Material Adverse Effect.

Section 6.12    State Takeover Laws. No approvals are required under Takeover Laws in connection with the performance by
the Buyers of their obligations under this Agreement.

Section 6.13    Offering. Assuming the accuracy of the representations and warranties of the Shareholders contained in the
Letters of Transmittal, the sale and issuance of the New Common Stock pursuant to this Agreement are exempt from the registration
requirements of the Securities Act.

Section 6.14    Independent Evaluation; Investment Interest.

(a)    Parent is an experienced and knowledgeable investor in the purchase, ownership and operation of oil and gas properties
and related facilities.

(b)    Parent acknowledges that it can bear the economic risk of its investment in the Company, and has such knowledge and
experience in financial and business matters that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of an investment in the Company.

(c)    Parent acknowledges that the Common Shares have not been registered under applicable federal and state securities Laws
and that following the Closing, its interest in the Company may not be sold, transferred, offered for sale, pledged, hypothecated or
otherwise disposed of unless such transfer, sale, assignment, pledge, hypothecation or other disposition is registered under applicable
federal and state securities Laws or pursuant to an exemption from registration under any federal or state securities Laws.

(d)    Parent is an “accredited investor” within the meaning of Rule 501 of Regulation D under the Securities Act. Parent is
acquiring the Common Shares for its own account for investment and not with a view to, or for sale or other disposition in connection
with, any distribution of all or any part thereof, except in compliance with applicable federal and state securities Laws.
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Section 6.15    Funds Available. Parent has, and will have available to it at the Effective Time, sources of capital and authorized
shares of Parent Common Stock sufficient to pay the Merger Consideration and the amounts payable pursuant to Section 3.3(e).

ARTICLE VII
COVENANTS

The Company hereby covenants to and agrees with the Buyers, and the Buyers hereby covenant to and agree with the
Company, that:

Section 7.1    Reasonable Best Efforts; Third Party Approvals.

(a)    Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the Parties shall use their reasonable best efforts in good faith
(subject to, and in accordance with, applicable Laws) to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things
necessary, proper, desirable or advisable, so as to permit and enable prompt consummation of the Merger Transactions, including (i)
using reasonable best efforts to lift or rescind any injunction or restraining order or other Order adversely affecting the ability of the
Parties to consummate the Merger Transactions, (ii) using reasonable best efforts to defend any litigation seeking to enjoin, prevent or
delay the consummation of the Merger Transactions or seeking material damages, and (iii) using reasonable best efforts to prepare all
documentation, to effect all filings, to obtain all permits, consents, approvals and authorizations of all Governmental Authorities and
third parties necessary to consummate the Merger Transactions, to comply with the terms and conditions of such permits, consents,
approvals and authorizations and to cause the Merger to be consummated as promptly as practicable. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
nothing in this Section 7.1(a) shall be construed to obligate (i) Buyers to perform any obligation contemplated herein to be fulfilled by
the Company or its Subsidiaries or (ii) the Company to perform any obligation contemplated herein to be fulfilled by Buyers.

(b)    Subject to the other terms and conditions herein provided and without limiting the foregoing, each of Parent and the
Company shall (and shall cause their respective Subsidiaries to):

(i)    consult with the Other Parties with respect to the obtaining of all material permits, consents, approvals and
authorizations of all third parties and Governmental Authorities necessary or advisable to consummate the Merger Transactions,
and each Party shall keep the Other Parties apprised of the status of material matters relating to completion of the Merger
Transactions;

(ii)    make an appropriate filing, if any, of a Notification and Report Form pursuant to the HSR Act with respect
to the Merger Transactions as promptly as practicable and advisable and in any event within 10 Business Days after the date of
this Agreement (unless a later date is mutually agreed to by the Parties) and to supply as promptly as practicable and advisable
any additional information and documentary material that may be requested by any Governmental Authority pursuant to the
HSR Act or any other Antitrust Law and, subject to Section 7.1(c), use its commercially reasonable efforts to take, or cause to be
taken (including by their respective Subsidiaries), all other actions consistent with this Section 7.1 necessary to cause the
expiration or termination of the applicable waiting periods under the HSR Act as soon as practicable (and in any event no later
than the Termination Date);

(iii)    promptly notify the Other Parties of any communication concerning this Agreement, the Merger or the
other Merger Transactions to that party from any Governmental Authority and consult with and permit the Other Party to review
in advance any proposed communication
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concerning this Agreement, the Merger or the other Merger Transactions to any Governmental Authority;

(iv)    upon request, promptly furnish the Other Parties with all information concerning itself, its Subsidiaries,
directors, officers and shareholders and such other matters as may be reasonably necessary or advisable in connection with any
required filing, notice or application made by or on behalf of such Other Party or any of such Other Party’s Subsidiaries to any
Governmental Authority in connection with the Merger Transactions; and

(v)    promptly furnish to the Other Parties copies of all correspondence, filings and communications between it
and its Affiliates and any Governmental Authority with respect to the Merger Transactions; provided, however, that materials
may be redacted as necessary to comply with contractual arrangements or to address reasonable attorney-client or other
privilege or confidentiality concerns.

(c)    Without limiting the foregoing, Parent and the Company shall take all such action as may be reasonably necessary to
resolve such objections, if any, that the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice, the Federal Trade Commission or
state antitrust enforcement authorities may assert under Antitrust Laws with respect to the Merger Transactions, and to avoid or
eliminate, and minimize the impact of, each and every impediment under Antitrust Laws that may be asserted by any Governmental
Authority with respect to the Merger so as to enable the Closing to occur as soon as reasonably possible (and in any event no later than
the Termination Date); provided, however, that nothing contained in this Agreement requires Parent or the Company or their respective
Subsidiaries to take, or cause to be taken, or agree to take, any action with respect to any of the assets, businesses or product lines of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (“Company Assets”), or of Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (including the Surviving Corporation)
(“Parent Assets”), or any combination thereof, if such action (whether taken with respect to Company Assets or Parent Assets),
individually or in the aggregate, would result in the divestiture, sale, hold separate, license or limitation of the conduct on business that,
individually or taken together, would reasonably be expected to be material and adverse to the Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a
whole, or Parent and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole.

Section 7.2    Press Releases. The Parties shall issue a joint press release with respect to the execution of this Agreement and the
Merger, which press release shall be reasonably satisfactory to Parent and the Company. Neither the Company nor Parent shall, without
the prior consent (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed) of (a) the Company, in the case of Parent,
and (b) Parent, in the case of the Company, issue any press release or written statement for general circulation relating to the Merger
Transactions, except as otherwise required by applicable Law or the rules of the NYSE, in which case it shall, to the extent practicable,
consult with the Other Party before issuing any such press release or written statement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent may
(without the prior consent of, or prior consultation with, the Company) make public statements and other public disclosures that are
consistent with the statements and disclosures included in previous press releases, other written public disclosures or oral public
statements, in each case made by Parent in compliance with this Section 7.2, including public statements and disclosures in response to
questions received by Parent from the press, analysts, investors or those attending industry conferences or analyst or investor
conference calls.

Section 7.3    Access; Information.

(a)    Upon reasonable notice and subject to applicable Laws relating to the exchange of information, the Company shall, and
shall cause its Subsidiaries to, afford the Buyers and their

48

Source: EOG RESOURCES INC, 10-Q, November 03, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



Representatives access, during normal business hours throughout the period prior to the Effective Time, to all of its properties, books,
Contracts, commitments and historical records as reasonably requested. Notwithstanding the foregoing, neither the Company nor any of
its Subsidiaries shall be required to provide access to or to disclose information to the extent such access or disclosure would jeopardize
the attorney-client privilege of the institution in possession or control of such information or contravene any Law, fiduciary duty or
binding agreement entered into prior to the date of this Agreement.

(b)    Parent shall not use any information obtained pursuant to this Section 7.3 (to which it was not entitled under Law or any
agreement other than this Agreement) for any purpose unrelated to the consummation of the Merger Transactions or the enforcement of
its rights hereunder or under any other Transaction Document, and, subject to the immediately preceding clause, shall hold all
information and documents obtained pursuant to this Section 7.3 in confidence.

Section 7.4    Acquisition Proposals.

(a)    The Company shall, and shall cause its Subsidiaries, and shall use reasonable best efforts to cause its Representatives, to,
(i) immediately cease and terminate any solicitation, encouragement, discussions or negotiations with any Person that may be ongoing
with respect to or that could reasonably be expected to lead to an Acquisition Proposal, and (ii) request, and use good faith efforts to
cause, each such Person to promptly return or destroy all confidential information concerning the Company and its Subsidiaries.

(b)    The Company shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries, and shall use reasonable best efforts to cause its Representatives,
not to, directly or indirectly, (i) initiate, solicit, knowingly encourage or facilitate (including by way of furnishing information) any
inquiries regarding, or the making or submission of any proposal or offer that constitutes, or may reasonably be expected to lead to, an
Acquisition Proposal, (ii) conduct or participate in any discussions or negotiations regarding any Acquisition Proposal, or (iii) furnish to
any Person any non-public information or data relating to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or afford access to the business,
properties, assets, or, except as and to the extent required by Law, the Company Articles of Incorporation or the Company Bylaws,
books or records of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

Section 7.5    Takeover Laws . Neither the Company nor Parent shall take any action that would cause the Merger Transactions
to be subject to requirements imposed by any Takeover Laws, and each of them shall take all necessary steps within its control to
exempt (or ensure the continued exemption of) the Merger Transactions from, or if necessary challenge the validity or applicability of,
any applicable Takeover Law, as now or hereafter in effect, including Takeover Laws of any state that purport to apply to this
Agreement or the Merger Transactions.

Section 7.6    No Rights Triggered. The Company shall take all reasonable steps necessary to ensure that the entering into of
this Agreement and the consummation of the Merger Transactions and any other action or combination of actions do not and will not
result in the grant of any Rights to any Person under the Company Articles of Incorporation, the Company Bylaws or under any
material agreement to which it or any of its Subsidiaries is a party.

Section 7.7    New Common Stock Listed. Parent shall use its reasonable best efforts to have approval for listing, prior to the
Closing, on the NYSE, upon official notice of issuance, the New Common Stock.
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Section 7.8    Indemnification; Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance.

(a)    From and after the Effective Time, Parent shall cause the Company or one or more applicable Subsidiaries thereof to
indemnify and hold harmless each present and former director and officer of the Company and any of its Subsidiaries against any costs
or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines, losses, claims, damages or liabilities actually incurred by such
Person in connection with any Proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative, to the extent arising out of or
pertaining to matters existing or occurring at or prior to the Effective Time, whether asserted or claimed prior to, at or after the Effective
Time, to the fullest extent that the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, as the case may be, would have been permitted under applicable
Law and its respective certificate of incorporation, bylaws or other organizational documents and agreements in effect on the date of
this Agreement to indemnify such person (including the advancing of expenses as incurred to the fullest extent permitted under
applicable Law, subject to the receipt by Parent of an undertaking (in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Parent) to repay
such expenses if it shall ultimately be determined such Person is not so entitled to indemnification). Without limiting the foregoing,
(i) Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation and each of its Subsidiaries (A) to maintain for a period of not less than six years from
the Effective Time provisions in its certificate of incorporation, bylaws and other organizational documents or agreements concerning
the indemnification and exoneration (including provisions relating to expense advancement) of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’
former and current officers, directors, employees and agents that are no less favorable to those Persons than the provisions of the
certificates of incorporation, bylaws and other organizational documents and agreements of the Company or such Subsidiary, as
applicable, in each case, as of the date of this Agreement, and (B) not to amend, repeal or otherwise modify such provisions in any
respect that would adversely affect the rights of those Persons thereunder, in each case, except as required by Law, and (ii) Parent
agrees that the covenants contained in this Section 7.8 are intended to be for the benefit of, and shall be enforceable by, each of the
current and former directors and officers specified in this Section 7.8 and their respective heirs. Parent shall assume, and be jointly and
severally liable for, and shall cause the Company and its Subsidiaries to honor, each of the covenants in this Section 7.8.

(b)    Parent shall cause the Surviving Corporation to purchase on or prior to the Closing a directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance policy covering, for a period of six years from the Effective Time (the “Tail Insurance Policy”), those Persons who are
currently covered by the Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ directors’ and officers’ liability insurance policies (true, correct and
complete copies of which have been heretofore made available to Parent or its Representatives) on terms not materially less favorable
than the terms of such current insurance coverage; provided, however, that (i) Parent or the Surviving Corporation may cause coverage
to be extended under the current directors’ and officers’ liability insurance by obtaining a six-year “tail” policy containing terms not
materially less favorable than the terms of such current insurance coverage with respect to claims existing or occurring at or prior to the
Effective Time, (ii) if any claim is asserted or made within such six-year period, any insurance required to be maintained under this
Section 7.8 shall be continued in respect of such claim until the final disposition thereof, and (iii) the Surviving Corporation shall not be
required to pay annual premiums from the Tail Insurance Policy in excess of 300% of the current premium but shall be required to
purchase the maximum amount of coverage that can be obtained for that amount if the coverage described in this Section 7.8(b) would
be in excess of that amount.

(c)    Notwithstanding anything contained in this Agreement to the contrary, this Section 7.8 shall survive the consummation of
the Merger indefinitely and shall be binding, jointly and severally, on all successors and assigns of Parent and the Surviving
Corporation. In the event that Parent or the Surviving Corporation or any of their respective successors or assigns consolidates with or
merges into any other Person and shall not be the continuing or surviving corporation or entity of such consolidation or merger or
transfers or conveys all or substantially all of its properties and assets to any Person, then, and in each such case,
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proper provision shall be made so that the successors and assigns of Parent or the Surviving Corporation, as the case may be, shall
succeed to the obligations set forth in this Section 7.8.

Section 7.9    Notification of Certain Matters. Each of the Company and Parent shall give prompt notice to the other of (a) any
fact, event or circumstance known to it that (i) could reasonably be expected, individually or taken together with all other facts, events
and circumstances known to it, to result in (A) in the case of the Company, any Company Material Adverse Effect (it being understood
that the notice contemplated by this clause (a)(i)(A) would be given by the Company and not Parent) or (B) with respect to Parent, a
Parent Material Adverse Effect (it being understood that the notice contemplated by this clause (a)(i)(B) would be given by Parent and
not the Company), or (ii) could cause or constitute a material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements
contained herein, and (b) (i) any change in its financial condition or business that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result
in, (A) with respect to the Company, a Company Material Adverse Effect (it being understood that the notice contemplated by this
clause (b)(i)(A) would be given by the Company and not Parent) or (B) with respect to Parent, a Parent Material Adverse Effect (it being
understood that the notice contemplated by this clause (b)(i)(B) would be given by Parent and not the Company), or (ii) any
Proceedings or governmental complaints, investigations or hearings, to the extent such Proceedings, complaints, investigations, or
hearings relate to this Agreement or the Merger Transactions or result in (A) with respect to the Company, a Company Material Adverse
Effect (it being understood that the notice contemplated by this clause (b)(ii)(A) would be given by the Company and not Parent) or (B)
with respect to Parent, a Parent Material Adverse Effect (it being understood that the notice contemplated by this clause (b)(ii)(B) would
be given by Parent and not the Company). The notifications contemplated by this Section 7.9 shall not derogate from any rights or
remedies hereunder or under any other Transaction Document of the Person receiving such notification.

Section 7.10    Employee Matters.

(a)    With respect to each employee who is employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries immediately prior to the
Effective Time and who remains employed by the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or becomes an employee of Parent or any Parent
Affiliate, including the Surviving Corporation (the “Continuing Employees”), Parent shall: (i) cause all existing employment agreements
between the Company (or the applicable Subsidiary thereof) and such Continuing Employees (including at-will agreements that may be
terminated with or without notice and with or without liability to the Company or any of its Subsidiaries) to be honored or, (ii) in the
absence of such existing employment agreements, set or cause the applicable employing entity to set the annual base salaries (or hourly
wages, as applicable) for the Continuing Employees at the same levels that existed for the Continuing Employees immediately prior to
the Effective Time for a period of 12 months after the Closing Date; provided, however, that such salary for a Continuing Employee
may be reduced if mutually agreed to by the Continuing Employee and Parent. Parent shall provide or cause to be provided other
employee benefits to the Continuing Employees that are substantially comparable in the aggregate to the benefits made available to
such Continuing Employees immediately prior to the Closing Date for a period of 12 months after the Closing Date. Nothing in this
Section 7.10(a) shall be read to constitute a contract of employment or a guarantee of employment or future level of compensation or
future employee benefits to any Continuing Employee or shall be deemed to limit the right of Parent or any Parent Affiliate to change,
modify or terminate any Company Benefit Plan or arrangement in accordance with its terms. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in this Agreement, for a period of 12 months after the Closing Date, Continuing Employee shall be eligible for equity grants under the
Parent Equity Comp Plan based on the applicable Continuing Employee’s position and level of total compensation compared to
similarly situated employees of Parent and its Subsidiaries. For a period of 12 months after the Closing Date, Continuing Employees
shall be eligible to participate in any annual cash incentive programs maintained by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries based on the
applicable Continuing Employee’s position and level of
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total compensation compared to similarly situated employees of Parent and its Subsidiaries; provided, however, that, with respect to any
annual cash incentive for 2016, Continuing Employees shall only be eligible for a pro-rated amount for the period from the Closing
Date through December 31, 2016.

(b)    Except as set forth below in this Section 7.10(b), immediately following the Closing Date, a Continuing Employee shall
become eligible to participate in the employee benefit plans maintained by Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, including the EOG
Resources, Inc. Savings and Retirement Plan, (each, a “New Benefit Plan”) as determined by the Parent, to the extent such Continuing
Employee meets the eligibility requirements of such New Benefit Plan. From the Closing Date through December 31, 2016, Continuing
Employees shall continue to participate in the group health, dental, vision, disability, or life Company Benefit Plans in which such
Continuing Employees participate immediately prior to the Effective Time. To the extent feasible, Parent intends to terminate the health
or welfare Company Benefit Plans effective as of December 31, 2016. After the termination of such Company Benefit Plans, a
Continuing Employee shall become eligible to participate in the New Benefit Plans providing health or welfare benefits as determined
by the Parent, to the extent such Continuing Employee meets the eligibility requirements of such New Benefit Plan and subject to the
last sentence of Section 7.10(c).

(c)    To the extent that a Continuing Employee becomes eligible to participate in a New Benefit Plan, Parent shall cause such
New Benefit Plan, including the EOG Resources, Inc. Savings and Retirement Plan to recognize the service of such Continuing
Employee with the Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or their predecessor entities) for purposes of eligibility, participation, vesting
and, except with respect to any defined benefit pension plan, contributions under such New Benefit Plan, to the same extent such
service was recognized immediately prior to the Effective Time under a comparable Company Benefit Plan in which such Continuing
Employee was eligible to participate immediately prior to the Effective Time; provided that such recognition of service shall not operate
to duplicate any benefits of a Continuing Employee with respect to the same period of service. With respect to any New Benefit Plan
that is a health, dental, vision plan or other welfare plan in which any Continuing Employee is eligible to participate, Parent shall use
commercially reasonable efforts to cause any pre-existing condition limitations, actively-at-work requirements or eligibility waiting
periods under such New Benefit Plan to be waived with respect to such Continuing Employee to the extent such limitation would have
been inapplicable, waived or satisfied under the Company Benefit Plan in which such Continuing Employee participated immediately
prior to the Effective Time.

(d)    Effective no later than immediately prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall freeze any Company Benefit Plan that is
intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code such that no employee shall be eligible to participate in such Company
Benefit Plan and no additional contributions shall be made to such Company Benefit Plan for any payroll period that begins on or after
the Closing Date. Effective as of the date immediately following the Closing Date, the Company shall adopt the EOG Resources, Inc.
Savings and Retirement Plan on behalf of each Continuing Employee who immediately prior to the Effective Time participated in a
Company Benefit Plan that is intended to be qualified within the meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code and that contains a feature
meeting the requirements of Section 401(k) of the Code and for each employee hired by the Company thereafter on the same terms as
the employees of the Parent or Parent’s Affiliates who participate in the EOG Resources, Inc. Savings and Retirement Plan. No later
than the day immediately preceding the Closing Date, the Company shall provide Buyer with evidence that any Company Benefit Plan
that is intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code has been frozen as required under this Section 7.10(d). Parent shall
cause the EOG Resources, Inc. Savings and Retirement Plan to recognize the service of such Continuing Employee with the Company
or any of its Subsidiaries (or their predecessor entities) for purposes of eligibility, participation, vesting and benefit accrual to the same
extent such service was recognized immediately prior to the Effective Time under a comparable
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Company Benefit Plan in which such Continuing Employee was eligible to participate immediately prior to the Effective Time.

(e)    Effective no later than immediately prior to the Effective Time, the Company shall terminate any Company Benefit Plans
maintained by the Company that Buyer has requested to be terminated, including but not limited to any bonus plan or long-term
incentive plan, by providing written notice to the Company at least thirty (30) days prior to the Closing Date, and no amounts shall be
payable under such terminated Company Benefit Plans at any time after the Effective Time (except for any payment or benefit payable
as a result of the consummation of the Merger Transactions as listed on Annex G to this Agreement), provided that such Company
Benefit Plans can be terminated in accordance with their terms and applicable Law without any adverse consequences with respect to
any employee benefit plan maintained by the Company or by any of the Company’s ERISA Affiliates. No later than the day
immediately preceding the Closing Date, the Company shall provide Buyer with evidence that such Company Benefit Plans have been
or will be, contingent upon the Closing of this Agreement, terminated.

(f)    Prior to December 31, 2016, the Continuing Employees shall be permitted to use all accrued unused vacation existing
before the Effective Time. The Continuing Employees shall also be permitted to roll up to 40 hours (or more hours if necessary for
unavoidable business needs) of accrued unused vacation remaining as of December 31, 2016 into the next calendar year to be used in
2017 in accordance with the then-current vacation policy of Parent. Effective January 1, 2017, Continuing Employees shall also
become eligible to participate in the EOG Resources, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan and shall accrue vacation based on the then-
current vacation policy of Parent and in accordance with the Continuing Employee’s service awarded under Section 7.10(c).

(g)    Effective January 1, 2017, the Continuing Employees shall become eligible to participate in the EOG Resources, Inc.
Retiree Health Plan, and Parent shall cause such Retiree Health Plan to recognize the service of each Continuing Employee with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries (or their predecessor entities) for purposes of eligibility, participation, vesting and contributions
under such Retiree Health Plan.

(h)    The provisions of this Section 7.10 are for the sole benefit of the Parties and nothing herein, expressed or implied, is
intended or shall be construed to confer upon or give to any Person (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Continuing Employee
or other current or former employee of the Company or any of its Affiliates), other than the Parties and their respective permitted
successors and assigns, any legal or equitable or other rights or remedies (including with respect to the matters provided for in this
Section 7.10) under or by reason of any provision of this Agreement. Nothing in this Section 7.10 amends, or shall be deemed to
amend (or prevent the amendment or termination of) any Company Benefit Plan or New Benefit Plan. Except to comply with existing
employment agreements between the Company (or the applicable Subsidiary thereof) and Continuing Employees, Parent (i) has no
obligation to continue to employ or retain the services of any Continuing Employee for any period of time following the Effective Time,
and (ii) shall be entitled to modify any compensation or benefits provided to, and any other terms or conditions of employment of, any
such employees in its absolute discretion.

Section 7.11    Updating. From the date of this Agreement until two Business Days prior to Closing, the Company may from
time to time, by written notice to Parent, supplement or amend the Company Schedules with a corresponding reference to be added in
this Agreement to disclose any matter, to the extent the facts and circumstances related to such matter arose after the date hereof (each,
a “Schedule Supplement”) that, had such additional matters existed or occurred on or prior to the date hereof, would have been required
to be set forth or described in the Company Schedules delivered to Parent on the date of this Agreement in order to make the
representations and warranties true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of
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the Effective Time; provided, however, that any Schedule Supplement shall be limited to events or developments actually occurring
after the date hereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining whether the conditions set forth in Section 8.2 have
been fulfilled, any Schedule Supplement shall be disregarded, and the Company Schedules shall be deemed to include only that
information contained therein on the date hereof and shall be deemed to exclude all information contained in any Schedule Supplement.
Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Schedule Supplement shall be permitted with respect to Section 4.1 of the
Schedules.

Section 7.12    Contact with Customers, Suppliers and Other Business Relations. During the period from the date of this
Agreement until the earlier of the Closing Date or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, the Buyers hereby
agree that they are not authorized to and shall not (and shall not permit any of their respective Representatives or Affiliates to) contact
any employee (excluding executive officers that have actual knowledge of this Agreement and the Merger Transactions), customer,
supplier, distributor or other material business relation of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries regarding the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, their respective businesses or the Merger Transactions without the prior written consent of the Company, which consent
shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.

Section 7.13    Operation of the Oil and Gas Properties.

(a)    Between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date (the “Interim Period”), the Company shall (and shall cause its
Subsidiaries to) use commercially reasonable efforts to:

(i)    maintain the Oil and Gas Properties in the ordinary course of business (but without obligation of the Company or
the Subsidiaries to drill (or participate in the drilling of) any wells, or spend any material amounts or sums) and with regard to
those Oil and Gas Properties operated by the Company or the Subsidiaries, operate such Oil and Gas Properties operated by the
Company or its Subsidiaries as a reasonably prudent operator in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;

(ii)    pay or cause to be paid all bonuses and rentals, royalties, overriding royalties, shut-in royalties, and minimum
royalties and development and operating expenses, ad valorem, property, excise, severance, production or similar taxes, and
other payments incurred with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties allocable to the Interim Period except (i) revenues held in
suspense as a result of title issues and that do not give any third party a right to cancel an interest in a Company Lease, and (ii)
expenses or royalties being contested in good faith by appropriate Proceedings, unless the nonpayment of such contested
expenses or royalties could result in the termination of a Company Lease;

(iii)    maintain the books of account and records relating to the Oil and Gas Properties in the usual, regular, and ordinary
manner, in accordance with the usual accounting practices of the Company;  

(iv)    furnish Parent with copies of all drilling, completion and workover authorities for expenditure within three days
after receipt from third parties or generation by the Company or its Subsidiaries during the Interim Period, provided, however, if
the applicable response period required in connection with any such item is less than two days, then the Company shall furnish
such item to Parent upon receipt;

54

Source: EOG RESOURCES INC, 10-Q, November 03, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



(v)    promptly notify Parent of any material destruction of the Oil and Gas Properties or of any written notice received
by the Company or its Subsidiaries of any claim, demand, suit, or Proceeding with respect to the Oil and Gas Properties;

(vi)    consult with Parent regarding drilling and completion operations on the Oil and Gas Properties;

(vii)    continue to make all rental, renewal and extension payments due during the Interim Period which are required to
perpetuate, renew and extend the Company Leases;

(viii)    maintain in force all of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’ excess liability, workers compensation, auto liability,
property and casualty, and well control insurance policies in the amounts and with the coverages currently maintained by the
Company and its Subsidiaries covering the Oil and Gas Properties; and

(ix)    maintain all existing Permits and bonds necessary to own and operate affecting the Oil and Gas Properties
currently operated by Company, in accordance with the past practices of the Company.

(b)    Similarly, between the date of this Agreement and the Closing Date, the Company shall not (and shall cause its
Subsidiaries not to), without the Parent’s consent:

(i)    abandon any Oil and Gas Property (except the abandonment of Company Leases after the expiration of their
primary terms, or which are subject to rights of reassignment or release, except with regard to application of any non-consent
penalties, and except with regard to wells, pipelines or facilities that are required to be immediately abandoned or
decommissioned under applicable law);

(ii)    except for those described in Section 4.1 of the Schedules, commence, propose, or agree to participate in any
single operation with respect to the Company Leases or wells located thereon which would involve (net to the Company’s
interest) $250,000 or more except for emergency operations;

(iii)    terminate, cancel, or materially amend or modify any Company Lease;

(iv)    enter into any Contract that, if entered into on or prior to the date of this Agreement, would be required to be listed
on Section 5.11(a) of the Schedules or materially amend or change the terms of any Material Contract;

(v)    voluntarily waive or release any material right with respect to any Oil and Gas Property or relinquish the
Company’s or any of its Subsidiaries’ position as operator of any Oil and Gas Property; or

(vi)    commit to do any of the foregoing;

provided, however, that if the Company is obligated under Section 7.13(a) to take any action restricted pursuant to Section 7.13(b), then
Parent shall be deemed to have given consent to such action; provided, further, that if the Company requests in writing the consent of
Parent pursuant to Section 7.13, Parent shall
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respond to the Company in writing within three days after receipt of such request, and the failure of Parent to timely respond shall be
deemed to be Parent’s consent to such action.

Section 7.14    Use of Company Names and Marks.

(a)    The Parties acknowledge and agree that the Company Names and Marks shall be transferred and assigned by the Company
to Shareholder Holdco in connection with the Closing and pursuant to this Agreement and the IP Assignment Agreement. Parent agrees
that that as soon as practicable following the Closing, but in no event later than 90 days after the Closing, Parent shall, and shall cause
the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries to, cease and permanently discontinue any and all uses of any of the Company Names
and Marks and any colorable imitations thereof, and remove or cover all Company Names and Marks from, or destroy, any
publications, signage, corporate letterhead, invoices, stationery, business cards, marketing materials, website content or other materials
in the Surviving Corporation’s possession or under its control bearing any of the Company Names and Marks, and provide Shareholder
Holdco with written confirmation thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Parent shall have a period of up to seven months from the
Closing to cause the Surviving Corporation and its Subsidiaries to permanently remove any Company Names and Marks on oil wells,
gas wells, water wells, CO2 wells, injection wells or similar assets of the Surviving Corporation.

(b)    In no event shall Parent or any of its Affiliates use any Company Names and Marks after the Closing in any manner or for
any purpose different from the use of such Company Names and Marks by the Company preceding the Closing, and neither Parent nor
any of its Affiliates shall affix any Company Names and Marks or any colorable imitations thereof on any publications, signage,
corporate letterhead, invoices, stationery, business cards, marketing materials, website content or other materials that are created or
produced after the Closing.

(c)    Parent expressly acknowledges and confirms that Parent shall not receive, any right, title or interest in or to the Company
Names and Marks, except the limited right to use the Company Names and Marks for the sole purpose of permitting Parent to complete
the phase out of such use in strict compliance with this Section 7.14.

Section 7.15    Termination of Hedging Arrangements . On and after the date hereof, the Company shall, and shall cause each
of its Subsidiaries to, (i) terminate, settle or otherwise close-out any financial commodity derivative instrument or other financial
commodity hedging transaction to which the Company or such Subsidiary is a party (including, but not limited to, any such instrument
or transaction entered into under, and governed by, an ISDA or other similar agreement) (each such instrument or transaction, a
“Hedge”), (ii) thereupon promptly notify Parent in writing of the terms of such termination, settlement or close-out, including the
amount of any cash settlement (payment or receipt) associated therewith, (iii) withdraw, rescind or otherwise terminate any outstanding
order, offer or negotiation with respect to any proposed new Hedge and (iv) take such other reasonable actions as Parent may request in
writing with respect to any Hedge. The termination, settlement and close-out transactions contemplated by the foregoing sentence shall
be completed by the Company or its Subsidiary (as the case may be), and the related notification of the terms thereof and the
notification of the amount of any cash settlement associated therewith shall be provided to Parent, in each case, on or before the Closing
Date. In furtherance of the foregoing, set forth on Section 7.15 of the Schedules is information regarding the ISDAs and the Hedges to
which the Company or any of its Subsidiaries is currently a party. As used in this Section 7.15, “ISDA” means an International Swap
Dealers Association Master Agreement.
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Section 7.16    Transition of Bank / Investment Accounts . The Company and each of its Subsidiaries shall deliver to each bank
or other financial institution, with which the Company or any Company Subsidiary has a demand deposit, time deposit, checking,
disbursement, savings, investment, brokerage or other account (each such bank or other financial institution, a “Company Bank”),
written instructions and any supporting documentation (as may be required by such bank or other financial institution) providing for
such changes in (i) the authorized signatories in respect of each such account and (ii) the persons authorized to effect transactions and
otherwise give instructions in respect of each such account, in each case (1) as is reasonably directed in writing by Parent and (2) with
such changes to be effective as of the Effective Time. The Company shall, reasonably in advance of the Closing (but not later than ten
(10) days prior to the Closing), specify in writing to Parent each such account and the name of the corresponding Company Bank.

Section 7.17    Taxes.

(a)    Prior to the Effective Time each of Parent, the Company and their respective Affiliates shall use its reasonable best efforts
to cause the Merger to qualify as a reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(2)(E) of the Code and shall not take any action
reasonably likely to cause the Merger not to qualify.  This Agreement is intended to constitute a “plan of reorganization” within the
meaning of the Treasury Regulation Section 1.368-2(g).

(b)    From the Effective Time until the first anniversary of the Effective Time, (i) Surviving Corporation will not dispose of or
sell 50% or more of the Company’s former assets held immediately prior to the Merger, and in the event that any of Company’s former
assets are sold by the Surviving Corporation after the Effective Time, the cash proceeds of such sale will be deployed by the Surviving
Corporation in a manner consistent with Revenue Ruling 2001-25, 2001-1 C.B. 1291; (ii) no former assets of Merger Sub held
immediately prior to the Merger, if any, will be sold or disposed of by Surviving Corporation; and (iii) Surviving Corporation will not
transfer any of the former assets of Company held by it immediately prior to the Merger except for transfers and distributions described
in Treas. Reg. § 1.368-2(k) and except for sales described in (i) above; and (iv) Parent and its Affiliates shall not liquidate Surviving
Corporation (which shall include, treating the Surviving Corporation after the Effective Time as anything other than as an association
taxable as a corporation for federal income tax purposes).

(c)    Parent, the Surviving Corporation and their respective Affiliates will at all times after the Effective Time take the position
that the Merger is a tax-free reorganization within the meaning of Section 368(a)(2)(E) of the Code on all Tax Returns and in all Tax-
related proceedings, except to the extent otherwise required by applicable Tax Law.

(d)    The Parties do not expect any Transfer Taxes to be due and owing by any of the Parent, Surviving Corporation, Merger
Sub and their respective Affiliates as a result of this Agreement and the Merger, but to the extent Transfer Taxes are owing, such
Transfer Taxes, whether levied on Parent, the Surviving Corporation, Merger Sub or their respective Affiliates, shall be borne 100% by
Parent and, in furtherance thereof, the Parties shall, and shall cause their respective Affiliates to, reasonably cooperate in order to
minimize any such Transfer Taxes and in connection with filing any Tax Returns, if any, with respect thereto, and Parent shall file all
necessary Tax Returns and other documentation with respect to any such Transfer Taxes.
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ARTICLE VIII
CONDITIONS TO CONSUMMATION OF THE MERGER

Section 8.1    Conditions to Obligations of Parent, Merger Sub and the Company. The obligations of Parent, Merger Sub and
the Company to consummate, or cause to be consummated, the Merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions, any
one or more of which may be waived (if legally permitted) in writing by all Parties.

( a )    Regulatory Approval. Any waiting period applicable to the Merger Transactions under the HSR Act shall have been
terminated or shall have expired.

( b )    Governmental Approvals. All filings required to be made prior to the Effective Time with, and all other consents,
approvals, permits and authorizations required to be obtained prior to the Effective Time from, any Governmental Authority in
connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the Merger Transactions by the Parties or their
Affiliates shall have been made or obtained, except where the failure to obtain such consents, approvals, permits and authorizations
could not be reasonably likely to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect or Parent Material Adverse Effect; provided, however,
that, prior to invoking this condition, the invoking Party shall have complied fully with its obligations under Section 7.1.

(c )    No Injunction. No Order of any court or agency of competent jurisdiction shall be in effect, and no Law shall have been
enacted or adopted, that enjoins, prohibits or makes illegal consummation of any of the Merger Transactions, and no Proceeding by any
Governmental Authority with respect to the Merger or the other Merger Transactions shall be pending that seeks to restrain, enjoin,
prohibit or delay consummation of the Merger or such other Merger Transaction or to impose any material restrictions or requirements
thereon or on Parent or the Company with respect thereto; provided, however, that, prior to invoking this condition, the invoking Party
shall have complied fully with its obligations under Section 7.1.

Section 8.2    Additional Conditions to Obligations of Parent and Merger Sub. The obligations of Parent and Merger Sub to
consummate, or cause to be consummated, the Merger are subject to the satisfaction of the following additional conditions, any one or
more of which may be waived in writing by Parent and Merger Sub:

(a)    Each of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in this Agreement (without giving effect to any
“Company Material Adverse Effect” or other materiality qualification therein), other than the representations and warranties set forth in
Section 5.1, Section 5.2, Section 5.3, Section 5.6, and Section 5.19 shall be true and correct as of the date of this Agreement and as of
the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that time, except (i) with respect to representations and warranties which speak as to an
earlier date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct at and as of such date, (ii) as contemplated or permitted by
this Agreement, and (iii) in each case, any inaccuracy or omission that would not reasonably be expected to constitute a Company
Material Adverse Effect.

(b)    The representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 5.19 shall be true and correct as of the date of
this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that time.

(c)    Each of the representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 5.1, Section 5.2, and Section 5.3 shall be
true and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that
time, except to the extent that any such
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representation and warranty speaks expressly as of an earlier date, in which case such representation and warranty shall be true and
correct as of such earlier date.

(d)    The representations and warranties of the Company contained in Section 5.6 shall be true and correct in all respects
(except for any de minimis inaccuracies) as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that
time, except (i) to the extent that any such representation and warranty speaks expressly as of an earlier date, in which case such
representation and warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date.

(e)    Each of the covenants of the Company to be performed as of or prior to the Closing shall have been performed in all
material respects.

(f)    Parent shall have received the opinion of Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP, counsel to the Parent and Merger Sub, or
in the event Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP is unable to deliver the below described opinion, another nationally or comparably
reputable law firm or accounting firm reasonably acceptable to the Company, dated the Closing Date, a copy of which shall have been
furnished to the Company, to the effect that the Merger will not impact the tax-free status of the Spin-Off by reason of Section 355(e) of
the Code (such opinion, the “Parent Section 355(e) Tax Opinion”). In rendering the Parent Section 355(e) Tax Opinion, Akin Gump
Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP, or any other law firm or accounting firm issuing the opinion, shall be entitled to receive and rely upon the
reasonable representations of officers of the Company and Parent. Parent shall use reasonable efforts to cause Akin Gump Strauss
Hauer & Feld LLP, or any other law firm or accounting firm issuing the opinion, to render the Parent Section 355(e) Tax Opinion or to
indicate in writing as soon as practicable after the execution of this Agreement as to which facts specific to the Merger preclude it from
providing such opinion. Parent shall promptly advise Company of its receipt of the Parent Section 355(e) Tax Opinion or other written
indication.

Section 8.3    Additional Conditions to Obligations of the Company. The obligation of the Company to consummate the Merger
is subject to the satisfaction of the following additional conditions, any one or more of which may be waived in writing by the
Company:

(a)    Each of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in this Agreement (without giving effect to
any materiality qualification therein), other than the representations and warranties set forth in Section 6.1, Section 6.2 and Section 6.11,
shall be true and correct in all respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that
time, except (i) with respect to representations and warranties which speak as to an earlier date, which representations and warranties
shall be true and correct at and as of such date, and (ii) in each case, any inaccuracy or omission that would not reasonably be expected
to constitute a Parent Material Adverse Effect.

(b)    The representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in Section 6.11 shall be true and correct as of the
date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that time.

(c)    Each of the representations and warranties of Parent and Merger Sub contained in Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 shall be true
and correct in all material respects as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing Date, as if made anew at and as of that time,
except to the extent that any such representation and warranty speaks expressly as of an earlier date, in which case such representation
and warranty shall be true and correct as of such earlier date.
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(d)    Each of the covenants of Parent and Merger Sub to be performed as of or prior to the Closing shall have been performed in
all material respects.

(e)    The New Common Stock shall have been approved for listing on the NYSE, subject to official notice of issuance.

(f)    The Company shall have received the opinion of Thompson & Knight LLP, counsel to the Company, or in the event
Thompson & Knight LLP is unable to deliver the below described opinion, another nationally or comparably reputable law firm or
accounting firm reasonably acceptable to Parent, dated the Closing Date, a copy of which shall have been furnished to Parent, to the
effect that (i) the Merger will qualify as a reorganization under Section 368(a) of the Code and (ii) no gain or loss will be recognized for
United States federal income tax purposes by the Company or the Shareholders pursuant to the Merger (except with respect to
consideration other than shares of New Common Stock received by the Shareholders pursuant to this Agreement) (such opinion, the
“Company Tax Opinion”). In rendering the Company Tax Opinion, Thompson & Knight LLP, or any other law firm or accounting firm
that is issuing the opinion, shall be entitled to receive and rely upon the representations of officers of the Company attached hereto as
Schedule 8.3(f)(i) and Parent attached hereto as Schedule 8.3(f)(ii). The Company shall use reasonable efforts to cause Thompson &
Knight LLP, or any other law firm or accounting firm that is issuing the opinion, to render the Company Tax Opinion or to indicate in
writing as soon as practicable after the execution of this Agreement as to which facts specific to the Merger preclude it from providing
such opinion. The Company shall promptly advise Parent of its receipt of the Company Tax Opinion or other written indication.

Section 8.4    Frustration of Closing Conditions. No Party may rely on the failure of any condition set forth in this Article VIII
to be satisfied if such failure was caused by such Party’s failure to act in good faith or to use its reasonable best efforts to cause the
Closing to occur, as and to the extent required by Section 7.1.

ARTICLE IX
TERMINATION

Section 9.1    Termination. This Agreement may be terminated and the Merger Transactions may be abandoned at any time
prior to the Effective Time:

(a)    by mutual written consent of the Company and Parent;

(b)    by either the Company or Parent:

(i)    if the consummation of any of the Merger Transactions is permanently enjoined, prohibited or otherwise restrained
by the terms of a final, non-appealable Order of a court of competent jurisdiction, or if there shall be adopted any Law that
makes consummation of the Merger Transactions illegal or otherwise prohibited; provided, however, that the right to terminate
this Agreement under this Section 9.1(b)(i) shall not be available to (A) any Party whose failure to comply with any covenant or
agreement under this Agreement in all material respects has been the cause of, or resulted in, the action or event described in
this Section 9.1(b)(i) occurring or (B) any Party that has not used its reasonable best efforts in accordance with Section 7.1 to
remove or reverse any such Order;

(ii)    if the Merger shall not have been consummated on or before November 15, 2016 (the “Termination Date”);
provided, however, that the right to terminate this Agreement under this
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Section 9.1(b)(ii) shall not be available to any Party whose failure to comply with any covenant or agreement under this
Agreement in all material respects has been the cause of, or resulted in, the failure of the Merger to be consummated on or
before such date; or

(iii)    in the event of a breach by the Other Party of any representation, warranty, covenant or other agreement contained
in this Agreement that would give rise to the failure of a condition set forth in Section 8.2 or Section 8.3, as applicable (a
“Terminable Breach”), if it was continuing as of the Closing Date, except that, if such Terminable Breach is curable, then, for a
period of up to 30 days after receipt by the breaching Party of notice from the non-breaching Party of such breach (or, if the
number of days until the Termination Date is less than such number of days, then such number of days), but only as long as the
breaching Party continues to use its reasonable best efforts to cure such Terminable Breach (the “Cure Period”), such
termination shall not be effective, and such termination shall become effective only if the Terminable Breach is not cured within
the Cure Period; provided, however, that the terminating Party is not then in Terminable Breach of any representation, warranty,
covenant or other agreement contained in this Agreement; provided, further, that the right to terminate this Agreement under
this Section 9.1(b)(iii) shall not be available to any Party that had knowledge of such Terminable Breach as of the date of this
Agreement;

(c)    by Parent if (i) all of the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.3 (other than conditions which are to be satisfied
by actions taken at the Closing) have been satisfied, (ii) Parent has indicated in writing to the Company that all of the conditions set
forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied by actions taken at the Closing)
have been satisfied or have been waived by Parent, (iii) Parent is ready, willing and able to consummate the Closing, and (iv) the
Company fails to consummate the Closing when the Closing should have occurred pursuant to Section 2.4; provided, however, that the
right of termination of Parent contemplated by this Section 9.1(c) shall not exist unless written notice of such failure of the Company to
so timely consummate Closing is delivered to the Company and the Company then fails to consummate Closing prior to the fourth (4th)
Business Day following delivery of such notice; and

(d)    by the Company if (i) all of the conditions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.2 (other than conditions which are to be
satisfied by actions taken at the Closing) have been satisfied, (ii) the Company has indicated in writing to Parent that all of the
conditions set forth in Section 8.1 and Section 8.3 (other than those conditions that by their nature are to be satisfied by actions taken at
the Closing) have been satisfied or have been waived by the Company, (iii) the Company is ready, willing and able to consummate the
Closing, and (iv) Parent fails to consummate the Closing when the Closing should have occurred pursuant to Section 2.4; provided,
however, that the right of termination of the Company contemplated by this Section 9.1(d) shall not exist unless written notice of such
failure of Parent to so timely consummate Closing is delivered to Parent and Parent then fails to consummate Closing prior to the fourth
(4th) Business Day following delivery of such notice.

Section 9.2    Notice of Termination; Effect of Termination . In the event of the termination of this Agreement as provided in
Section 9.1, written notice thereof shall forthwith be given by the terminating Party to the Other Parties specifying the provision of this
Agreement pursuant to which such termination is made. Except as otherwise set forth in this Section 9.2 or in Section 9.3, in the event
of the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and have no effect, without
any liability on the part of any of the Parties or their respective Affiliates, officers, directors or shareholders, other than liability of the
Company, Parent or Merger Sub, as the case may be, for any intentional and willful breach of this Agreement occurring prior to such
termination. The provisions of Section 7.3(b), Section 9.2, Section 9.3 and Article X (collectively, the “Surviving Provisions”) and the
Transaction
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Confidentiality Agreement, and any other Section or Article of this Agreement referenced in the Surviving Provisions that are required
to survive in order to give appropriate effect to the Surviving Provisions, shall, in each case, survive any termination of this Agreement.

Section 9.3    Expenses and Other Payments.

(a)    Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each Party shall pay its own expenses incident to preparing for, entering
into and carrying out this Agreement and the consummation of the Merger Transactions, whether or not the Merger shall be
consummated.

(b)    Parent shall pay for any filing fees under the HSR Act.

(c)    If Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1(b)(iii), then the Company shall pay Parent the Expenses of
Parent no later than three Business Days after notice of termination of this Agreement.

(d)    If the Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1(b)(iii), then Parent shall pay the Company the Expenses
of the Company no later than three Business Days after notice of termination of this Agreement.

(e)    If Parent terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1(c), then the Company shall pay Parent the Expenses of Parent
no later than three Business Days after notice of termination of this Agreement.

(f)    If the Company terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 9.1(d), then Parent shall pay the Company the Expenses of
the Company no later than three Business Days after notice of termination of this Agreement.

(g)    The Parties agree that the monetary remedies set forth herein or in any other Transaction Document and the specific
performance remedies set forth in Section 10.14 shall be the sole and exclusive remedies of (i) the Company and its Subsidiaries against
Parent and Merger Sub and any of their respective former, current or future shareholders, Representatives or Affiliates for any loss
suffered as a result of the failure of the Merger Transactions to be consummated except in the case of intentional fraud or an intentional
and material breach of a covenant, agreement or obligation (in which case only Parent shall be liable for damages for such intentional
fraud or intentional and material breach), and upon payment of such amount, none of Parent or Merger Sub or any of their respective
former, current or future shareholders, Representatives or Affiliates shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out
of this Agreement or the Merger Transactions, except for the liability of Parent in the case of intentional fraud or an intentional and
material breach of a covenant, agreement or obligation; and (ii) Parent and Merger Sub against the Company and its Subsidiaries and
any of their respective former, current or future shareholders, Representatives or Affiliates for any loss suffered as a result of the failure
of the Merger Transactions to be consummated except in the case of intentional fraud or an intentional and material breach of a
covenant, agreement or obligation (in which case only the Company shall be liable for damages for such intentional fraud or intentional
and material breach), and upon payment of such amount, none of the Company and its Subsidiaries or any of their respective former,
current or future shareholders, Representatives or Affiliates shall have any further liability or obligation relating to or arising out of this
Agreement or the Merger Transactions, except for the liability of the Company in the case of intentional fraud or an intentional and
material breach of a covenant, agreement or obligation.
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(h)    As used in this Agreement, “ Expenses” includes all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including all fees and expenses of
counsel, accountants, investment bankers, experts and consultants to a Party and its Affiliates) incurred by a Party or on its behalf in
connection with or related to the authorization, preparation, negotiation, execution and performance of this Agreement, the Transaction
Documents and the Merger Transactions, and all other matters, including costs and expenses of litigation, related to the Merger
Transactions. Any Expenses of Merger Sub shall be deemed Expenses of Parent, and any Expenses of any Subsidiary of the Company
shall be deemed Expenses of the Company. 

ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1    Waiver and Amendment.

(a)    Any Party may, at any time prior to the Closing, by action taken by its board of directors, or officers thereunto duly
authorized, waive any of the terms or conditions of this Agreement or agree to an amendment or modification to this Agreement
in the manner contemplated by Section 10.1(b) and by an agreement in writing executed by all of the Parties.

(b)    Subject to Section 10.1(a), this Agreement may be amended or modified in whole or in part, only by a duly authorized
agreement in writing executed in the same manner as this Agreement and which makes reference to this Agreement. The adoption of
this Agreement by the Shareholders shall not restrict the ability of the Company Board to terminate this Agreement in accordance with
Section 9.1 or to cause the Company to enter into an amendment to this Agreement pursuant to this Section 10.1(b) to the extent
required under the NMBCA.

Section 10.2    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be an
original, and all of which, when taken together, shall constitute one agreement. Delivery of an executed signature page of this
Agreement by facsimile or other customary means of electronic transmission (e.g., “pdf”) shall be effective as delivery of a manually
executed counterpart hereof.

Section 10.3    Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and interpreted in accordance with, the Laws of the State
of Texas (except to the extent that mandatory provisions of federal law govern), without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law
provision or rule (whether of the State of Texas or any other jurisdiction) that would cause the application of laws of any jurisdiction
other than those of the State of Texas.

Section 10.4    Confidentiality. Each of the Parties shall, and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause its
Representatives to, maintain the confidentiality of all information provided in connection herewith to the extent required by, and subject
to the limitations of, Section 7.3(b).

Section 10.5    Notices. All notices and other communications among the Parties shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (a) when delivered in person, (b) when delivered after posting in the United States mail having been sent registered or
certified mail return receipt requested, postage prepaid, (c) when delivered by FedEx or other nationally recognized overnight delivery
service, or (d) when delivered by email or other customary means of electronic transmission (in each case in this clause (d), solely if
receipt is confirmed), addressed as follows.

63

Source: EOG RESOURCES INC, 10-Q, November 03, 2016 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



If to a Buyer to:

EOG Resources, Inc.
1111 Bagby, Sky Lobby 2
Houston, Texas 77002
Attention: Lloyd W. Helms, Jr., Executive Vice President, Exploration and Production
Fax: (713) 651-6703
Email: Billy_Helms@eogresources.com

and

EOG Resources, Inc.
1111 Bagby, Sky Lobby 2
Houston, Texas 77002
Attention: Michael P. Donaldson, Exec. VP and General Counsel
Fax: (713) 651-6261
Email: Michael_Donaldson@eogresources.com

With copies to (which shall not constitute notice):

Akin Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld, LLP
1111 Louisiana Street, 44th Floor
Houston, Texas 77002
Attention: John Goodgame, Andrew B. Lehman
Fax: (713) 236-0822

Email: jgoodgame@akingump.com, alehman@akingump.com

If to the Company, to:

Yates Petroleum Corporation
105 S. 4th Street
Artesia, New Mexico 88210
Attention: Douglas E. Brooks, President and Chief Executive Officer

Fax: (575) 748-4572

Email: debrooks@yatespetroleum.com

With copies to (which shall not constitute notice):

Thompson & Knight LLP
1722 Routh Street, Suite 1500
Dallas, Texas 75201
Attention: Wesley P. Williams
Fax: (214) 999-1567

Email: wesley.williams@tklaw.com

or to such other address or addresses as the Parties may from time to time designate in writing.
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Section 10.6    Entire Understanding. This Agreement (including the documents referred to or listed herein), the Transaction
Documents and the Transaction Confidentiality Agreement represent the entire understanding of the Parties with reference to the subject
matter hereof and the Merger Transactions and supersedes any and all other oral or written agreements heretofore made that may have
been made or entered into by or among any of the Parties or any of their respective Subsidiaries relating to the Merger Transactions. No
representations, warranties, covenants, understandings, agreements, oral or otherwise, relating to the Merger Transactions exist between
the Parties except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, the Transaction Documents and the Transaction Confidentiality Agreement.

Section 10.7    Schedules and Annexes . The Schedules and Annexes referenced herein are a part of this Agreement as if fully
set forth herein. All references herein to Schedules and Annexes shall be deemed references to such parts of this Agreement, unless the
context shall otherwise require.

Section 10.8    No Third Party Beneficiaries. Nothing expressed or implied in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed
to confer upon or give any Person, other than the Parties, any right or remedies under or by reason of this Agreement; provided,
however, that, notwithstanding the foregoing (a) in the event the Closing occurs, the present and former officers and directors of the
Company and its Subsidiaries (and their respective successors, heirs and Representatives) are intended third party beneficiaries of, and
may enforce, Section 7.8, (b) from and after the Effective Time the Shareholders (and their successors, heirs and Representatives) shall
be intended third party beneficiaries of, and may enforce, Article III of this Agreement, and (c) from and after the Effective Time the
Former Shareholders (and their successors, heirs and Representatives) shall be intended third party beneficiaries of, and may enforce,
Section 10.16 of this Agreement.

Section 10.9    Assignment. No Party shall assign this Agreement or any part hereof without the prior written consent of the
Other Parties, and any purported assignment in violation of the foregoing shall be null and void ab initio. Subject to the foregoing, this
Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective permitted successors and assigns.

Section 10.10    Severability. Whenever possible, each provision of this Agreement will be interpreted in such manner as to be
effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any
respect under any applicable Law in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability will not affect any other provision or
any other jurisdiction, and, for purposes of such jurisdiction, such provision or portion thereof will be struck from the remainder of this
Agreement, which will remain in full force and effect. This Agreement will be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction so
as to best give effect to the intent of the Parties under this Agreement.

Section 10.11    Jurisdiction and Venue. The Parties agree that to the fullest extent permitted by Law, any Proceeding seeking to
enforce any provision of, or based on any matter arising out of or in connection with, this Agreement or the Merger Transactions shall
be brought in any federal court located in the Northern District of Texas, and each of the Parties hereby irrevocably consents to the
jurisdiction of such courts (and of the appropriate appellate courts therefrom) in any such Proceeding and irrevocably waives, to the
fullest extent permitted by Law, any objection that it may now or hereafter have to the laying of the venue of any such Proceeding in
any such court or that any such Proceeding brought in any such court has been brought in an inconvenient forum, or that this
Agreement, or the subject matter hereof, may not be enforced in or by any such court. Process in any such Proceeding may be served
on any Party anywhere in the world, whether within or without the jurisdiction of any such court. Nothing herein contained shall be
deemed to affect the right of any Party to serve process in any manner permitted by Law or to commence Proceedings or otherwise
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proceed against any Other Party in any other jurisdiction, in each case, to enforce judgments obtained in any Proceeding brought
pursuant to this Section 10.11.

Section 10.12    Waiver of Jury Trial . EACH OF THE PARTIES HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT
TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING BETWEEN THE PARTIES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS
AGREEMENT OR THE MERGER TRANSACTIONS.

Section 10.13    No Recourse. Notwithstanding anything that may be expressed or implied in this Agreement, each Party
covenants, agrees and acknowledges that no recourse under this Agreement, any Transaction Document or any documents or
instruments delivered in connection with this Agreement or any Transaction Document shall be had against any Party’s Affiliates or any
of such Party’s or such Parties Affiliates’ former, current or future direct or indirect equity holders, controlling persons, shareholders,
directors, officers, employees, agents, members, managers, general or limited partners or assignees (each a “Related Party,” and
collectively, the “Related Parties”), in each case, other than the Parties and each of their respective successors and permitted assignees
under this Agreement (and, in the case of any Transaction Document, the applicable parties thereto and each of their respective
successor and permitted assigns), whether by the enforcement of any assessment or by any legal or equitable Proceeding, or by virtue
of any applicable Law, it being expressly agreed and acknowledged that no personal liability whatsoever shall attach to, be imposed on
or otherwise be incurred by any of the Related Parties, as such, for any obligation or liability of any Party under this Agreement or any
documents or instruments delivered in connection herewith for any claim based on, in respect of or by reason of such obligations or
liabilities or their creation; provided, however, nothing in this Section 10.13 shall relieve or otherwise limit the liability of any Party or
any of their respective successors or permitted assigns, (a) for any breach or violation of its obligations under such agreements,
documents or instruments or (b) in the instance of actual fraud. For the purposes of clarity, nothing in this Section 10.13 shall be
construed to derogate from any Person’s rights or obligations under any Transaction Document to which such Person is a party.

Section 10.14    Specific Performance. The Parties agree that irreparable damage for which monetary damages, even if
available, would not be an adequate remedy, would occur in the event that the Parties do not perform their obligations under the
provisions of this Agreement (including failing to take such actions as are required of them hereunder to consummate this Agreement)
in accordance with its specified terms or otherwise breach such provisions. The Parties acknowledge and agree that (a) the Parties shall
be entitled to an injunction, specific performance, or other equitable relief, to prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce
specifically the terms and provisions hereof, without proof of damages, prior to the valid termination of this Agreement in accordance
with Section 9.1, this being in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled under this Agreement, (b) the provisions set forth
in Section 9.3 (i) are not intended to and do not adequately compensate for the harm that would result from a breach of this Agreement,
and (ii) shall not be construed to diminish or otherwise impair in any respect any Party’s right to specific enforcement, and (c) the right
of specific enforcement is an integral part of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and without that right, neither the
Company nor Parent would have entered into this Agreement. Each Party shall not oppose the granting of specific performance and
other equitable relief on the basis that the Other Parties have an adequate remedy at Law or that an award of specific performance is not
an appropriate remedy for any reason at Law or equity. The Parties acknowledge and agree that any Party seeking an injunction to
prevent breaches of this Agreement and to enforce specifically the terms and provisions of this Agreement in accordance with this
Section shall not be required to provide any bond or other security in connection with any such injunction.
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Section 10.15    Survival. All representations, warranties, agreements and covenants contained in this Agreement shall not
survive the Closing; provided, however, that if the Closing occurs, the agreements of the Parties in Article III, Section 7.8, Section 7.10,
Section 7.17 and Article X shall survive the Closing, and if this Agreement is terminated prior to the Closing, the Surviving Provisions
and the Transaction Confidentiality Agreement shall survive such termination.

Section 10.16    Privilege. The Company has advised the Buyers that Thompson & Knight LLP and Sutin, Thayer & Browne
have represented the Company with respect to the Merger Transactions. From and after the Effective Time, (a) the direct and indirect
holders of Common Shares immediately prior to the Effective Time (the “Former Shareholders”) shall be the sole holders of the
attorney-client privilege with respect to the engagement of Thompson & Knight LLP and Sutin, Thayer & Browne by the Company, in
each case, to the extent reasonably related to the Merger Transactions, and neither the Surviving Corporation nor its Affiliates shall be a
holder thereof, (b) to the extent that files of Thompson & Knight LLP or Sutin, Thayer & Browne in respect of each such engagement
constitute property of the client, only the Former Shareholders and their respective Affiliates (and none of Parent, the Surviving
Corporation or their respective Affiliates) shall hold such property rights and (c) Thompson & Knight LLP and Sutin, Thayer & Browne
shall have no duty whatsoever to reveal or disclose any such attorney-client communications or files to Parent, the Surviving
Corporation or any of their Affiliates by reason of any attorney-client relationship between Thompson & Knight LLP and Sutin, Thayer
& Browne and the Company or any of its respective Affiliates or otherwise, in each case, to the extent reasonably related to the Merger
Transactions. This Section 10.16 is irrevocable, and no term hereof may be amended, waived or modified, without the prior written
consent of Thompson & Knight LLP and Sutin, Thayer & Browne.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Agreement to be executed in counterparts by their duly authorized
officers, all as of the day and year first written above.

PARENT:

EOG Resources, Inc., a Delaware corporation

By:    /s/ Gary L. Thomas
Name:    Gary L. Thomas
Title:    President and Chief Operating Officer

MERGER SUB:

ERI HOLDINGS I, INC., a New Mexico corporation

By:    /s/ Gary L. Thomas
Name:    Gary L. Thomas
Title:    President and Chief Operating Officer

Agreement and Plan of Merger
Signature Page
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THE COMPANY:

YATES PETROLEUM CORPORATION, a New Mexico corporation

By:    /s/ Douglas E. Brooks
Name:    Douglas E. Brooks
Title:    President and Chief Executive Officer

Agreement and Plan of Merger
Signature Page
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EXHIBIT 10.1

This document constitutes part of a prospectus covering securities
that have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933.

EOG RESOURCES, INC.
PERFORMANCE UNIT AWARD AGREEMENT

Grantee: [NAME] [EMPLOYEE ID]

Congratulations! You have been granted an Award of EOG Resources, Inc. Performance Units as follows:

Date of Grant: [GRANT DATE]
Performance Units granted under
this Award (subject to adjustment as set forth below): [# UNITS]

The Compensation Committee of the Board of EOG Resources, Inc. (the “Company”) hereby grants to you, the above-named Grantee, effective as of
the Date of Grant set forth above, a Performance Unit Award (the “Award”) in accordance with the terms set forth below.

General. This Performance Unit Award Agreement (this “Agreement”) is governed by the terms and conditions of the Amended and Restated EOG
Resources, Inc. 2008 Omnibus Equity Compensation Plan (as may be amended from time to time, the “Plan”), which is hereby made a part of this Agreement.
All capitalized terms that are not defined in this Agreement have the meanings ascribed to them under the Plan. Under the terms of this Agreement and the
Plan, a Performance Unit ledger account will be maintained by the Company (or its agent) until you become vested in the Performance Units (i.e., the lapse of
the forfeiture restrictions thereon) or the Performance Units are forfeited and canceled pursuant to this Agreement.

Performance Period; TSR Rank; Performance Multiple. Upon the completion of the Performance Period (as defined on Annex A) and the
certification (in writing) by the Committee of the Total Shareholder Return (as defined on Annex A) over the Performance Period of the Company and each
Peer Company (as defined on Annex A) and the Company’s corresponding TSR Rank (see chart on Annex A) for the Performance Period and the applicable
Performance Multiple (as specified in the chart on Annex A), such Performance Multiple shall be applied to the number of Performance Units granted
hereunder and, except in the case of an applicable Performance Multiple of 100% or an applicable Performance Multiple of 0% (in which case all
Performance Units granted hereunder shall be deemed forfeited and canceled), your Performance Unit ledger account shall be adjusted to reflect (i) the
additional Performance Units credited to you (in the case of a Performance Multiple greater than 100%) or (ii) your decreased Performance Units (in the case
of a Performance Multiple less than 100% but greater than 0%).

After the application of the Performance Multiple, your resulting Performance Units shall continue to vest subject to the provisions of this
Agreement (except in the case of an applicable Performance Multiple of 0%, in which case all Performance Units granted hereunder shall be deemed forfeited
and canceled).

Voting Rights; Dividend Equivalents. You will have no voting rights with respect to the Company common stock represented by your Performance
Units (including any additional Performance Units which may be credited to you upon the completion of the Performance Period based on the applicable
Performance Multiple) until such time as the Company common stock is issued to you upon your vesting in the Performance Units. Dividend equivalents on
unvested Performance Units shall accrue and be credited by the Company for your benefit, and any such dividend equivalents accrued and credited for your
benefit through the date immediately prior to the date of certification by the Committee of the applicable Performance Multiple shall have the same
Performance Multiple applied as is applied to your Performance Units. However, such dividend equivalents (as so adjusted) shall not be paid to you until you
become vested in the related Performance Units and shall be forfeited in the event of the forfeiture and cancellation of the related Performance Units pursuant
to this Agreement.

Vesting. Assuming your continuous employment with the Company or an Affiliate, this Award shall vest on [five-year anniversary of grant date],
and the shares of Company common stock represented (on a one-for-one basis) by the Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the applicable
Performance Multiple, and on a one-for-one basis) and all dividend equivalents with respect to such Performance Units shall be distributed to you on the first
business day following [five-year anniversary of grant date] or as soon as administratively practicable thereafter, but no later than 60 days after such date.
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Termination of Employment. If your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date], your
Performance Units granted hereunder, and any dividend equivalents credited with respect to such Performance Units, shall vest and be distributed to you, or
shall be forfeited and canceled, as set forth below.

Due to Death. If your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates due to death prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date], (i) all
forfeiture restrictions on the Performance Units granted hereunder shall lapse effective as of the date of your death; (ii) the Performance Multiple to be
applied to the number of Performance Units granted hereunder shall be (A) 100%, if your date of death is prior to the completion of the Performance
Period, or (B) the Performance Multiple for the Performance Period as certified by the Committee, if your date of death is subsequent to the completion
of the Performance Period; and (iii) all shares of Company common stock represented by the Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the
applicable Performance Multiple) shall be distributed to your beneficiary as soon as administratively practicable following your date of death, but no
later than 60 days after such date.

Due to Disability. If your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates due to Disability prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date],
(i) all forfeiture restrictions on the Performance Units granted hereunder shall lapse effective as of the date of such termination; (ii) the Performance
Multiple to be applied to the number of Performance Units granted hereunder shall be the Performance Multiple for the Performance Period as certified
by the Committee; and (iii) all shares of Company common stock represented by the Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the
applicable Performance Multiple) shall be distributed to you as soon as administratively practicable following the later of (A) the date that is six
months following the effective date of such termination (to account for the six-month delay applicable to specified employees described under
“Section 409A” below) or (B) the completion of the Performance Period and the Committee’s certification of the applicable Performance Multiple in
the year following the completion of the Performance Period, but no later than 60 days after the later of such dates.

Due to Retirement After Age 62 . If your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates due to Retirement prior to [five-year anniversary
of grant date] and after attaining age 62 with at least five years of service with the Company, (i) all forfeiture restrictions on the Performance Units
granted hereunder shall lapse effective as of the date of such termination; (ii) the Performance Multiple to be applied to the number of Performance
Units granted hereunder shall be the Performance Multiple for the Performance Period as certified by the Committee; and (iii) all shares of Company
common stock represented by the Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the applicable Performance Multiple) shall be distributed to
you as soon as administratively practicable following the later of (A) the date that is six months following the effective date of such Retirement (to
account for the six-month delay applicable to specified employees described under “Section 409A” below) or (B) the completion of the Performance
Period and the Committee’s certification of the applicable Performance Multiple in the year following the completion of the Performance Period, but
no later than 60 days after the later of such dates.

Due to Retirement Prior to Age 62 . If your employment with the Company or an Affiliate terminates voluntarily prior to [five-year
anniversary of grant date] and your termination is designated in writing by the Company as a “Company-approved Retirement prior to age 62” with
at least five years of service with the Company, subject to such restrictions as the Company may impose (including, but not limited to, a six-month
post-employment non-competition agreement), (i) the Performance Multiple to be applied to the number of Performance Units granted hereunder shall
be the Performance Multiple for the Performance Period as certified by the Committee; and (ii) for each whole year that has passed since the Date of
Award set forth above up to and including the effective date of such Retirement, you shall be eligible to receive a distribution of 20% of the shares of
Company common stock represented by the Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the applicable Performance Multiple). Such shares of
Company common stock shall be distributed to you as soon as administratively practicable following the later of (A) the date that is six months
following the effective date of such Retirement or (B) the completion of the Performance Period and the Committee’s certification of the applicable
Performance Multiple in the year following the completion of the Performance Period, but no later than 60 days after the later of such dates, provided
that you do not violate the provisions of any restrictive covenants to which you are subject (including those set forth in any post-employment non-
competition agreement between you and the Company), in which case all Performance Units (including any additional Performance Units which may
have been credited to you upon the completion of the Performance Period based on the applicable Performance Multiple) shall be forfeited and
canceled.
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Due to Involuntary Termination for Other than Performance Reasons. In the event of your Involuntary Termination for any reason other than
performance reasons prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date], (i) the Performance Multiple to be applied to the number of Performance Units
granted hereunder shall be the Performance Multiple for the Performance Period as certified by the Committee; (ii) for each whole year that has passed
since the Date of Grant set forth above up to and including the effective date of such termination, you shall be eligible to receive a distribution of 20%
of the shares of Company common stock represented by the Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the applicable Performance
Multiple); and (iii) such shares of Company common stock shall be distributed to you as soon as administratively practicable following the later of (A)
the date that is six months following the effective date of such termination (to account for the six-month delay applicable to specified employees
described under “Section 409A” below) or (B) the completion of the Performance Period and the Committee’s certification of the applicable
Performance Multiple in the year following the completion of the Performance Period, but no later than 60 days after the later of such dates.

Due to Performance Reasons, Cause or Voluntary Termination . In the event of your Involuntary Termination for performance reasons, Termination
for Cause, or voluntary termination prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date], all Performance Units granted hereunder (including any additional
Performance Units which may have been credited to you upon the completion of the Performance Period based on the applicable Performance
Multiple) shall be forfeited and canceled.

Vesting Upon a Change in Control. Upon a Change in Control of the Company (as defined in the Plan) prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date],
(i) all forfeiture restrictions on the Performance Units granted hereunder shall lapse effective as of the effective date of the Change in Control of the
Company; and (ii) the Performance Multiple to be applied to the number of Performance Units granted hereunder shall be (A) based on the respective Total
Shareholder Return of the Company and each of the Peer Companies over the Performance Period (using, for purposes of such Total Shareholder Return
calculations, the 30 calendar day period immediately preceding the effective date of the Change in Control of the Company as the ending month of the
Performance Period) as certified by the Committee (or its successor), if the effective date of the Change in Control of the Company is prior to the completion
of the Performance Period, or (B) the Performance Multiple for the Performance Period as certified by the Committee (or its successor), if the effective date of
the Change in Control of the Company is subsequent to the completion of the Performance Period. All shares of Company common stock represented by the
Performance Units granted hereunder (as adjusted for the applicable Performance Multiple) shall be distributed to you as soon as administratively practicable
following the effective date of such Change in Control of the Company, but no later than 60 days after such date; provided, however, that if the event
constituting the Change in Control of the Company does not qualify as a change in effective ownership or control of the Company for purposes of Section
409A, then, pursuant to Section 13.2 of the Plan, such distribution shall be delayed until the earliest time that such distribution would be Permissible under
Section 409A.

Section 409A. The Plan and this Agreement are intended to meet the requirements of Section 409A and shall be administered such that any payment,
settlement, or deferrals of amounts hereunder shall not be subject to any excise penalty tax that may be imposed thereunder. The Company, in its sole
discretion, shall determine if you are a “specified employee” of the Company (as that phrase is defined for purposes of Section 409A) on the date of your
termination of employment or your Retirement prior to [five-year anniversary of grant date] and whether you are subject to any six-month delay in
distribution of amounts due you under this Agreement.

Delivery of Documents. By accepting the terms of this Agreement, you consent to the electronic delivery of documents related to your current or
future participation in the Plan (including the Plan documents; this Agreement; any other prospectus or other documents describing the terms and conditions
of the Plan and this Award; and the Company’s then-most recent annual report to stockholders, Annual Report on Form 10-K and definitive proxy statement),
and you acknowledge that such electronic delivery may be made by the Company, in its sole discretion, by one or more of the following methods: (i) the
posting of such documents on the Company’s intranet website or external website; (ii) the posting of such documents on the UBS Financial Services, Inc.
website; (iii) the delivery of such documents via the UBS Financial Services, Inc. website; (iv) the posting of such documents to another Company intranet
website or third party internet website accessible by you; or (v) delivery via electronic mail, by attaching such documents to such electronic email and/or
including a link to such documents on a Company intranet website or external website or third party internet website accessible by you. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, you also acknowledge that the Company may, in its sole discretion (and as an alternative to, or in addition to, electronic delivery) deliver a paper
copy of any such documents to you. You further acknowledge that you may receive from the Company a paper copy of any documents delivered
electronically at no cost to you by contacting the Company (Attention: Human Resources Department) by telephone or in writing.
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Annex A

Definitions of Certain Terms

“Performance Period” shall mean the three-year period from and including January 20__ through December 20__.

“Total Shareholder Return”  for a company (i.e., for the Company or a Peer Company) shall mean such company’s average daily closing stock price for the
month immediately preceding the commencement of the Performance Period (i.e., December 20__) as compared to the average daily closing stock price for
the ending month of the Performance Period (i.e., December 20__), assuming the reinvestment of dividends and as adjusted for stock splits, recapitalizations,
reorganizations or other similar adjustments or changes in the company’s capital structure, and expressed as a percentage increase or decrease (as the case
may be) over the Performance Period.

“Peer Company” shall mean each of (i) Anadarko Petroleum Corporation (ticker symbol: APC); (ii) Apache Corporation (ticker symbol: APA); (iii)
ConocoPhillips (ticker symbol: COP); (iv) Devon Energy Corporation (ticker symbol: DVN); (v) Hess Corporation (ticker symbol: HES); (vi) Marathon Oil
Corporation (ticker symbol: MRO); (vii) Noble Energy, Inc. (ticker symbol: NBL); and (viii) Pioneer Natural Resources Company (ticker symbol: PXD)
(collectively, and including any replacement Peer Company (as discussed below), the “Peer Companies”); provided, however, that should any Peer Company
(including any replacement Peer Company) cease to be a publicly traded company as the result of the consummation of a merger, acquisition, consolidation
or similar transaction during the Performance Period, then (A) such Peer Company shall, for purposes of the Committee’s certification referenced above, be
replaced (1) by Concho Resources Inc. (ticker symbol: CXO), or (2) if Concho Resources Inc. has previously been selected as a replacement Peer Company
pursuant to this proviso or it has ceased to be a publicly traded company as the result of the consummation of a merger, acquisition, consolidation or similar
transaction during the Performance Period, by Continental Resources, Inc. (ticker symbol: CLR), and (B) the Total Shareholder Return over the Performance
Period of such replacement Peer Company shall be measured from the beginning of the Performance Period; and, provided further, should any Peer Company
(including any replacement Peer Company), due to its financial performance or financial condition (e.g., bankruptcy), cease to have its voting stock be
publicly traded (either temporarily or permanently), such Peer Company shall nevertheless continue to be a Peer Company for purposes of the Committee’s
certification referenced above.

“TSR Rank” of the Company among the Nine
Total Companies

(i.e., the Company and Eight (8) Peer
Companies)

Applicable
“Performance Multiple”

1 200%
2 175%
3 150%
4 125%
5 100%
6 75%
7 50%
8 25%
9 0%
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, William R. Thomas, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EOG Resources, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:  November 3, 2016

/s/ WILLIAM R. THOMAS                                                                                  

William R. Thomas
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Timothy K. Driggers, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of EOG Resources, Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.    The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal
quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:  November 3, 2016

/s/ TIMOTHY K. DRIGGERS                                                                                  

Timothy K. Driggers
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

I, William R. Thomas, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  November 3, 2016

/s/ WILLIAM R. THOMAS                                                                                                  

William R. Thomas
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

I, Timothy K. Driggers, certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 (the "Report") fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 78o(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:  November 3, 2016

/s/ TIMOTHY K. DRIGGERS                                                                                    

Timothy K. Driggers
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 95

Mine Safety Disclosure Exhibit

Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and the related rules promulgated thereunder by the
United States Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), each operator of a coal or other mine is required to disclose certain mine
safety matters in its periodic reports filed with the SEC.

EOG Resources, Inc. (EOG) has sand mining operations in Texas and Wisconsin, which support EOG's exploration and
development operations. EOG's sand mining operations are subject to regulation by the federal Mine Safety and Health Administration
(MSHA) under the Federal Mine Safety and Health Act of 1977 (Mine Act). MSHA inspects mining facilities on a regular basis and
issues citations and orders when it believes a violation has occurred under the Mine Act.

EOG was the operator of the following sand mining facilities during the quarter ended September 30, 2016:

• Hood County Sand Plant - Hood County, TX (MSHA ID 41-04696);
• Rawhide Sand Plant - Hood County, TX (MSHA ID 41-04777); and
• Chippewa Falls Sand Plant - Chippewa County, WI (MSHA ID 47-03624).

__________

During the quarter ended September 30, 2016, EOG did not receive any of the following from MSHA: (i) a citation for a
violation of a mandatory health or safety standard that could significantly and substantially contribute to the cause and effect of a mine
safety or health hazard under Section 104 of the Mine Act; (ii) an order issued under Section 104(b) of the Mine Act; (iii) a citation or
order for unwarrantable failure to comply with mandatory health or safety standards under Section 104(d) of the Mine Act; (iv) written
notice of a flagrant violation under Section 110(b)(2) of the Mine Act; (v) an imminent danger order issued under Section 107(a) of the
Mine Act; (vi) any proposed assessments under the Mine Act; (vii) written notice of a pattern of violations of mandatory health or
safety standards that are of such nature as could have significantly and substantially contributed to the cause and effect of mine health
or safety hazards under Section 104(e) of the Mine Act; or (viii) written notice of the potential to have such a pattern. Moreover, during
the quarter ended September 30, 2016, EOG did not experience a mining-related fatality.

In addition, as of September 30, 2016, EOG did not have any legal action pending before the Federal Mine Safety and Health
Review Commission (Mine Commission), and did not have any legal actions instituted or resolved before the Mine Commission
during the quarter ended September 30, 2016.
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